
Introduction
Melvin I. Urofsky

The job of editor of this Journal is a very 
pleasant one, primarily because of all the help 
I get from so many people. At the top of the list 
is Clare Cushman, who has been the managing 
editor since I took over. Once we have accepted 
a piece, it is Clare’s hard work and eagle eye 
that make sure the piece is properly edited, 
facts checked, and interesting pictures chosen. 
Without her work, the issue you hold in your 
hand would not have been possible, and I want 
to thank her publicly for all she does.

My “burden,” if one could call it that, has 
also been made easier by the addition of an as­
sociate editor, Tim Huebner. A well-respected 
legal historian and chairman of the History 
Department at Rhodes College in Memphis, 
Tennessee, Tim immediately understood that 
an editor’s job is not just waiting for articles to 
come in, but going out and talking to people 
in the field about what they are working on 
and whether they would like to offer it to the 
Journal for publication. It was a lot of fun at 
the annual meeting of the American Society 
for Legal History last fall to “work the crowd” 
with Tim, and the fruit of that labor will be 
appearing in the Journal in the near future.

I cannot overstate what a rock Grier 
Stephenson has been in culling through the 
growing number of books that appear on le­
gal and constitutional history, picking out the 
best of them that apply to the history of the 
Supreme Court, and then providing our read­
ers with pithy and intelligent reviews. It is a 
labor of love for him, I know, but that does not 
detract from the benefit it gives to us.

Finally, my thanks to Jim O’Hara and 
David Pride, the chairman of the Publica­
tions Committee and the executive director of 
the Society, respectively. They have provided 
guidance and support since I came on board, 
and make our work all that much easier.

To all of these people, a sincere thanks.
This issue explores a number of different 

aspects of Court history. Everyone knows that 
for nearly a century, the Justices complained 
about having to ride circuit, until Congress fi­
nally established the Circuit Courts of Appeals 
system in 1891. It was not just the long travel 
in days when travel was difficult, but also the 
harsh living conditions and occasional dan­
gers. Steven Brown tells a circuit-riding story 
that concerns John McKinley, a lesser-known
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judge injudicial history. While McKinley’s cir­
cuit was unusually large (and later reduced in 
size), the story shows us how much different a 
Justice’s job was in the nineteenth century.

Each year the Society awards two Hughes- 
Gossett Awards. One is for the best article 
to appear in the Journal of Supreme Court 
History in the previous year. The other goes 
to a paper written when the author was a 
student—either in college, graduate, or law 
school—and includes publication in the Jour­
nal. Emily Kendall’s article on Salmon Chase 
is this year’s winner of the student Hughes- 
Gossett; she wrote her paper “Because of ‘His 
Spotless Integrity of Character’: The Story of 
Salmon P. Chase: Cabinets, Courts, and Cur­
rencies” while a law student at George Mason 
University.

There are few cases in Supreme Court his­
tory that bear the odium surrounding Lochner 
v. New York (1905). It has been roundly derided 
for more than a century as the worst example 
of judicial activism, and Justice Oliver Wen­
dell Holmes’s dissent in that case has been 
considered iconic in its call for judicial re­
straint. Recently, however, some scholars have 
been taking a second look at Lochner and sug­
gesting that perhaps it is not the terrible deci­
sion everyone has said it is. David Bernstein

is the latest scholar to join this group. He ar­
gues that if we look at the legal culture of 
the times, Lochner makes not only perfectly 
good sense, but also good law. Whether such 
an argument will win over the legal academy 
remains to be seen, but it is a debate well worth 
having.

Harry Truman once claimed that Tom 
Clark was dumb and that putting him on the 
Supreme Court was one of the worst mis­
takes he ever made as President. For many 
years, Clark’s reputation suffered from Tru­
man’s characterization, but in the last decade 
or so historians have taken a second look at 
Clark and his work. While he will never be 
part of the pantheon that includes John Mar­
shall, Field, Holmes, and Brandeis, his reputa­
tion has grown, especially in such little-noticed 
areas as the administration of justice. Clark’s 
work in that field, particularly after he left the 
Court, gave him a great deal of satisfaction. 
Craig Smith looks at another area of his work, 
the effort to open up the doors of clerking to 
students from schools other than the handful of 
elite institutions that had dominated placement 
until his time.

Finally, Grier Stephenson keeps us up to 
date on the latest books.

As always, an interesting medley. Enjoy!
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John M cK in ley  and  the  

A ffa ir at Jackson XWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

S T E V E N  P . B R O W N xwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

In Ap ril 1837, President Martin Van Bu­

ren nominated former Alabama senator John 

McKinley to serve as an Associate Justice of 

the United States Supreme Court. A wealthy 

Kentucky attorney who moved to Alabama in 

1819, McKinley was one of the state’s most 

notable men at the time of his appointment 

because of his legal acumen, property invest­

ments in northern Alabama, and service in 

both houses of Congress. His reputation as 

a leading land speculator, lawyer, and politi­

cian prompted Andrew Jackson to once refer 

to him as “ the most prominent man in allabama 

[sic].” 1

Just prior to Jackson’s departure from of­

fice, his advisors encouraged him to appoint 

McKinley to the ninth seat on the newly ex­

panded Supreme Court. It was sound advice 

given McKinley’s reputation, his two-decade- 

long business and personal relationship with 

the President, and his recent service as one 

of Jackson’s key lieutenants in the House of 

Representatives. However, Jackson decided to 

nominate an old friend, former South Car­

olina Senator William Smith, instead. When 

Smith declined the appointment, the nomina­

tion fell to the recently inaugurated Van Bu­

ren, who promptly named McKinley for the 

slot.

McKinley was thrilled with the opportu­

nity to join the Court. However, because of his 

previous congressional service and business 

interests throughout the South, he also under­

stood the difficulties of traveling to and from 

Washington and throughout the region em­

braced by the new Ninth Circuit—something 

he briefly noted in a letter to James K. Polk 

shortly after his nomination:

I have accepted the appointment, al­

though it is certainly the most oner­

ous and laborious of  any in the United 

States. Should I perform all the du­

ties of the office I shall have to 

hold eight circuit courts, and assist 

in holding the Supreme [C]ourt, and 

travel upwards of five thousand miles 

every year. These are four or five
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tim e s gre ate r than m any o f the ju dge s 

have.. ,2

During McKinley’s tenure, the Court met 

in Washington for just a few months. After 

their Term there was finished, the Justices 

would set off  in their capacity as circuit judges 

to hear legal disputes throughout the rest of the 

United States.3 From the earliest years of the 

Supreme Court itself, virtually every previous 

Justice had complained about the difficulties 

of his circuit duties, but McKinley’s were im­

possible to complete in their entirety.4

Well before the formation of the original 

Ninth Circuit, several members of Congress 

had already called attention to the serious 

physical challenges that would accompany the 

extension of the circuit-court system to what 

was then known as the old Southwest. In spite 

of these concerns, Congress created a sin­

gle circuit that included Alabama, Arkansas, 

the eastern portion of Louisiana, and Mis­

sissippi, all of which were among the top 

ten largest states in the Union at that time. 

McKinley’s was not only the newest and largest 

circuit, it was also the furthest from Wash­

ington and by far the most difficult to tra­

verse. Congress appeared to have organized 

the Ninth Circuit with little regard for the ac­

tual means of reaching the population centers 

in the old Southwest, for, with the exception 

of New Orleans, there was simply no easy way 

to reach the circuit-court sites it designated. 

Travel throughout the largely unsettled Ninth 

Circuit was time-consuming, hazardous, and 

costly, since McKinley, like all of the Justices, 

was required to pay his own expenses. These 

challenges, coupled with the congressionally 

mandated court schedule that required him to 

zigzag his way across the circuit, would sub­

sequently take a terrible toll on McKinley’s 

health.

Because he was not confirmed until the 

last week of September, McKinley was unable 

to travel the 1,000 miles from Washington in 

time to make the fall 1837 session of circuit 

court in Mobile, Alabama. However, he did 

arrive on schedule in Jackson, Mississippi forZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

A  fo rm e r s e n a to r a n d re p re s e n ta t iv e  o f A la b a m a , 

J o h n M c K in le y  w a s a ls o  a w e a lth y la n d  s p e c u la to r  

re n o w n e d  fo r h is  le g a l a c u m e n . In  1 8 3 7 , P re s id e n t  

M a r t in  V a n B u re n a p p o in te d  h im  to  th e  S u p re m e  

C o u r t .

the court that convened on the first Monday 

in November. The heavy docket there, cou­

pled with the fact that New Orleans, the next 

scheduled circuit site, was still recovering from 

a yellow-fever epidemic, caused McKinley to 

remain in Jackson far longer than he normally 

would have.

To show their appreciation for McKin­

ley’s extra effort, members of the Mississippi 

bar adopted the following resolutions and had 

them published in Jackson area newspapers 

during the first week of December:TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

R eso lved , That the thanks of this 

meeting be presented to the Hon­

orable John McKinley, for the able 

dignified and impartial manner, and 

the unwearied patience and industry 

with which he has discharged his du­

ties during the present Term of this 

court.

R eso lved , That in leaving this State, 

at the close of the present Term of 

the court, the Hon. John McKinley
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carr ie s with him , the kinde s t wis he s 

o f the Mis s is s ip p i Bar, fo r his s afe 

re tu rn to his fam ily, and his he alth 

and p ro s p e r ity thro u gh life .5

There is some irony in these resolutions, since 

Jackson, the circuit-court site to first praise the 

newest Justice, would be the source of much 

of McKinley’s distress.

Such commendations also could not mask 

the harsh realities of the new circuit that had al­

ready become apparent to McKinley. He raised 

the issue personally with President Van Buren 

when he arrived in Washington a few weeks 

later to prepare for the Court’s upcoming 1838 

Term. In a subsequent letter to Van Buren, 

McKinley reminded him of their meeting and 

of the President’s apparent sympathy with his 

concerns:

At the time of the supreme court of

1838 I had the honor to bring to 

your attention, by a conversation I 

then held with you, the great inequal­

ity of the labors and duties of the 

several Judges of the supreme court, 

while performing circuit court duties 

that you might present the subject to 

the consideration of Congress at its 

[next] session. You then appeared to 

think it a proper subject to communi­
cate in your annual message.6

Much to McKinley’s disappointment, Van Bu­

ren never mentioned the matter in his State of 

the Union address that year.

In addition to its other challenges, McKin­

ley’s circuit also encompassed a region that 

was only recently settled and the growing pains 

in which included a huge number of prop­

erty claims involving landowners, speculators, 

and squatters. The extraordinary litigiousness 

of this area was clearly seen in March 1838, 

after the conclusion of McKinley’s first full  

Term in Washington, when the members of 

the Court left to confront some 6,000 cases 

on their cumulative circuit dockets. McKin­

ley’s Ninth Circuit alone accounted for 4,700 

of that total.7

The next year, when he arrived for cir­

cuit court in Jackson, he found some 2,500 

cases awaiting him.8 A Virginia newspaper 

explained the circumstances that created the 

overwhelming caseload there:

Our neighbors in Mississippi, from 

every account, appear to be in a bad 

way... The simple fact appears to be, 

that the majority of the community 

are in debt over their means of extri­

cating themselves, except by sale of 

their property. Not willing  to submit 

to this alternative—a ruinous one— 

and unable to obtain discounts from 

their banks, the law is resorted to by 

the creditor, and the sheriff walks in 

as a third party.9

McKinley immediately set to work to clear the 

circuit docket at Jackson of frivolous claims 

and dilatory actions, so that his time might be 

better spent on legitimate disputes. Newspa­

pers praised his efforts:

Judge McKinley did most persever- 

ingly devote himself to the business 

of the Court..., and performed the 

business more rapidly than is usu­

ally done by the State Judges. From 

a sense of duty, he overruled all de­

fences [sic] which were interposed 

by the counsel for the defendants for 

mere delay, and as far as he could, 

prevented lawyers from making long 

speeches upon plain and settled ques­

tions.10

In the midst of this progress and praise, 

however, McKinley experienced a humiliating 

slight during the circuit-court session in Jack- 

son that profoundly embarrassed him, as it  was 

later recounted in newspapers across the coun­

try. The incident also served as the basis for 

an unsuccessful campaign to impeach him in 

1841.

The entire episode originated in a Jan­

uary 1839 message by Governor Alexander G. 

McNutt to the Mississippi state legislature in 

which he accused the recently deceased state 

treasurer, James Phillips, of  accepting payment
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A s  a  n e w  J u s t ic e  o n  a n  e n la rg e d  S u p re m e  C o u r t , M c K in le y  w a s  a s s ig n e d  to  th e  n e w ly  c re a te d  N in th  C irc u it ,  

w h ic h  e n c o m p a s s e d  h is  n a t iv e  A la b a m a , A rk a n s a s , th e  e a s te rn  p o r t io n  o f L o u is ia n a ,  a n d  M is s is s ip p i,  a ll o f  

w h ic h  w e re  a m o n g  th e  to p  te n  la rg e s t s ta te s  in  th e  U n io n  a t th a t t im e . T h e  N in th  C irc u it  w a s  th e  fu r th e s t 

f ro m  W a s h in g to n  a n d  b y  fa r  th e  m o s t d if f ic u lt  to  t ra v e rs e : it  p ro v e d  im p o s s ib le  fo r  M c K in le y  to  c o v e r it  a ll a n d  

re tu rn  in  t im e  fo r  S u p re m e  C o u r t s e s s io n s .xwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

fo r tre as u ry drafts in de p re ciate d p ap e r m o ne y, 

rathe r than in go ld and s ilve r as dire cte d by 

law. Phillip s’ s o n-in-law, Richard L. Dixo n, 

was o u trage d by the p u blic s lu r and to o k e v­

ery opportunity to express his disgust with the 

governor.

On April  25,1839, the governor happened 

to walk by Dixon and a group of his associates 

on his way to the state capitol. After the gov­

ernor passed by, Dixon apparently commented 

to his friends that “he had spit on the damned 

rascal, and that he intended to insult him when­

ever he should meet him.” 11 The remark was 

relayed to A.J. Paxton, a friend of the gover­

nor’s, who inserted Dixon’s words into a local 

paper some weeks later. To the story, Paxton 

appended the following commentary:

[I]f  Dixon has told this story, without 

the indignity having been offered, as 

is manifest, he is an infamous liar 

and puppy. If  he did, in fact, per­

petuate this disgusting obscenity, he 

is a filthy blackguard and cowardly 

poltroon.12

Dixon was understandably upset by this char­

acterization in print and set out to confront 

Paxton. He found him in the rotunda of the 

state capitol building in Jackson and proceeded 

to beat him with a walking cane. Unfortunately 

for McKinley, the fight spilled over into a side 

room in the capitol where he was holding cir­

cuit court.

Three contemporary accounts provide 

contrasting views on the events that followed. 

The TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB o sto n C o u r ie r reported:

The presiding judge [McKinley], as 

the organ of the Court, ordered the 

parties to be brought before the Court 

to answer for the contempt. Mr. Boyd, 

the C rie r , stated that the men were 

armed, and the Marshall and all his 

deputies were absent. Amidst great 

excitement and confusion, the Court 

directed the Crier to send for the 

Marshall. He returned perhaps twice 

with a confused and unsatisfactory 

excuse to the Court, when the pre­

siding Judge, who appeared to be a
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go o d de al e xcite d by the s ce ne , s aid, 

“Why, sir, you appear to be as stupid 

as a jack; go yourself, and request the 

Marshall to come into Court.” 13

A correspondent for a Philadelphia newspa­

per, using the headline teaser “An Affair at 

Jackson, Spitting on the Governor—A Street 

Fight—Contempt of Court—Judge McKin­

ley’s Nose Pulled,”  recounted what happened 

next:

Judge McKinley, of the U.S. Court, 

after adjourning Court, and whilst on 

his way to his room, had his nose 

pulled severely, by a Mr. James H. 

Boyd, a young man who had been act­

ing as an officer of the court during 

the aforesaid affray between D[ixon] 

and P[axton], and for not interfer­

ing was called TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA“ a stu p id ja cka ss”  by 

Judge McKinley, for which he had his 

smeller pulled.... He (Boyd) is justi­

fied by every one [sic] whom I have 

heard speak of the matter, and will  be 

sustained.14

The D a ily  N a tio n a l In te ll ig en cer in D.C. gave 

a third and slightly different version:

The Crier made the assault upon 

[McKinley] in the street but not as 

represented. He barely thrust his hand 

into the Judge’s face, and may have 

touched his nose, but it was so slight 

as scarcely to be felt. Mr. Boyd 

seemed to be an inoffensive man, and 

wholly incompetent to the duties of 

his office; and no one that knows him 

will  believe that he was any thing [sic] 

more than the tool of others in com­

mitting this outrage.15

The D.C. paper went on to suggest that the 

assault could be traced to actions taken by 

McKinley earlier in the session. In addition 

to his docket-clearing efforts noted above, 

McKinley had refused several motions to 

set aside forthcoming bonds, “amounting to 

a great number, and a very large sum of

money.” 16 It concluded that, “ [a]ll  these things 

have rendered Judge McKinley unpopular with 

the debtor class and their counsel, which 

makes a large majority of the population in 

the district... where the Court is holden.” 17

While generally disgusted by the incident, 

the B o sto n C o u r ie r (as a Whig newspaper) 

could not resist taking a political swipe at 

McKinley’s Jacksonian background:

Judge McKinley ha[s] been assaulted 

by a mob in Mississippi. The atro­

cious proceeding is to be reprehended 

by every citizen, and should receive 

the decided censure of everybody, ex­

cept, perhaps, Judge McKinley him­

self. He should be the last to com­

plain of the practical illustration of 

the principles of Jacksonianism, by 

the advocacy of which, he is what he 

is.18

It was widely reported that as McKinley 

left Jackson, he swore to never return, which 

the N ew O rlea n s B u lle tin found completely 

understandable: “After such treatment, it is not 

to be expected that Judge McKinley will  ever 

revisit the in h o sp ita b le jurisdiction. Thus has 

Mississippi repudiated the salutary restraints 
and supervision of a Federal Court.” 19

In November 1839, with two full years 

of circuit experience behind him, McKinley 

again sought help from Washington. He wrote 

a lengthy letter to President Van Buren giving 

a blunt assessment of the challenges facing the 

Ninth Circuit:

It must be obvious to everyone at all 

acquainted with judicial proceedings, 

that it would be impossible for any 

Judge to perform the duties of the 

[N]inth [C]ircuit with that delibera­

tion which is due to the proper dis­

charge of the judicial function, even 

if  he were to sit the whole year. And 

how can it be expected of him when 

two of the cities—New Orleans and 

Mobile—where two of the most im­

portant courts are holden, are subject



8 8CBA JO U R N A L O F S U P R E M E  C O U R T H IS TO R Y

ASSAULT UPON A JUDGE.ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
T h e  fo l lo w in g  is  a  m o re  p a r t ic u la r  a c c o u n t  o f  

th e o u tra g e u p o n o n e o f th e J u d g e s o f th e  

U n ite d  S la te s , a llu d e d  to  in  la te p a ra g ra p h s  in  

N e w  O r le a n s p a p e rB :

rB O M  TH E  X . O . B U LLE TIN , K A T 24.

A T T A C K  U P O N  J U D G E  M c K lN L E Y i 

F ro m  th e  N a tc h e z  D a ity  C o u r ie r w e c o p ie d  y e s te rd a y  

a n  a c c o u n t o f th e  d is g ra c e fu l o u tra g e  p e rp e tra te d a t J a c k -  
s o n , M w a in a ip p i,  d u r in g  th e  c e s s io n  o f  th e  C irc u it  C o u r t  o f  

th e  U n ile d  S ta te s . I t  1 0  ju s t m a tte r fo r re g re t th a t a  n a r ­

ra t iv e  o f  th e  a s a a u lt u p o n  J u d g e  M c K i n l e y, d is to r te d  b y  

th e  p re ju d ic e s  o f  th e  w r ite r ,  s h o u ld  h a v e  re c e iv e d  p u b lic ity  

th ro u g h  th e  c o lu m n s  o f  th a t re s p o c ta b le  p r in t ,  th e  N a tc h e z  

C o u r ie r , w ith o u t  a n y  c o m m e n t b y  th e  e d ito r , s h o w in g  h is  

d is a p p ro b a t io n  o f  th e  “  fo u l d e e d .” T h e  fo l lo w in g  s ta te ­

m e n t m a y  b e  re lie d  o n  a s  c o r re c t :
A  f ig h t  o c c u r re d in  th e  R o lu n d o  o f th e S ta te  H o u s e , 

w ith in  th e  v ie w  o f th e  C o u r t ; o n e  o f th e  c o m b a ta n ts  re ­

t re a te d  in to  th e  C o u r t- ro o m , th e  o th e rs  fo l lo w in g , a n d  c o n ­

t in u in g  lo  f ig h t  in  th e  p re s e n c e  o f  th e  C o u r t . T h e  p re s i­

d in g  J u d g e , a s  th e  o rg a n  o f th e  C o u r t , o rd e re d  th e  p a r t ie s  

to  b e  b ro u g h t b e fo re  th e  C o u r t to  a n s w e r fo r  th e  c o n te m p t.
M r. B o y d , th e  C r ie r , s ta te d  th a t th e  m e n  w e re  a rm e d , a n d  

th a t th e  M a rs h a l a n d  a ll h is  d e p u t ie s  w e re  a b s e n t. A m id s t 

g re a t e x c ite m e n t a n d c o n fu s io n , th e  C o u r t d ire c te d th e  
C r ie r to  s e n d fo r th e M a rs h a l. H e  re tu rn e d p e rh a p s  

tw ic e  w ith  a c o n fu s e d a n d u n s a t is fa c to ry e x e u s e  to  th e  

C o u r t , w h e n  th e  p re s id in g J a d g e , w h o  a p p e a re d to  b e a  

g o o d  d e a l e x c ite d  b y  th e  s c e n e , s a id , “  W h y , s ir , y o u  a p ­

p e a r to  b e  a s  s tu p id  a a  a  ja c k ; g o  y o u rs e lf , a n d  re q u e s t th e  
M a rs h a l to  c o m e  in to  C o u r t .” T h e  J  u d g e  h a s  f re q u e n t ly  

e x p re o s e d  h is  re g re t th a t h e  s h o u ld  h a v e  b e e n  b e tra y e d  in to  

a o  im p ro p e r a n  e x p re s s io n  in  o r o u t o f  th e  C o u r t , a n d  th a t  
h e  w o u ld  s o  h a v e  s ta te d  to  M r. B o y d , i f  h e  h a d  a p p lie d  to  

h im  fo r  a n  a p o lo g y  o r  e x p la n a t io n .

W ith o u t e v e r  m e n t io n in g th o  s u b je c t to  th e  J u d g e , th e  j 

C r ie r m a d e  th e  a s s a u lt u p o n  h im  in  th e  s tre e t , b u t n o t a s  
re p re s e n te d . H e  b a re ly  fb rn a t h is h a n d  in to  th e  J u d g e ’s  

fa c e , a n d m a y  h a v e  to u c h e d  h ie  n o s e , h o t  i t w o o  o o  s lig h t 

a y  s c a rc e ly  to  b e  fe lt . M r. B o y d  a e e m e d  to  b e  a n  in o f fe n ­

s iv e  m a n , a n d w h o lly in c o m p e te n t to  th e  d u t ie s o f h is  
o il ic e ; n o d  n o  o n e  th a t k n o w u  h im  w ill b e lie v e th a t h e  

w a s  a n y  th in g  m o re  th a n  th e  to o l o f o th e rs  in  c o m m it t in g  
th is o u tra g e .

J u d g e  M c K in le y  d id  m o s t p e ru e v e r in g ly d e v o te  h im s e lf 

to  th e  b u s in e s s  o f  th e  C o u r t w h e n  a t J a c k s o n , a n d  p e r fo rm ­
e d  th e  b u s in e s s  m o re  ra p id ly th a n  io  u s u a lly  d o n e  b y th e  

S ta te  J u d g e s . F ro m  a  s e n s e  o f  d u fy , h e  o v e r ru le d  a ll d e ­

fe n c e s  w h ic h  w e re  in te rp o s e d b y th e  c o u n s e l fo r th e  d e ­

fe n d a n ts  fo r  m e re  d e la y , a n d , a n  fa r  a s  h e  c o u ld , p re v e n te d  

la w y e r  f ro m  m a k in g  lo n g  s p e e c h e s  u p o n  p la in  a n d  s e tt le d  

q u e s t io n s . A t  th e  la s t te rm , a n  a tte m p t w a s  m a d e to  s e t 

a s id e n il th e  fo r th c o m in g b o n d s , a m o u n t in g to  a  g re a t 

n u m b e r , a n d  a  v e ry  la rg e  s u m  o f m o n e y . T h e  C o u r t  s u s ­

ta in e d  th e  b o n d s , c o n tra ry  to  d e c is io n s m a d e b y m a n y  o f  

•<2 }£ I_ ? ..U o u r ts . A ll th e s e  th in g s h a v e re n d e re d  J u d g e  

u n p o p u la r w ith  th e  d e b to r  c la s s  a n d  th e ir  c o u n ­

s e l, w h ic h  m a k e s  a  la rg e  m a jo r ity  o f  th e  p o p u la t io n  in  th e  
d is tr ic t o f c o u n try  w h e re  th e  C o u r t is  b id d e n . T h e  p la in ­

t i f fs  a  re  c it iz e n s  o f  o th e r  S ta te s , a n d  th e ir b u s in e s s  c o n f id e d  

to  a  fe w  la w y e rs , c o m p a re d  w ith  th e  w h o le  n u m b e r a tte n d ­

in g  th e  C o u r t . T h e s e  fa c ta  w ill v e ry  re a th ly  a c c o u n t fo r  

th e  s ta te  o f  fe e lin g  w h ic h  p re v a ils in  th e  d e b to r d is tr ic t in  

M is s is s ip p i, a n d  th e  o d iu m  w h ic h  is  a tte m p te d to  b e  c a s t  

o n  th e  J u d g e  o f  th e  S u p re m e  C o u r t w h o s e  d u ly  i t  is  to  p re ­
s id e  th e re .

A fte r  s u c h  t re a tm e n t. it is  n o t to  b e  e x p e c te d  th a t  J u d g e  

w ill e v e r re v is it th e  inhospitable ju r is d ic t io n . 
T h u s  h a s M is s is s ip p i re p u d ia te d th e s a lu ta ry re s tra in ts  

a n d  s u p e rv is io n  o f  a  F e d e ra l C o u r t .

M is s is s ip p i G o v e rn o r A le x a n d e r G . M c N u tt a c c u s e d  th e  re c e n t ly  d e c e a s e d  s ta te  t re a s u re r o f a c c e p t in g  p a y ­

m e n t fo r t re a s u ry  d ra f ts  in  d e p re c ia te d  p a p e r m o n e y  ra th e r th a n  in  g o ld  a n d  s ilv e r , a s  d ire c te d  b y  la w . T h e  

t re a s u re r ’s  s o n - in - la w , R ic h a rd  L . D ix o n , w a s  o u tra g e d  b y  th e  p u b lic  s lu r a n d  to o k  e v e ry  o p p o r tu n ity  to  e x ­

p re s s  h is  d is g u s t w ith  M c N u tt . W h e n  D ix o n  g o t in to  a n  a lte rc a t io n  w ith  a  f r ie n d  o f M c N u tt ’s in  th e  s ta te  

c a p ito l b u ild in g  in  J a c k s o n , th e  f ig h t s p il le d  o v e r in to  th e  c o u r tro o m  w h e re  M c K in le y  w a s  p re s id in g  o n  c ir ­

c u it (p ic tu re d  a b o v e  a s  a m o d e rn  d a y  m u s e u m ) . A n  o ff ic e r o f th e  c o u r t a lle g e d ly p u lle d  M c K in le y ’s n o s e  

a fte r th e  J u s t ic e  c r it ic iz e d  h im  in  c o n n e c t io n  w ith  th e  in c id e n t. T h e  Daily News Intelligencer, a  W a s h in g to n , 

D .C . n e w s p a p e r , re c o u n te d  th a t th e  m a n  “ b a re ly  th ru s t h is  h a n d  in to  th e  J u d g e 's  fa c e .” B u t th e  p a p e r a ls o  

d e fe n d e d M c K in le y , s a y in g  h e  “m o s t p e rs e v e r in g ly [d e v o te d ] h im s e lf to  th e  b u s in e s s  o f th e  C o u r t w h e n  a t  

J a c k s o n ”  (a b o v e  r ig h t) .
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to ye llo w fe ve r fro m the latte r p art o f 

s u m m e r till the e nd o f Au tu m n, al­

m o s t e ve ry ye ar? And whe n the fact 

is kno wn that by the p e cu liar m o de o f 

fo u nding u nde r the laws o f Lo u is iana 

it take s do u ble the tim e to try a cas e 

that it wo u ld to try o ne , o f like char­

acte r, by the ru le s o f the co m m o n law.

At the two las t te rm s that I atte nde d 

the co u rts in Mis s is s ip p i the re we re at 

e ach te rm u p wards o f two tho u s and 

s e ve n hu ndre d cas e s o n the do cke t 

fo r tr ial. To do anything like ju s tice , 

to the p artie s , in the s ho rt tim e al­

lo we d fo r the ho lding o f the co u rt, 

we are co m p e lle d to hu rry o ve r the 

do cke t as rap idly as p o s s ible , and to 

re fu s e to he ar argu m e nts u p o n p lain 

and we ll s e ttle d qu e s tio ns . This gave 

gre at o ffe ns e to the ho s t o f de bto rs 

who thro nge d the co u rt and who had 

e m p lo ye d co u ns e l, no t to m aintain 

a m e rito r io u s de fe ns e to the s u its 

agains t the m , bu t to p re ve nt, by all the 

m e ans in the ir p o we r, the re nditio n 

o f ju dgm e nts agains t the m .... The s e 

circu m s tance s finally le d to a gro s s 

p e rs o nal indignity be ing o ffe re d to 

o ne o f the m e m be rs o f the co u rt, 

the his to ry o f which I ne e d no t he re 

de tail.20

McKinle y’s u nde rs tate d re fe re nce to the no s e­

p u lling incide nt was de s igne d, no t to garne r 

s ym p athy fro m Van Bu re n, bu t to de m o ns trate 

to the Pre s ide nt the le ve l o f fru s tratio n that 

e xis te d in Jacks o n and o the r are as whe re the 

do cke t was s o large , the re s o u rce s o f the cir­

cu it co u rt s o fe w, and the circu it s che du le s o 

infle xible that he co u ld m ake bu t the bare s t 

p ro gre s s be fo re having to de p art fo r his ne xt 

as s igne d co u rt. It m ade a m o cke ry o f ju s tice , 

and the circu it co u rts , and to a large e xte nt 

e ve n Co ngre s s its e lf (be cau s e o f its co ntinu e d 

re fu s al to as s is t), we re thu s p artially to blam e 

fo r the fru s tratio n and vio le nce am o ng litigants 

in the Ninth Circu it.ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

M c K in le y  w ro te  to  P re s id e n t M a r t in  V a n  B u re n  (p ic ­

tu re d ) to  d e s c r ib e  th e  le v e l o f f ru s tra t io n  th a t e x is te d  

in  J a c k s o n  a n d  o th e r a re a s  w h e re  th e  d o c k e t w a s  s o  

la rg e , th e  re s o u rc e s  o f th e  c irc u it c o u r t s o  fe w , a n d  

th e  c irc u it s c h e d u le  s o  in f le x ib le  th a t h e  c o u ld  m a k e  

b u t th e  b a re s t p ro g re s s b e fo re  h a v in g  to  d e p a r t fo r  

h is  n e x t a s s ig n e d  c o u r t .

As s e s s ing bo th the p e o p le o f Jacks o n and 

his o wn ro le as the p re s iding circu it ju dge u n­

de r the s e difficu lt circu m s tance s , McKinle y 

qu e s tio ne d the wis do m o f co ntinu ing to ho ld 

co u rt the re :

A gre at m ajo r ity o f the p e o p le in this 

ne w s e ttle d co u ntry which s u rro u nds 

Jacks o n—the p lace whe re the co u rt 

is no w ho lde n—are gre atly in de bt. 

Many o f the s e are de s p e rate m e n, 

who , are de te rm ine d to ke e p p o s s e s­

s io n o f the ir p ro p e rty by any and all 

m e ans in the ir p o we r. Linde r s u ch cir­

cu m s tance s and am o ng s u ch p e o p le 

it is e as y to co nce ive ho w u np le as­

ant and ho w u ns afe the co nditio n o f 

a Ju dge m u s t be , who is de te rm ine d 

to do his du ty. I am p e rfe ctly s atis­

fie d that ju s tice canno t be fair ly ad­

m inis te re d at that p lace and that p u b­

lic p o licy re qu ire s that the co u rt be
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re m o ve d to Natche z whe re the re is an 

o ld and re s p e ctable p o p u latio n, co m­

p arative ly fre e fro m de bt, and whe re 

im p artial ju r ie s m ight be o btaine d. 

Natche z can, by m e ans o f s te am­

bo ats , be m o re e as ily ap p ro ache d by 

a m ajo r ity o f the s u ito rs , witne s s e s , 
and lawye rs than Jacks o n can.21

McKinle y was u nable to p e rs o nally fo l­

lo w u p o n the m atte r with Van Bu re n, as he 

m is s e d the Co u rt’s e ntire 1840 Te rm be cau s e 

o f illne s s , bu t he and his circu it be cam e the 

fo cu s o f co ns ide rable dis cu s s io n in Co ngre s s . 

Co m m itte e s in bo th the Ho u s e and Senate re­

ported bills that year that would have removed 

Mississippi from the Ninth Circuit. In trans­

ferring that state, Congress also considered 

proposals to rearrange several other circuits 

to equalize the Justices’ workload. One would 

have reordered the circuits such that three Jus­

tices would be assigned to perform circuit duty 

in the Southwest area that McKinley currently 

oversaw alone. Another proposal would have 

placed Kentucky in McKinley’s circuit and 

Arkansas in Justice John Catron’s Eighth Cir­

cuit.22

Even as such plans to help ease the bur­

dens of the Ninth Circuit were circulating, 

however, states already within its boundaries 

that felt neglected by McKinley began to call 

for serious action against the Justice. Infuri­

ated that McKinley had not attended circuit 

court in Jackson the previous year (the same 

illness permitted him to complete only a por­

tion of his circuit duties in 1840), members of 

the Mississippi legislature retaliated. In Wash­

ington, the TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM a d iso n ia n newspaper reported,

Judge McKinley, of the United States
Supreme Court, having refused, as in 

duty bound, to hold a session of the 

Circuit Court in Mississippi, the Leg­

islature of that State have [sic] passed 

resolutions requesting their represen­

tatives in Congress to prepare a bill  of 

impeachment against him. The res­

olutions have been approved by the
Governor.23

On April 6, 1842, in the course of de­

bate on a general appropriations bill  that would 

have increased the salary of the Supreme Court 

Justices, the Mississippi impeachment resolu­

tion gained traction when Representative Ed­

ward Cross of Arkansas offered an amendment 

to the bill to withhold $500 from any Justice 

who did not complete his circuit-riding respon­

sibilities unless that Justice was ill. This was 

in clear reference to McKinley, who, even af­

ter nearly five years on the Bench, had yet to 

hold circuit court in Arkansas, citing court­

scheduling issues and difficult travel condi­

tions. According to former President John 

Quincy Adams, then serving as a represen­

tative from Massachusetts, this amendment 

“started a debate of nearly two hours, in which 

Cross and Thompson, of Mississippi, vehe­

mently denounced Judge McKinley.” 24

John Pope of Kentucky rose to defend 

McKinley, whom he described as a longtime 

acquaintance.25 Pope pled for his colleagues to 

understand that it was virtually impossible for 

McKinley or any other man to cover the Ninth 

Circuit in its entirety and make it  back to Wash­

ington in time for the Court’s Term. But if  the 

House was determined to punish McKinley, 

Pope argued, it could not do so by withhold­

ing part of his salary. The only punishment 

for federal judges that the Constitution autho­

rized was that of impeachment, which could 

only happen, Pope claimed, if  the House found 

McKinley guilty of criminal negligence.26

Pope’s argument was designed to dissuade 

his colleagues from levying either punishment 

against McKinley, since withholding $500 was 

not authorized as a penalty and impeachment 

appeared to be too harsh. As to the latter 

punishment, Representative Jacob Thompson 

of Mississippi responded with the resolution 

from his state legislature instructing him to do 

just that because of the incident at Jackson. 

Thompson recounted the episode again for his 

colleagues and then said,
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O n  A p r il 6 , 1 8 4 2 , in  th e  c o u rs e  o f d e b a te  o n  a  g e n ­

e ra l a p p ro p r ia t io n s b il l , R e p re s e n ta t iv e  E d w a rd  C ro s s  

o f  A rk a n s a s  o ffe re d  a n  a m e n d m e n t to  th e  b il l to  w ith ­

h o ld  $ 5 0 0  f ro m  a n y  J u s t ic e  w h o  d id  n o t  c o m p le te  h is  

c irc u it - r id in g  re s p o n s ib il i t ie s  u n le s s  th a t J u s t ic e  w a s  

i l l . T h e  a m e n d m e n t w a s  c le a r ly  a im e d  a t M c K in le y .xwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

While the ju dge’s wrath was u p he 

s wo re that he wo u ld ne ve r re tu rn to 

Jacks o n again. Of co u rs e , o u r citize ns 

s u p p o s e d that he s p o ke in ange r and 

that whe n his p as s io ns s u bs ide d he 

wo u ld re tu rn to the dis charge o f his 

du tie s . Bu t no t s o ; thu s far he has 

o bs tinate ly s taid [s ic] away fro m that 

p lace .27

Tho m p s o n the n de clare d, “ [T]his conduct 

evinces, on the part of the judge, cowardice, 

a want of moral firmness, or else an unblush­

ing effrontery and bare-faced impudence.” 28

A number of other representatives leaped 

to defend McKinley’s honor, which had been 

“unjustly assailed”  and “maltreatedly most fla­

grantly.” 29 One of these was William Gwin, 

who, as a representative from Mississippi, was 

an unlikely source of sympathy. As recounted 

by the TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAC o n g ress io n a l G lo b e , Gwin declared 

that

the charges [against McKinley] were 

unjust, and had no proper foundation,

for he knew of his own knowledge 

that this judge had discharged more 

duty than any judge on the Supreme 

Bench....

Notwithstanding Judge McKin­

ley was unpopular among his con­

stituents, he would do him justice...

[and] would not join in denuncia­

tions ... for not doing what it was 

physically impossible for him to 

do. Notwithstanding the complaints 

against him, he performed more labor 

than any of the judges on the bench.

The remedy for the evils complained 

of should be cured by the legislation 

of Congress, and not by requiring 

an impossibility of the judges of the 

Supreme Court.30

According to the G lo b e , Gwin concluded by 

reminding the House that

Judge McKinley did not accept the 

office he now holds knowing the du­

ties required of him.... He was the 

first judge of the Supreme Court that 

ever presided in that circuit, which 

was created in the spring of 1837, 

and he could form no conception of 

the enormous amount of business he 

found in the circuit. In fact, since the 

creation of the circuit, the business 

had increased fourfold.31

Ultimately, Adams prevailed upon Represen­

tative Cross to withdraw his amendment and 

the issue died.

However, rumors regarding McKinley 

continued to swirl. In Washington, there was 

continued discussion about the creation of two 

or three additional circuits to aid those Jus­

tices who “have upon their hands more busi­

ness than they can transact,” referring to the 

thousands of cases that awaited McKinley on 

circuit.32 In Mississippi, the rumors were more 

negative. It was said that Justice McKinley was 

so cowardly that he refused to hold circuit court 

in that state unless the marshal of the South­

ern District Court could guarantee his safety,
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which he (McKinle y) s ince re ly do u bte d. That 

this ru m o r co ntinu e d to circu late , at the ve ry 

tim e at which McKinle y was in Jacks o n p re­

s iding at circu it co u rt, s ays m u ch abo u t jo u r­

nalis tic care and qu ality and the p re ju dice 

agains t him .33 In fact, the Jacks o n bar e ve n 

he ld a p u blic dinne r in McKinle y’s ho no r o n 

Ju ne 2, 1842, which the TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM iss iss ip p ia n ne ws­

p ap e r cite d ap p ro vingly as a m e ans o f alle vi­

ating s o m e o f the co u rtro o m te ns io n be twe e n 

McKinle y and lo cal atto rne ys :

It m u s t be re co lle cte d that he

[McKinle y] is natu rally s o m e what ir ­

r itable and im p atie nt, and p e rhap s 

s o m e tim e s s e e m s ru de whe n he do e s 

no t inte nd it. It s ho u ld als o be re m e m­

be re d, that o u r bar is rathe r give n to 

m u ch talking, and have hithe rto be e n 

a go o d de al indu lge d in that way, and 

are the re fo re re s tive u nde r re s traint.34

Altho u gh alre ady p ro ve n u tte r ly fals e , the 

ru m o r that McKinle y fe are d to co m e to Jack- 

s o n fo r circu it co u rt p ro m p te d the lo cal U.S. 

Marshal, Anderson Miller, to pen a public 

letter, much of it directed at Representative

Thompson, which was later reprinted in sev­

eral Washington newspapers. Anderson wrote 

the letter to both refute the rumor of McKin­

ley’s cowardice and to respond to the manner in 

which McKinley “was very roughly handled”  

by members of Congress during their recent 

debate. Anderson declared,

[T]he last charge I expected to made 

against Judge McKinley was cow­

ardice; ... I had known him for up­

wards of thirty years intimately, and 

had always considered him as brave 

as any man; and further I was ac­

quainted with the district he had to 

attend courts in, from the first set­

tlement of the country, and... I was 

satisfied that no man had the physi­

cal ability to discharge the duties as­

signed to him. And I can further state 

that he has been holding courts here 

for five weeks, to the entire satisfac­

tion of the whole bar, and indeed ev­

ery other person, so far as I knew.... I 

have thought it due to Judge McKin­

ley, so far as I was concerned, to

Population 18.3 million 

States 26 

Districts 37 

District Judgeships 29 

Circuits 9

Supreme Court Justices 9ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

C o n g re s s  f in a lly  a p p ro v e d  a  c irc u it - re o rg a n iz a t io n  p la n  in  1 8 4 2 , o n e  th a t to o k  in to  a c c o u n t th e  v a s t te r r ito ry  

o f th e  o ld  S o u th w e s t. A s  M c K in le y  h a d  u rg e d , th e  N in th  C irc u it w a s  d iv id e d  in  h a lf , w ith  M is s is s ip p i a n d  

A rk a n s a s  re m a in in g  in  th e  c irc u it w h ile  A la b a m a  a n d  L o u is ia n a  o c c u p ie d  a  n e w ly  re c o n s t itu te d  F if th  C irc u it .
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co ntradict the abu s e that has be e n s o 

lavis hly he ap e d u p o n him .35

In Co ngre s s , McKinle y’s allie s co ntinu e d 

to p re s s the is s u e o f circu it re o rganizatio n in 

o rde r to give him s o m e re lie f. Give n the te no r 

o f the re ce nt Ho u s e de bate re garding McKin­

le y, Senator William King pled with his col­

leagues to again consider that

Judge McKinley... has been mostly 

unjustly censured. He could not per­

form all the duties assigned him. The 

Court did not adjourn in [Washing­
ton] until the 14th or 15th of March.

The Alabama term of his Court 

was held on the second Tuesday of 

the same month. The Arkansas term 

commenced on the fourth Tuesday of 

the same month. He is now at Jack- 

son, Mississippi, holding a term of 

his Court, and there are eleven hun­

dred cases upon the docket.36

On August 16, 1842, after years of de­

bate that began even before the creation of the 

first Ninth Circuit, Congress finally approved 

a circuit-reorganization plan that took into ac­

count the vast territory of the old Southwest. 

As McKinley himself had earlier requested, the 

Ninth Circuit was divided in half, with Mis­

sissippi and Arkansas remaining in the Ninth 

Circuit while Alabama and Louisiana occu­

pied a newly reconstituted Fifth Circuit. The 

only question that remained to be resolved was 

which Justices would now be assigned to these 

new circuits.

New circuit assignments would not be 

made until the next Term of the Supreme 

Court, so McKinley made plans to return to 

the second session of the circuit court in Jack- 

son in order to get ahead in his docket. Prior 

to his arrival, however, he suddenly took ill.  In 

early November, Mississippi newspapers were 

the first to report that McKinley would not be 

attending circuit court because he had been 

“stricken with paralysis whilst on his way”  

to Jackson.37 The once robust McKinley was 

now sixty-two years old, and while he had long

complained of a variety of maladies, the par­

alytic stroke was by far the most serious. By 

the end of the month, the TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAV erm o n t G a zette in 

Bennington announced that “ [the] Hon. John 

McKinley... has been stricken with paralysis, 

and lies dangerously ill  at his residence [in]  

Alabama. He is not expected to recover.” 38

McKinley did survive the attack, but he 

never regained his full health. His physical 

limitations, coupled with his relatively few ma­

jority opinions for the Court during his tenure, 

have been cited by legal historians as evidence 

of his inadequacy as a Supreme Court Jus­

tice.39 Indeed, his efforts to win more equi­

table circuit assignments for the Justices are 

typically cited as his primary contribution to 

the Court.

Those who knew him personally, however, 

saw something more. Writing about McKinley 

in 1876, former Mississippi Governor Henry 

S. Foote declared,

He was undoubtedly a man of great 

morality and uprightness, and defi­

cient neither in legal learning nor in 

ability in the argument of  causes, both 

before courts and juries. There was 

much in his busy and varied career to 

reward the labors of some impartial 

and competent biographer.40

Justice John McKinley served until 1852 

and as long as his health permitted, even after 

he became partially paralyzed, he continued to 

attend to his Supreme Court and circuit court 

duties. A less conscientious judge might have 

abandoned them entirely.
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Salm o n P. Chas e bo as ts an im p re s s ive re­

sume in American political history, having 

held both the position of Secretary of the Trea­

sury in President Abraham Lincoln’s Cabinet 

and that of Chief Justice of the Supreme Court 

of the United States (1864-1873). His active 

years during the Lincoln and Ulysses Grant 

administrations were some of the most politi­

cally charged years in the nineteenth century, 

coinciding with the Civil War, the Emanci­

pation Proclamation, and Reconstruction. Yet 

he is most remembered for a single decision 

made during his time in the Cabinet that came 

back to haunt him during his tenure on the high 

Bench: his decision to substitute specie money 

for fiat currency.

As Treasury Secretary, Chase extolled 

the virtues of fiat currency as absolutely 

indispensable to the triumph of the Union

and the survival of the country.1 As Chief 

Justice, Chase instead adhered to the po­

sition that legal tender was TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAn o t in fact 

lawful, but rather unconstitutional.2 What, 

if  anything, can account for Chase’s holding 

these two diametrically opposed viewpoints? 

Did he have a change of heart somewhere 

between the Cabinet and the Court, or was he 

yielding to political pressures? As Secretary 

of the Treasury, Chase wrote the Legal Tender 

Acts, so why did he not recuse himself 

during the Court’s eventual review of their 

constitutionality when he was serving as 

Chief Justice? The following essay seeks to 

answer these questions and present a complete 

account of one of the most controversial 

judicial acts in Supreme Court history, one 

that called a Chief Justice’s ethics into 

question.
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A b ra h a m  L in c o ln  a p p o in te d  S a lm o n P . C h a s e , th e  

m o s t p ro m in e n t a n d  c a p a b le  re p re s e n ta t iv e  o f th e  

a n t is la v e ry  e le m e n t o f th e  R e p u b lic a n  p a r ty , a s  h is  

S e c re ta ry  o f th e  T re a s u ry  in  1 8 6 1 .

P art I: C hasing the D ream : H ow  C hase  

B ecam e Linco ln ’s S ecretary of the  

TreasuryxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

On No ve m be r 6, 1860, Abraham Lincoln be­

came the sixteenth President-elect after receiv­

ing 180 electoral votes and more than one mil­

lion popular ballots.3 Although he was not in­

augurated until March 4, 1861, President Lin­

coln wasted no time in appointing the men 

who would become his Cabinet advisors.4 Af ­

ter appointing William H. Seward as Secretary 

of State, Lincoln turned to the vexing problem 

of staffing his Treasury Department.5 Lincoln 

was well acquainted with Chase, as the two 

had run against each other for the Republican 

nomination in the 1860 presidential election. 

The President had frequently and without con­

straint expressed his desire to appoint Chase 

as his Secretary of the Treasury, “not only on 

account of his acknowledged executive talent, 

but above all because his spotless integrity of 

character would at once impart confidence in 

the national credit.” 6 He was confident that 

Chase was viewed as the most prominent and

capable representative of the antislavery ele­

ment of the Republican party, and that, as such, 

his nomination would be favorably viewed by 

the second-largest element of that party.7

But Lincoln was also conflicted about 

whom to name to the Treasury position, and 

well aware that a misguided selection could 

prove ruinous to his administration.8 His main 

goal was to restore the American people’s 

confidence in their nation’s economy, as that 

confidence had been greatly shaken by mal­

administration and the stirrings of what was 

to become the Civil War.9 Against his per­

sonal preference for Chase was Pennsylvania’s 

claim to the appointment for its Senator, Simon 

Cameron, based on an unauthorized promise 

of the post by Lincoln’s managers. Pennsyl­

vania was particularly antagonistic to the po­

tential appointment of Chase for other reasons 

as well: because of Chase’s unwavering be­

lief in the doctrines of free trade, he would 

undoubtedly be opposed to any protective leg­

islation for manufacturing proposed by Penn­

sylvania.10

Once Lincoln won the election, Cameron 

believed that the promise of the Treasury po­

sition had all but come to fruition, with the ex­

ception of the actual appointment letter from 

Lincoln, viewed by Cameron as a meaning­

less formality.11 In his excitement and ardor, 

Cameron told the Pennsylvania press that he 

had accepted Lincoln’s nomination.12 Lincoln 

quickly wrote to Cameron and informed him 

that he could no longer offer him the Treasury 

position and hoped he would accept the Sec­

retary of War position in its stead.13 Upon his 

acceptance, Lincoln returned to the Treasury 

appointment quandary.

Cameron’s premature acceptance of a po­

sition never officially  offered had not escaped 

Chase, who arrived in Springfield, Illinois at 

the behest of Lincoln on January 4, 1861.14 

Lincoln was so anxious to meet with Chase 

and clear the air regarding the Treasury posi­

tion that Chase had scarcely settled himself in 

his hotel room when he learned that Lincoln 

himself was in the lobby waiting for him.15
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Chas e , who he ld m atte rs o f p ro p r ie ty in 

high re gard, was gre atly s u rp r is e d that the 

Pre s ide nt-e le ct, a m an who m he had ne ve r fo r­

mally met, would personally call directly at his 
hotel room.16 After brief introductions, both 

men put all formalities and niceties aside and 

turned the conversation straight to the business 

at hand.

The discussion began with Lincoln’s frank 

disclosure that “ I have done with you what I 

would not perhaps had ventured to do with 

any other man in the country—sent for you to 

ask whether you will  accept the appointment 

of Secretary of the Treasury without however 

being exactly prepared to offer it to you.” 17 

If  Chase was startled by Lincoln’s bluntness, 

he did not make his feelings known. But his 

own disappointment at not being asked to serve 

as Secretary of State, the first position in the 

Cabinet, was not as well concealed. Chase 

controlled his feelings with dignity and ci­

vility, but his reply clearly demonstrated his 

displeasure. Extraordinarily prideful and sen­

sitive, Chase avowed that he would not come 

to Springfield with his cap in his hand for an 

appointment and denied that he sought any po­

sition in the Cabinet.18 He also implied that he 

would not accept what he viewed as a subor­

dinate place.19 However, equally political as 

he was prideful, Chase knew that the Treasury 

position was both distinguished and valuable, 

and he did not burn any bridges with Lincoln 

at this time. Instead, he and his bruised ego 

agreed to remain in Ohio for the week and 

discuss the remaining Cabinet positions.20

During that week, Chase and Lincoln 

had several frank and intimate conversations, 

a way of doing business that would persist 

throughout their entire relationship. Although 

originally somewhat distant towards the Pres­

ident, Chase gradually warmed up to Lin­

coln. He was impressed with Lincoln’s hon­

esty and straightforward conversations, as well 

as what he viewed as Lincoln’s unwavering 

commitment to restore the Union.21 These 

feelings were reciprocated by Lincoln who, 

being equally impressed with Chase, greatly

valued his extensive and intimate understand­

ing of the political and economic issues plagu­

ing the Union. Chase’s confidence in his abil­

ity  to develop solutions to effectively solve the 

problems of the Union assured Lincoln that 

he had found the strength and endurance of 

character needed by his administration. When 

Lincoln saw Chase off  on the train at the end 

of the week, he was convinced that it was “not 

only highly proper, but a necessity that Gover­

nor Chase shall take the place of Treasury.” 22 

Salmon P. Chase’s nomination as Secretary of 

the Treasury was unanimously approved by the 

Senate on March 5, 1861.23

P art II: Tenure as  Treasury S ecretary:

The A doption of P aper C urrency

Chase was amply qualified for his new post.24 

As a Dartmouth College-educated lawyer and 

former director of various banks, Chase was 

as knowledgeable in financial affairs as any 

of his predecessors and probably more so 
than most.25 Most importantly, he was well 

versed and competent in the established eco­

nomic theories of the time.26 As an ardent 

hard-money Treasury Secretary, Chase dog­

matically believed in the soundness of hard 

currency. He took this belief with him to 

Washington when he began his tenure in the 
Cabinet.

Upon arriving in the Capital, Chase had 

to devote long hours to the financial affairs, 

policies, and problems of the Union. In order 

to lay the best foundation upon which to craft 

his own strategies and procedures, he first had 

to educate himself about the current state of 

the Treasury and the legislation governing its 
policy.27 Second, Chase endeavored to educate 

himself about the unfamiliar field of govern­

ment finance, which he found to be a beast 

entirely different from his own financial expe­
riences.28 What he learned was that there was 

an incredible outflow of Treasury funds in or­

der to support the Union’s expanding army and 

navy. Chase found himself confronted with an
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e ve r-incre as ing ne e d fo r m o ne y, which was 

o nly s u rp as s e d by the re s u lting m o u nting de bt.

As Chas e to o k o ffice in March o f 1861, 

the government had to its credit a three- 

million-dollar balance against its total debt 

of approximately sixty-five million dollars.29 

More than a third of this debt was in unfunded 

Treasury notes, which were paying high inter­

est rates for short terms.30 The Panic of 1857 

and the political crises that ensued had so im­

paired the government’s credit that even the 

highly liquid Treasury notes were sold only 

at ruinous discounts.31 Congress had enacted 

numerous pieces of legislation involving the 

national Treasury, and these acts authorized 

Chase to issue Treasury notes and government 

bonds up to forty million dollars.32 Despite 

the increasingly catastrophic circumstances, 

Chase acted cautiously and conservatively. He 

hoped to sell more government bonds in order 

to increase the credit of the Union, but many 

wary bankers would not purchase them.33 As 

a result, only half of the bonds were sold.34

With the Battle of Fort Sumter on April  12, 

1861, the Civil War officially commenced.35 

Washington began to hear news of the great 

patriotic upsurge in the North, leading Chase 

to attempt to market nine million dollars in 

bonds in preparation for the anticipated astro­

nomical leap in military spending.36 The im­

mediate need for millions of dollars was so 

dire as to develop into an emergency, spurring 

Chase to sell seven million dollars of bonds

in one measure and complete another sale of 

nine million dollars of notes and bonds in a 

second one.37 The sale of these bonds, cou­

pled with the funds that had accrued in the 

Treasury, seemed sufficient to Chase to pro­

vide for the government until the special ses­

sion of Congress that Lincoln had called was 

convened on July 4, 1861.3S He believed that 

the states, on account of their recent booming 

patriotic pride, would assist in expenses for 

recruiting, clothing, arming, transporting, and 

initially  feeding the Union troops.39 However, 

in place of patriotism, Chase found compe­

tition. State bonds and city issues competed 

with the Washington government’s notes, and, 

in as little as four months, Chase learned that 

he could not rely on the patriotism or politi­

cal backing of the Union’s banks.40 He would 

have to implement new and different measures 

in order to procure the funds needed for the 

President’s military forces.

The first months of the war proved to be 

unpredictably financially devastating. Both the 

North and South foresaw almost immediate 

victory for their respective sides, and no ex­

pense was spared to bring about such an antic­

ipated triumph.41 Chase was forced to contend 

with unprecedented national bills, specifically 

the astronomical funds needed for military ex­

penses, and he viewed such exorbitant debts 

as true national exigencies. One of the first 

measures he implemented to address the ris­

ing debt was the issuance of “demand notes,”ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

L e a d in g  b a n k e rs , m a n y  o f w h o m  h a d  re c e n t ly  lo a n e d  th e  g o v e rn m e n t th o u s a n d s  o f d o lla rs , u rg e d  u p o n  C h a s e  

th e  a d o p t io n  o f p a p e r m o n e y . T h e ir  s e n t im e n ts , c o m b in e d  w ith  th e  p u b lic ly  a c c e p te d  o p in io n  th a t w a r t im e s  

w e re  c o n s t itu t io n a lly  ju s t if ia b le  e x ig e n c ie s , fo rc e d  C h a s e  to  re th in k  h is  v ie w  o n  h a rd  c u r re n c y  in  th e  fa c e  o f  

th e  g o v e rn m e n t 's  m o u n t in g  d e b t.
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p ayable in co in, fo r the p aym e nt o f s alar ie s 

o r o the r de bts o f the Union.42 The American 

people initially  harbored an intense distrust of 

this paper money, the evils of which had been 

extolled by the Founding Fathers.43 In order 

to inspire confidence in the notes, Chase and 

other public officers elected to receive them in 

payment of their salaries. This measure mol­

lified the American populace, who eventually 

began accepting the notes as well.44

Unfortunately, the demand-note policy 

did not adequately solve the problem of the 

spiraling debt. The real solution would have 

to be a tremendous loan to the Union gov­

ernment.45 On August 19, 1861, Chase met 

with the principal bankers of the Union in New 

York.46 He explained to them the needs of the 

government and tried to emphasize the safety 

and value of its securities.47 Chase’s persua­

sive skills prevailed, and the bankers agreed 

to loan the government fifty  million dollars to 

stave off  looming war expenses 48

Even as he secured this loan, however, 

Chase was well aware that the volume of 

currency in the country was insufficient to 

finance the enormous requirements of the pub­

lic expenditure. Largely brought on by bur­

geoning war costs, the public debt had risen 

to over three million dollars, and the daily ex­

penditures amounted to nearly two million dol­
lars.49 In response to these figures, the growing 

sentiment in both the political and financial 

worlds was that the time for last resorts had 

arrived. Paper money, once thought of as the 

scourge of civilized and advanced societies, 

was rapidly gaining mainstream acceptance as 

the only remaining solution to the country’s 

debt. Leading bankers, many of whom had 

recently loaned the government thousands of 

dollars, urged the adoption of paper money, 

hailed as the only practical expedient, upon 
Chase.50 Politicians and bankers alike pres­

sured Chase to change what they deemed to 

be his antiquated financial views in favor of 

a more modern monetary policy. Their senti­

ments, combined with the publicly accepted 

opinion that wartimes were constitutionally

justifiable exigencies, forced Chase to rethink 

his view on hard currency or risk political sui­

cide.51

Chase, who had been largely influenced in 

all of his financial views by the philosophies 

of former Secretary of the Treasury Alexan­

der Hamilton, was reluctant to entertain, if  

not stubborn about entertaining, even the idea 

of introducing paper money to the Union.52 

Chase was particularly influenced by Hamil­

ton’s statements in a report he made on the 

national bank in 1790: “ [T]he wisdom of the 

government will  be shown in never trusting 

itself with the use of so seducing and dan­

gerous an expedient. The stamping of paper 

is an operation so much easier than the lay­

ing of taxes, that a government in the prac­

tice of paper emissions would rarely fail, in 

any such emergency, to indulge itself too far 

in the employment of that resource.” 53 It ap­

pears that Chase’s ultimate trepidation regard­

ing the legalization of paper money was the 

fear that what would begin as the last resort 

would quickly become the first response. In 

spite of this reluctance, however, Chase felt 

that the Civil War presented such a financial 

emergency as to risk all of his beliefs.

Chase’s agents in various parts of the 

North had frequently intimated that the cor­

porate institutions of the country would not 

receive the notes of the government unless they 

were made a legal tender by act of Congress.54 

The special session of Congress on July 4 

was rapidly approaching, and Chase turned 

all of his efforts towards preparing his report 

on the adoption of the Legal Tender Act.55 In 

late June, Chase requested a meeting with the 

members of the House Ways and Means com­

mittee and the Senate Committee on Finance to 

discuss the Secretary’s plans for financing the 

coming war operations.56 He drafted a series of 

bills that would grant the Treasury, specifically 

the Treasury Secretary, taxation and borrow­

ing authority.57 Having worked with many of 

these men himself while in the Senate, Chase 

was well aware that these committeemen were 

among the more diligent and knowledgeable
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m e m be rs o f the 37th Congress.58 As such, he 

planned accordingly and directed his efforts 

towards forming an alliance with Thaddeus 

Stevens, the popular and tremendously power­

ful Chairman of the House Ways and Means 

Committee.

An extraordinary influential mem­

ber, Stevens, nicknamed the “Dictator of 

Congress,” was, in Chase’s mind, the sole 

figure needed to pass the Legal Tender Act.59 

Prior to joining Congress, Stevens had been a 

successful businessman, and his paper-money 

views and loose-credit policies were in sharp 

distinction to Chase’s hard-money precepts.60 

In the tension of the war, however, the unlikely 

allies found a common ground. Chase yielded 

his hard-money beliefs to the adoption of 

paper money. He emphasized that this reversal 

was wholly on account of the war. In fact, in a 

letter to Stevens, Chase wrote that

it is not unknown to them that I have 

felt, nor do I wish to conceal that I 

now feel, a great aversion to mak­

ing anything but coin a legal tender 

in payment of debts. It has been my 

anxious wish to avoid the necessity 

of such legislation. It is at present 

impossible, however, in consequence 

of the large expenditures entailed by 

the war and the suspension of the 

banks, to procure sufficient coin for 

current disbursements. It has there­

fore become indispensably necessary 

that we should resort to the issue of 

US notes.61

Once Chase took the view that paper cur­

rency was “ indispensably necessary,”  he ded­

icated himself to its enactment. In late June 

of 1861, Chase laid bare his estimates for the 

upcoming fiscal year. He estimated the neces­

sary military and naval expenditures at $318 

million—more than six times what Congress 

had appropriated the previous year.62 “He pro­

posed to raise $240 million though loans, the 

remainder from increased imposts, excises, 

and the direct taxes on the states. He urged

authority to open a national loan of $100 mil­

lion in Treasury notes bearing annual inter­

est of 7.3 percent and redeemable at par any 

time after three years. And he asked for discre­

tion in deciding whether these notes should be 

payable on demand for coin or issued without 

interest.” 63 Aware of the inflationary implica­

tions of his requests, he assured the commit­

tee members that the greatest care would be 

taken to prevent these notes from becoming 

irredeemable paper currency.

The Secretary’s assurances did little to 

quell the fierce opposition against the Legal 

Tender Act present in both houses. The mea­

sure received the most violent denunciations 

during its debates.64 Ultimately, however, the 

Legal Tender Act became law on February 

25, 1862, authorizing the issue of $150 mil­

lion from the government of the United States, 

without interest, payable at the Treasury of the 

United States in denominations of not less than 
five dollars.65 These notes were to be received 

in payment of “all debts and demands”  of ev­

ery kind due in the United States.66

P art III: “A pres m oi, le deluge”

Any elation or satisfaction Chase might have 

felt in February 1862 had dissipated com­

pletely by June of that same year. The mili ­

tary drained the supply of greenbacks in less 

than five months, and complaints from sol­

diers about delays or mistakes in their pay were 

flooding into Congress.67 Chase reasoned that 

the fault for these financial problems was prop­

erly found, not in his failure to accurately pre­

dict and provide an estimation of military ex­

penditures, but in Congress for not promptly 

passing the Legal Tender Act.68 Chase had rec­

ommended quick passage in his report. Ratio­

nalizing that this delay was the cause of the 

present financial crisis, he took the lead in 

passing the second Legal Tender Act.69

Chase argued that greenbacks had not 

dramatically driven up prices since passage 

of the first act (failing to take into account 

the lack of a proper time frame to feel such
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in  1 8 6 2 , th e m ilita ry  
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effects).70 However, the greenbacks had re­

sulted in problems for the Union. Since the 

first Legal Tender Act, metallic coins had vir­

tually disappeared.71 Chase proposed that this 

inconvenience be met by the issuance of frac­

tional currency in small denominations, repre­

senting the furthest break yet from his previ­

ous convictions regarding hard money. After 

much less bitter debate than had occurred over 

passage of the first Legal Tender Act, the Sec­

ond Legal Tender Act became law on July 11, 

1862.72

If  Chase was pleased with the passage of 

this second act, he did not show it. In the after- 

math of the adoption of the first act, Chase, 

ever Hamilton’s protege, had been crafting

what he viewed as the single most important 

piece of legislation that would prove to be the 

keystone to the success of his financial poli­

cies.73 This keystone legislation was the es­

tablishment of a national banking system—or 

“Associated Banks,”  as Chase called it.74 The 

bill had encountered heavy opposition in the 

House, and its passage had stalled. In order 

to meet the demands of the ever-increasing 

war costs, Chase proposed three measures, of 

which the national bank system would be the 

anchor.75 The adoption of the national bank 

was of the utmost importance to Chase, who 

believed that such an adoption would force 

the banking community to accept government 

bonds as security for their circulations.76 The
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s e co nd m e as u re invo lve d granting Co ngre s s 

au tho r ity to s e ll bo nds at the m arke t witho u t 

the p ar re s tr ictio n. Finally, Chas e was draft­

ing a Treasury order that would empower the 

Treasury to sell its bonds directly to the peo­

ple, in addition to the banks and businesses. 

Of these three measures, the only successful 

measure was the National Banking Act, which 

was signed on February 23, 1863.77

Chase’s fears of paper currency becom­

ing the nation’s first response to economic 

problems seem to have been validated. Over 

his objections to multiple aspects of the bill,  

Congress passed and Lincoln signed the Third 

Legal Tender Acton March 3, 18 63.78 This act 

added another $150 million worth of green­

backs and another $50 million in fractional 

currency to national circulation. Public con­

fidence in the rapidly growing government 

stocks was not strong, and Chase took it upon 

himself to speak to the people in order to renew 

their confidence.

Shortly after the passage of the Legal Ten­

der Acts, Chase went on a speaking circuit, 

traveling to various cities to meet with Amer­

icans and reassure them that their money and 

that of their nation was not in jeopardy. Typi­

cal of his political message was a speech given 

in Indianapolis, cheekily entitled “Financial 

Policy in a Nutshell.” 79 In this speech, Chase 

called upon all of his storied powers of persua­

sion and oratorical skill to rally his audience 

around his policy. He began with a tale sure to 

strike at the inflamed patriotism of the North­

ern citizens. He related how, at the onset of the 

Civil War, the TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAL o n d o n T im es ran a story as­

serting that if  Chase came to England looking 

for funds to support the war effort, “he will  

find English capitalists little inclined to in­

vest in the bonds of a broken union.” 80 To add 

insult to injury, the T im es article had forebod­

ingly prophesized, “We shall see then what will 

become of the vaunted Republic.” 81 Ever the 

able politician, Chase emphasized the need for 

the Union to save face and show England that 

Americans—his audience especially—would 

not be prostrating themselves before their OldZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

A ilin g  a n d  in c re a s in g ly  fo rg e t fu l, J u s t ic e  R o b e r t G r ie r  

c h a n g e d  h is  v o te  in  Hepburn v. Griswold to  jo in  th e  

m a jo r ity  d e c la r in g  th e  L e g a l T e n d e r  A c ts  u n c o n s t itu ­

t io n a l. H e  re s ig n e d  f ro m  th e  C o u r t b e fo re  th e  o p in io n  

w a s  h a n d e d  d o w n .

Mother but could stand on their own two feet 

and handle their affairs themselves. To the out­

cries of his audience, enraged at the disre­

spect thrown at them from across the pond, 

Chase assured them that he had acted ex­

actly as they would have wanted: “ I said, ‘Mr. 

Chase will  never be seen in London asking for 

money... If  the T im es waits for American to 

borrow of England, it will  wait till  the little 

island is sunk in the sea.” 82

With this patriotic tale as his introduc­

tion, Chase proceeded to rhetorically ask the 

audience what they would have done in such a 

scenario—and to answer that they would have 

acted exactly as he did.83 Chase stated that 

he borrowed as much as he possibly could on 

the nation’s credit, but that even that was not 

enough to feed the troops. Playing again to the 

audience’s patriotism, Chase intimated that he 

could not bear asking the soldiers to keep de­

laying their payments—and that he knew his 

audience could not bear the thought, either. Ul­

timately, he framed the decision to print green­

backs as the decision to take better care of the 

troops. For comedic effect, he stated, “ I had
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s o m e hands o m e p ictu re s p u t o n the m and I 

like to be am o ng the p e o p le and was ke p t to o 

clo s e to vis it the m any o the r way and as the 

e ngrave rs tho u ght m e rathe r go o d lo o king I 

to ld the m [they] might put me on the end of 

the one dollar bills.” 84 His final push was to 

instill further confidence in the paper currency 

by noting that the passage of the Second Le­

gal Tender Act was performed quickly and that 

“ [t]he effect of this was curious for instead of 

being tenderer[, the paper currency] was even 

stronger than before.” 85 Ever the able orator, 

Chase had the people on his side.

P art IV : The P arting  of the  W ays:ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

C hase ’s R esignation from  the  Treasury

Chase never entirely warmed to Lincoln. Al ­

ways fully  convinced of his superior ability to 

run the Executive Office, he was accused of 

erroneously believing there was a “ fourth per- 

SQn in the Trinity.” 86 Chase continually tested 

the boundaries with Lincoln—tests that, in the 

President’s estimation, amounted to adult tem­

per tantrums.87 Chase’s attitude towards the 

President was characterized as “one which var­

ied between the limits of active hostility and 

benevolent contempt.” 88 Chase clung to the 

belief that a great mistake had been commit­

ted in Chicago when the nomination was lost 

to him, and he very thinly veiled his personal 

qualms with the President.89

Well aware of his worth to the President 

and his administration, due to the great need 

for his financial acumen and admitted pop­

ularity with the country, Chase leveraged his 

position against Lincoln on multiple occasions 

in order to push through his nominees for var­

ious state posts.90 In fact, Chase threatened to 

resign three times on account of Lincoln’s re­

fusal to appoint Chase’s recommendations.91 

Each time, Lincoln was able to mollify him 

without jeopardizing the respect of the pres­

idency. However, the fourth threatened resig­

nation proved to be the twig that broke the 

log-splitter’s back.

Chase desired to make the appointment 

for an office in New York, and he sent his rec­

ommendation to Lincoln. Lincoln responded 

and informed his Treasury Secretary that his 

recommendation, while appreciated, would 

not be honored. Angered that Lincoln would 

dare to fill  a position with anyone but his ap­

pointee, Chase tendered his resignation again 

to the President. Much to Chase’s surprise, 

Lincoln finally called his bluff and on June 

30, 1864, wrote to Chase, “Your resignation 

of the office of Secretary of the Treasury, sent 

me yesterday, is accepted. Of all I have said 

in commendation of your ability and fidelity I 

have nothing to unsay, and yet you and I have 

reached a point of mutual embarrassment in 

our official relation which it seems cannot be 

overcome or longer sustained consistently with 

the public service.” 92

This acceptance of his resignation un­

doubtedly caught Chase by surprise. Ever the 

dignified statesman, however, he withdrew 

from his position without raising a fuss. Con­

versely, quite a fuss was raised by Congress, 

particularly among the members of the var­

ious finance committees. The government’s 

accounts were exceedingly poor. The deficit 

was again ballooning, and expenditures had 

exceeded Chase’s estimates by over $116 mil­

lion.93 The timing of Chase’s resignation—or 

at least of Lincoln’s acceptance of it—could 

not have been worse.

P art V : From  C abinets to  C ourts: 

C hase ’s P rom otion to  C hief Justice

After Chase took his leave from the Cabinet, 

he traveled the country giving speeches. He 

also spent a great deal of time with his fam­

ily. His reprieve from politics was short-lived, 

however. On October 12, 1864, Chief Justice 

Roger Taney died.94 Friends of Chase—and 

there were many on account of the successful 

appointments he had been able to push through 

while Treasury Secretary—proclaimed that he 

should be named Taney’s replacement.95 The
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ge ne ral co ns e ns u s was that the natio nal cu r­

rency would be best cared for by its parent.96 

As the country was still wracked by inflation 

and financial issues, the national currency was 

at the forefront of every American’s mind, and 

they trusted Chase with this important issue. 

It did not seem to matter what position he held 

as long as he could solve the nation’s monetary 

problems.

Despite the mounting pressure to appoint 

Chase, Lincoln refused to entertain discus­

sions about the post, saying that he would not 

make a nomination until the November elec­

tions had concluded.97 However, he had al­

luded to Chase’s nomination and even seemed 

resolved on the appointment before Taney died 

in a letter written to Ward Hill  Lamon in which 

he said, “ I was satisfied that the appointment 

of Governor Chase would satisfy the coun­

try.” 98 Even after the resignation episode, Lin­

coln maintained great respect for Chase’s abil­

ities as a lawyer and constitutional scholar.99 

This respect, coupled with Lincoln’s predic­

tion that Chase would be easily confirmed, 

led the President to nominate Chase on De­

cember 6, 1864, and the Senate confirmed the

nomination without incident.100 Chase had to 

wait another nine days before he was actually 

sworn in, but, by December 15, 1864, he had 

been confirmed and certified.101 On that his­

toric day, the small Supreme Court Chamber 

was crowded with dignitaries who had come to 

witness the first Chief Justice installed since 

1836.102

At the Court, Chase found himself in un­

charted territory. His papers indicate that he 

did not enjoy being a judge. He was accus­

tomed to having his own way, but for the first 

time in his career, he found that he was unable 

to force his opinions on his colleagues.103 In a 

letter dated March 3,1865, he told his daughter 

that he “detested reading, thinking, writing and 

hearing morning, noon and night.” 104 Even if  

he did not enjoy his work, Chase approached 

his duties on the Bench with vigor and dedica­

tion and generally got along amicably with his 

fellow Justices and acclimated well to Court 

life. Regrettably, however, Chase’s battles were 

far from over. In 1867, a mere two years af­

ter his appointment, Chase presided over what 

would be known to posterity as the benchmark 

of his career: TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH ep b u rn v . G risw o ld .1 0 5ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

W ill ia m  S tro n g  ( le f t )  a n d  J o s e p h  P . B ra d le y  ( r ig h t) w e re  n o m in a te d  to  th e  S u p re m e  C o u r t b y  P re s id e n t U ly s s e s  

G ra n t to  o v e r tu rn  th e  Hepburn p re c e d e n t. T h e ir  a p p o in tm e n ts  a re  c o n s id e re d  th e  f ir s t in s ta n c e  o f a  P re s id e n t 

t r y in g  to  “ p a c k ”  th e  C o u r t .
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P art V I: A bout Face: Hepburn v.ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

GriswoldxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

If  Chas e had e ve r e nvis io ne d that he wo u ld be 

e valu ating the co ns titu tio nality o f his o wn fi ­

nancial measures, these predictions were never 

intimated. Yet Chase found himself in just this 

position with TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH ep b u rn .

The facts of the case are relatively in­

nocuous in comparison to the controversy the 

verdict generated. On June 20, 1860, a cer­

tain Mrs. Hepburn wrote a promissory note 

promising to pay $11,250 to Henry Griswold 

on February 20,1862. At the time the note was 

made, as well as at the time it fell due, gold and 

silver coins were the only legal tender available 

to pay debts in the United States.106 Specifi­

cally, not until five days a fte r Mrs. Hepburn’s 

note became due did Lincoln signed the Le­

gal Tender Act into law.107 Mrs. Hepburn did 

not pay her note in full  upon its maturity, and 

interest accrued on it.108 Mr. Griswold hav­

ing brought suit on the note in the Louisville 

Chancery Court, Mrs. Hepburn tendered the 

remaining balance of $12,720 in U.S. legal 

tender notes in March 1864.109 Mr. Griswold 

refused the tender as payment for the debt.110 

“ [Rjesolving all doubts in favor of the act of 

Congress,”  the chancellor declared the tender 

legally sound and ruled that Mrs. Hepburn’s 

debt had been duly satisfied.111 Mr. Griswold 

was not satisfied, and he appealed to the Court 

of Errors of Kentucky, where the chancellor’s 

judgment was reversed and the case remanded 

in accordance with that opinion.112 Mrs. Hep­

burn then appealed to the Supreme Court of 

the United States.113

H ep b u rn was first argued in the Decem­

ber Term of 1867 and was reargued in the 

December Term of 1868.114 However, the de­

cision was not handed down until December 

1869.115 The majority opinion, which rejected 

the constitutionality of legal tender, was writ­

ten by Chase and concurred with by Justices 

Samuel Nelson, Nathan Clifford, Robert Grier 

and Stephen J. Field.116 The dissenting opin­

ion was written by Justice Samuel F. Miller

and joined by Justices Noah Swayne and David 

Davis.117

While at Treasury, Chase had supported 

the issuance of paper money because he be­
lieved it necessary to sustain the Union.118 

However, his letters seem to indicate that he 

always maintained a principled opposition to 

paper money because of the detrimental re­
liance that could be placed upon it.119 Chase 

based his argument that the Legal Tender Acts 

were unconstitutional on two major points. The 

first dealt with the provision in Article 1 Sec­

tion 10 of the U.S. Constitution, which for­

bade states to “emit bills of credit [or] make 

anything but gold and silver coin a tender in 

the payment of debts.” The second cited the 

Fifth Amendment, which forbade the govern­

ment from taking property without due pro­

cess of law. Chase cited John Marshall’s doc­

trine of implied powers in the famous case of 

M cC u llo ch v. M a ry la n d as supporting his con­

tention that even though Article 1 dealt with 

state power, it could be legitimately implied to 

inhibit national power because fiat currency 
violated the spirit of the Constitution.120

In his opinion, Chase phrased the ulti­

mate issue in the case as “whether Congress 

has power to make notes issued under its au­

thority a legal tender in payment of debts, 

which, when contracted, were payable by law 

in gold and silver coin.” 121 He carefully estab­

lished the premise that the general rule of the 

Supreme Court is to hold that acts of Congress 

are regarded as constitutional unless clear ev­

idence rebuts this presumption.122 From that 

premise, Chase stated that acts of Congress 

are contrary to the Constitution if  the acts do 

not flow from the powers granted to Congress 
by the Constitution.123 Analyzing the Consti­

tution from a strict constructionist perspective, 

Chase ultimately argued that the act of making 

paper legal tender for payment of debts previ­

ously contracted is not an appropriate means 

to carry into effect any express power vested 

in Congress.124 As such, Chase concluded, the 

Legal Tender Act was unconstitutional.125
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P art V II: C hanging of the G uard:ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

B rad ley  and S trongxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

The ju dgm e nt de clar ing the u nco ns titu tio nal­

ity of the Legal Tender Acts was supported 

by many of the country’s most influential Re­
publicans.126 The decision also had an impor­

tant and positive effect on the national credit 

both at home and abroad. Not all were pleased 

with the decision, however. In his dissent­

ing opinion in TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH ep b u rn , Justice Miller  argued 

that fifteen states’ courts had previously af­

firmed the constitutionality of the Legal Ten­

der Acts, and he hypothesized about the ill  ef­

fects the Court’s decision would have on the 

states.127 Importantly, it was freely charged 

by Democratic politicians—and even by some 

Republicans—that if  the judgment in H ep b u rn 

had not been disadvantageous to the interests 

of certain powerful railroad corporations, the 

decision would have remained unchallenged 
by subsequent cases.128 These allegations con­

cerning railroad interest are particularly inter­

esting in light of the controversy surrounding 

the rapid overturning of H ep b u rn .

A brief digression into the politics of the 

Supreme Court must be entertained in order to 

fully appreciate the intrigue surrounding the 

reversal of H ep b u rn . On April 10, 1869, by its 

own act, Congress authorized the addition of 

another Supreme Court Justice, bringing the 

Bench membership to nine.129 This act was to 

take effect on the first Monday in December 

of 1869, the very month that H ep b u rn was 

decided.130 Additionally, pursuant to the act, 

any Justice who should resign after reaching 

the age of seventy and having completed at 

least ten years of service on the Court would 

receive retirement payment for life.131

This latter part of the act was of partic­

ular importance to the Court because of Jus­

tice Grier’s increasingly failing health and de­

teriorating mental capabilities. Appointed by 

President James Polk in 1846, Grier could not 

walk and needed to be carried to the Bench. 

He could barely hold a pencil to write. In­

creasingly forgetful and muddled, he was, by

1870, wholly unfit to sit on the Court.132 Dur­

ing the conference that determined the out­

come in H ep b u rn , the Court split evenly four 

to four.133 H ep b u rn had a companion case, 

M cG lyn n v . M cG ra w , with the same issue: 

questioning the constitutionality of the Legal 

Tender Acts.134 In the conference concerning 

both cases, Grier apparently first stated that 

the Legal Tender Acts were unconstitutional 

during the Court’s discussion in M cG lyn n . 

Then, during its subsequent discussion of  H ep­

b u rn , he advised that the Acts were constitu­
tional.136 After Chase reminded Grier that in 

M cG lyn n he had argued for the constitutional­

ity of the Act at issue, Grier reversed his opin­

ion in M cG lyn n and changed his vote to concur 

with Chase, Clifford, Field, and Nelson.137 It 

was Grier’s vote that carried the majority, thus 

making it possible for the Court to declare the 

Legal Tender Acts unconstitutional.

On December 11,1869, prior to the an­

nouncement of the decision in H ep b u rn , Grier 

wrote to President Grant, informing him of his 

intention to retire.138 On December 15, Grant 

responded with a letter accepting Grier’s resig­

nation and set himself to the task of replacing 

both Grier and Justice James Wayne, who had 

died during the previous Term.139 Grant thus 

had to fill  two seats on the Supreme Court in 

the wake of the most controversial decision 

since the Civil  War.

Unsurprisingly, Grant had numerous po­

litical flies in his ear who felt they could best 

advise him on whom to bestow these critically 

important positions. Most of his advisors were 

of the opinion that Grant should take steps to 

balance the Northern-Southern upset currently 

on the Bench. For instance, Justice Miller, who 

wrote the dissent in H ep b u rn , wrote to Grant 

on April 14, 1869, suggesting that, because 

all of the current Justices were from north of 

the Mason-Dixon Line, it would behoove the 

President to make his next appointment from 
south of that line.140

On December 14, 1869, President Grant 

nominated his Attorney General, Ebenezer 

Hoar, to the position soon to be vacated by
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Grie r.141 However, Hoar was rejected by the 

Senate on February 3,1870.142 Five days later, 

on the same day the Court announced the TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
H ep b u rn decision, Grant nominated Joseph P. 

Bradley and William Strong to the Court.143 

Strong was confirmed on February 18, 1870, 

and Bradley on March 21, 1870.144 Although 

they were confirmed with relative ease, Grant’s 

nominations of Bradley and Strong would 

prove to be extremely controversial and would 

be considered the first Court-packing scheme.

Bradley and Strong were not unknown 

to the American public prior to their appoint­

ments, as they had both been lawyers for 

prominent railroad companies. Bradley had 

been active with a prominent railroad, Camden 

&  Amboy, which had a financial interest in the 

reversal of H ep b u rn . Railroad companies in­

curred much of their debt prior to 1862, when 

coin was the only legal tender in the country. 

Therefore, these companies were poised to 

gain financially if  they could repay debts in 

the controversial paper money, which was not 

worth as much as the coin.145 In 1830, the 

New Jersey General Assembly chartered the 

Camden &  Amboy Railroad and the Delaware 

&  Raritan canal company and granted them a 

monopoly of the rail and water transportation 

in exchange for a share of the companies’  

profits.146 In 1831, the corporations merged 

and thereafter exploited their monopoly to 

the fullest extent possible, so that Camden &  

Amboy came to have a hateful reputation.147 

In 1848, there was a movement to repeal the 

statute that granted the company its monopoly. 

The company’s board of directors appointed 

three men to examine the prospective charges; 
Bradley was chosen to be their secretary.148 

In 1849, the New Jersey General Assembly 

also created a commission to investigate 

the company; Bradley managed Camden 

& Amboy’s defense and served as its legal 

advisor.149 Until his appointment to the Court 

in 1870, Bradley thereafter held increasingly 

important roles at the railroad, including that 

of director.150 During his long tenure with 

the railroad, Bradley advised the company

of his firm belief in the constitutionality 

of the Legal Tender Act, and the railroad 

acted accordingly in its business practices. 

A Republican, Bradley also made political 
speeches defending the Legal Tender Act.151

Strong was also a defender of the Legal 

Tender Act. As a judge on the supreme court of 

Pennsylvania, Strong had upheld the Act’s con­

stitutionality in the 1866 case of S h o llen b erg v . 

B r in to n .152 Newspapers protested that Strong 

was both a stockholder and legal advisor to the 

Pennsylvania Central Railroad Company.153

The public was outraged that both Bradley 

and Strong were stockholders in their respec­

tive railroad companies. Once these sharehold­

ings were discovered, the press called for the 

Justices to sever their financial ties with these 

companies to ensure there was no bias on the 

Bench. And so they did. The S p r in g fie ld D a ily  

R ep u b lica n of April 19,1870 quoted its Wash­

ington correspondent: “Judge Bradley states 

that he transferred all his interest in railway 

companies owning bonds issued prior to pas­

sage of the legal tender act immediately after 

his confirmation and Judge Strong says he is 

going to dispose of his railway shares before 
the legal tender question is reopened.” 154

Why were Bradley and Strong’s railroad 

connections considered so outrageous? Be­

cause it was widely suspected that Grant had 

appointed these men solely to ensure the re­

versal of H ep b u rn , which occurred less than a 

year after the two new members joined the 

Court.155 It seems that Chief Justice Chase 

shared this suspicion. Strong took the Supreme 

Court oath and was seated on March 14, fol­

lowed by Bradley on March 23. Chase went 

home and wrote in his diary that he feared the 

two new Justices would reverse the decision 

he had made.156

The Friday after Bradley and Strong were 

sworn in, Attorney General Hoar moved that 

two cases, L a th a m v. U n ited S ta tes and D em­

in g v. U n ited S ta tes, be set on the Supreme 

Court’s calendar for argument so that the 

legal-tender question could be reconsidered. 

Chase was adamant that the Court not revisit
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the question, fearing a reversal of TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH ep b u rn . 

Unfortunately for the Chief Justice, the chang­

ing of the guard had resulted in a new major­

ity, and he now found himself in the minority. 

Taking what measures he could, Chase filed a 

motion precluding the new majority from re­

opening the legal-tender question.157 The four 

Justices who had comprised the majority in 

H ep b u rn backed his motion.158

Chase’s premise for why the legal-tender 

question should remain decided rested on pro­

cedure, and informal procedure at that. The 

Constitution grants the Court no authority to 

adopt a super-precedent that will  reverberate 

through the halls of time. Rather, Chase re­

minded his colleagues, it  was the settled rule of 

the Court, made in 1852, that “no re-argument 

will  be granted in any case, unless a member 

of the court who concurred in the judgment 

desires.” 159

Much to Chase’s chagrin, his reminder 

fell on deaf ears and the new majority voted 

to reopen the legal-tender question. However, 

counsel quickly filed a motion to dismiss. 

The motion was granted and Chase’s H ep b u rn 

precedent survived this initial challenge. In 

the next Term, however, in a case called K n o x 

v. Zee,160 the Court reversed Chase’s decision 

and ruled the Legal Tender Acts constitutional.

P art V III: M ea C ulpa, M ea C ulpa, M eaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

M axim a C ulpa

In his opinion in the H ep b u rn case, Chase did 

not give a personal account of what appeared 

to all as a radical change of heart in his finan­

cial philosophy. Unsurprisingly, the supporters 

of the legal-tender system criticized Chase for 

his inconsistency from Cabinet to Court.161 

For how could the man denounce as uncon­

stitutional as Chief Justice a measure he him­

self had drafted as Secretary of the Treasury? 

Most of Chase’s biographers attempt to explain 

his contradictory holdings by emphasizing his 

statements that, although he came around to 

supporting paper money as legal tender, he 

was never fully  convinced of its constitution­

ality.162

Chase himself briefly gives what could 

easily be interpreted as a tongue-in-cheek 

pseudo-apology for the discrepancies in his 

actions at the end of the H ep b u rn decision. 

There, he states that the tumult of the late Civil  

War

was not favorable to the consider­

ate reflection upon the constitutional 

limits of legislative or executive au­

thority ... Not a few who then in­

sisted upon its necessity, or acqui­

esced in that view, have, since the 

return of peace, and under the influ­

ence of the calmer time, reconsidered 

their conclusions and now concur in 

[the Act’s unconstitutionality.]163

This statement clearly does not amount to a 

personal apology or personal accounting for 

Chase’s apparently contradictory actions. It 

does hint, though, that he recognizes, and is 

aware that others might recognize, the irony of 

his judicial opinion in the face of his Cabinet 

action.

Chase makes a more overt accounting for 

his inconsistency in his dissenting opinion in 

K n o x v. L ee '.

The reference made in the opinion 

just read, as well as in the argu­

ment at the bar, to the opinions of 

the Chief Justice, when Secretary of 

the Treasury, seems to warrant, if  it 

does not require, some observations 

before proceeding further in the dis­

cussion. It was his fortune at the time 

the legal tender clause was inserted 

in the bill to authorize the issue of 

United States notes and received the 

sanction of Congress, to be charged 

with the anxious and responsible duty 

of providing funds for the prosecu­

tion of the war. In no report made 

by him to Congress was the expedi­

ent of making the notes of the United 

States a legal tender suggested. He 

urged the issue of notes payable on 

demand in coin or received as coin in
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p aym e nt o f du tie s . Whe n the State 

banks had s u s p e nde d s p e cie p ay­

ments, he recommended the issue 

of United States notes receivable for 

all loans to the United States and 

all government dues except duties 

on imports. In his report of Decem­

ber, 1862, he said that “United States 

notes receivable for bonds bearing a 

secure specie interest are next best 

to notes convertible into coin,” and 

after stating the financial measures 

which in his judgment were advis­

able, he added: “The Secretary rec­

ommends, therefore, no mere paper 

money scheme, but on the contrary a 

series of measures looking to a safe 

and gradual return to gold and silver 

as the only permanent basis, standard, 

and measure of value recognized by 

the Constitution.” 164

Although Chase was a reluctant supporter 

of the country’s adoption of paper currency, he 

came to wholeheartedly and avidly support the 

measure. Viewing it as “ indispensably neces­

sary”  to the preservation of the Union, Chase 

ultimately sacrificed his own personal finan­

cial beliefs for what he thought was the greater 

good of the nation. Scholars can only specu­

late, however, as to whether Chase’s personal 

financial beliefs changed or were subjugated.

P art IX : D escendant, A ncestor, orZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

S im ply P art of the Fam ily? H ow  S alm on  

P . C hase Fits in to  the H istory of 

C abinet M em bers Turned S uprem e  

C ourt Justices

In terms of judicial ethics, Chase could be 

castigated by historians and legal scholars for 

not recusing himself from the TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAL eg a l T en d er 

C a ses. The fact that Chase had earlier spear­

headed, drafted, and rallied the country around 

these acts could be viewed as the quintessential 

conflict of interest, because the L eg a l T en d er 

C a ses effectively called on Chase to evalu­

ate the constitutionality of his own actions.

Rule 2.4(B) of the American Bar Associa­

tion’s (ABA)  Model Code of Judicial Conduct 

states that “ [a] judge shall not permit fam­

ily, social, political, financial, or other inter­

ests ... to influence the judge’s judicial con­

duct or judgment.” 165 Additionally, under sec­

tion 455, “Disqualification of Justice, Judge 

or Magistrate,” of the portion of the United 

States Code that deals with the judiciary and 

judicial procedure, “any justice, judge, or mag­

istrate judge of the United States shall disqual­

ify himself... where he has served in gov­

ernmental employment and in such capac­

ity... concerning the proceeding.” 166 It is fair 

to say that Chase’s position as the lead sup­

porter of the Legal Tender Acts was a signifi­

cant political interest that could influence his 

judicial judgment. Moreover, it was as a gov­

ernmental employee that he became involved 

with the issue. To safeguard his own judgment, 

or at least to maintain the dignity and propri­

ety of his office, why did Chase not recuse 

himself?

By looking to his predecessors’ actions, 

insight may be gained as to why Chase elected 

to rule on this case. The ABA  did not begin 

to create its Model Code of Judicial Conduct 

until 1908.167 Therefore, it  is more appropriate 

and fair to evaluate Chase’s actions against the 

standards of  judicial conduct at the time of his 

judgeship.

Prior to Chase, six other Justices served 

as Cabinet members before joining the Court. 

John Jay was President George Washington’s 

Secretary of State for two months before ac­

cepting an appointment to the Court.168 John 

Marshall was the Secretary of State before 

(and briefly during) his term as Chief Jus­

tice.169 Smith Thompson was Secretary of the 

Navy while it was still part of the Cabinet,170 

Roger B. Taney was Secretary of the Trea­

sury,171 Levi Woodbury was Secretary of both 

the Navy and the Treasury,172 and Nathan Clif ­

ford was the Attorney General.173 Given these 

precedents, it is safe to assume that it was 

not Chase’s prior service in the Cabinet that 

caused consternation in many of his fellow
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Am e ricans . Rathe r, it was his de cis io ns while 

actu ally o n the Co u rt.

In co m p aris o n to his s ix fo re be ars , Chas e 

was unique in finding himself in the situation 

of having to evaluate the constitutionality of 

his own measure. It could be argued that Jay’s 

writings in the Federalist Papers advocating 

for a stronger federal government were gen­

erally reviewed by the Supreme Court, with 

Jay acting as Chief Justice, in TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAC h ish o lm v . 

G eo rg ia .1 7 4 But none of Jay’s personal actions 

as Secretary of State were reviewed specifi­

cally in proceedings before his Court. Mar­

shall poses a more interesting comparison, for, 

as Secretary of State, his now-infamous fail­

ure to ensure delivery of the commission to 

William Marbury paved the way for the land­

mark M a rb u ry v. M a d iso n decision in which 

Marshall himself wrote the majority opinion 

establishing the principle and practice of  judi­

cial review.175 However, Marbury’s suit was 

not against Secretary of State Marshall for 

failing to deliver the commission, but against 

Marshall’s successor, James Madison. The sit­

uation is thus not analogous to Chase’s because 

it did not concern an action, or lack thereof, 

by Marshall. Thompson also provides an inad­

equate comparison, as he did not perform any 

functions as Secretary of the Navy for which 

he was made to answer as Justice.

Taney’s circumstances come closest to be­

ing an appropriate comparison to Chase’s. A  

strong and unapologetic Jacksonian, Taney 

was appointed Secretary of the Treasury by 

President Andrew Jackson in September 1833 

during a congressional recess, to enforce Jack­

son’s wishes concerning the National Bank.176 

As acting Treasury Secretary, Taney withdrew 

federal funds from the Second United States 

Bank and established a system of government 

depositories, actions that angered the Bank’s 

supporters, most of whom were also outspo­

ken detractors of Jackson. Upon the Senate’s 

refusal to confirm Taney in 1834, Jackson ap­

pointed him to the Supreme Court, and the 

Senate, despite having a large faction of dis­

approving Whigs, confirmed the appointment

in 1836.177 During Taney’s tenure, the Court 

heard many landmark cases, including S co tt 

v. S a n d fo rd , E x p a r te M errym a n , and S w ift v. 
T yso n ,m but Taney was not called upon to 

hear a case regarding the United States Bank, 

the entity that he himself had helped to weaken 

during his brief term as Secretary of the Trea­

sury. Taney thus provides no useful precedent 

for Chase.

Nor do the two remaining Justices with 

Cabinet experience offer Chase help. Wood­

bury served as both Secretary of the Navy 

and Secretary of the Treasury under President 

Jackson, and he also helped to end the Second 

Bank of the United States.179 Nathan Clifford 

served as President Polk’s Attorney General 

and was entrusted with a diplomatic mission 

to Mexico to get that country to ratify a peace 

treaty and end its war with the United States. 

Neither Justice’s actions in government were 

later reviewed by the Supreme Court.

In sum, looking to his predecessors would 

not have provided Chase with any guidance as 

to how he should conduct himself in the seem­

ingly unprecedented situation of being called 

on to evaluate the constitutionality of his own 

actions.

Lacking any precedential guidelines, did 

Chase get help from the press or the pub­

lic? Was there a public campaign to persuade 

Chase to recuse himself? The act of recusal has 

its roots centuries before the Supreme Court 

was ever conceived. Records dating back to 

530 A.D. indicate that judges were pressured to 

recuse themselves from any case in which they 

had any sort of interest to preclude any suspi­

cion regarding the fairness of the decision.180 

Although, in the Middle Ages, there remained 

a “strong abhorrence of adjudication by a par­

tial judge,” 181 and judges were pressured to 

recuse themselves, there was no strict law that 

absolutely prevented judges from hearing cer­
tain cases.182 The first federal recusal law was 

enacted in 1792, but it required recusal only 

in instances in which the sitting judge had an 

interest in the case or had been counsel to a 
party.183 A 1911 federal law required judges to
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re cu s e the m s e lve s fo r bias .184 Federal recusal 

law has since been codified in 28 U.S.C. § 455, 

and it continues to evolve and expand. Today, 

the American people are infinitely more vig­

ilant regarding their judges’ actions, potential 

biases, and motives for decision-making than 

they were in Chase’s day.

The number of sources contemporary to 

Chase that advocated recusal is so limited that 

it seems evident that Chase’s decision not to 

remove himself in the case did not trigger 

much public controversy. The TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAN ew Y o rk T im es 

did charge Chase with unconstitutionally in­

vading the realm of Congress.185 Specifically, 

the paper proclaimed, “A mind content with 

judicial honors would have avoided this ex­

traordinary contradiction, by leaving to others 

to overthrow [the] policy.” 186 The T im es may 

have been implicitly  castigating Chase for his 

failure to recuse himself in H ep b u rn .

It is much easier to find public discontent 

with Chase’s majority opinion in H ep b u rn than 

with his decision to hear the case itself. There 

were, of course, many contemporary newspa­

per articles and editorials that expressed anger, 

if  not outrage, at the Chief Justice’s decision. 

For example, one article vilified  Chase for be­

smirching the honor of the Supreme Court 

and accused him of making decisions based 

on party politics.187

C onclusion

Salmon P. Chase was an extraordinarily intelli­

gent and complicated man. He left his mark on 

the nation and played a significant role in some 

of the defining moments of the nineteenth cen­

tury. As Secretary of the Treasury, he enacted 

a measure then deemed to be indispensable to 

the survival of the Union. As Chief Justice of 

the Supreme Court, he ruled that same mea­

sure unconstitutional and inconsistent with 

the founding principles of the country. Al ­

though Chase’s mark is no longer found on 

our dollar bills, it is still felt in Supreme Court 

history.
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If  yo u want to rais e e ye bro ws at a gath­

ering of judges or legal scholars, try prais­

ing the Supreme Court’s 1905 decision in TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
L o ch n er v. N ew Y o rk .' L o ch n er invalidated a 

state maximum-hours law for bakery workers. 

The Court held that the law violated the right 

to “ liberty of contract,”  a right implicit in the 

Fourteenth Amendment’s ban on states depriv­

ing people of liberty without “due process of 

law.”

L o ch n er has since become shorthand for 

all manner of constitutional evils and has 

even had an entire discredited era of Supreme 

Court jurisprudence named after it. Over 100 

years after their predecessors issued the deci­

sion, Supreme Court Justices of all ideologi­

cal stripes use L o ch n er as an epithet to hurl at 

their colleagues when they disapprove of a de­

cision declaring a law unconstitutional. Even 

Barack Obama has found occasion to publicly 

denounce L o ch n er , pairing it with the D red 

S co tt case as examples of egregious Supreme 

Court error.2 And L o ch n er 's infamy has spread 

internationally, to the point where it plays an

important role in debate over the Canadian 

constitution.3

Legal scholars across the political spec­

trum have long agreed that L o ch n er and other 

cases applying the liberty-of-contract doctrine 

to invalidate legislation were serious mis­

takes. This is hardly unusual. Many consti­

tutional doctrines adopted by the Supreme 

Court have come and gone over the last 

200-plus years. But the ferocity and tenacity 

of the liberty-of-contract doctrine’s detrac­

tors is unique. For over 100 years, critics 

have argued that L o ch n er and its progeny did 

not involve ordinary constitutional errors but 

were egregious examples of willful  judicial 

malfeasance.

Concomitantly, jurists have long assumed 

that the battle between early twentieth-century 

proponents of liberty of contract and its Pro­

gressive detractors was decisively won by the 

Progressives. Both liberal and conservative 

constitutionalists tend to see themselves as part 

of a generally consistent tradition tracing back 

to Progressives and New Dealers.
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to  c a l l > o u r  a t te n t io n to  a n o v l l a t i l t  w o r se 
a n d ta r  r o o m  d a n g e r o u s to p u b l ic h to lth  
a n d m o r a l i ty , th o te r r ib ly  f l l th y  a n d u n ­

sa n ita r y c o n d it io n o f th o b a k e sh o p s o f  
N o w  T o th  a n d B r o o k ly n  a n d I la  e f le c t o n  
th o D a h lia a t la r g o a n d th o m e n e m p lo y e d 

In  1 8 9 5 , th e  N e w  Y o rk  le g is la tu re  u n a n im o u s ly  e n ­

a c te d  th e B a k e s h o p A c t, w h ic h  re g u la te d s a n ita ry  

c o n d it io n s  in  b a k e r ie s  a n d  a ls o  p ro h ib ite d  in d iv id u ­

a ls  f ro m  w o rk in g  in  b a k e r ie s  fo r m o re  th a n  te n  h o u rs  

p e r d a y  o r  s ix ty  h o u rs  p e r w e e k . A n  A u g u s t 1 8 9 4  a r ­

t ic le  in  th e  New York Press w a rn e d  o f th e  d a n g e ro u s

a n d  d ir ty  c o n d it io n s  in  N e w  Y o rk  b a k e r ie s .

The standard liberal version of constitu­

tional history has relied on broad caricatures of 

the relevant historical actors. The good guys, 

starting with early twentieth-century Progres­

sive jurists, are said to have been champions of 

the little guy against the powerful, whether in 

the form of protecting civil liberties or that of 

protecting the economically powerless against 

rapacious corporations. The liberals’ historical 

bad guys are the “ reactionary”  Justices of the 

Gilded Age and their successors into the early 

New Deal era, who are said to have substituted 

crass class interest or dogmatic laissez-faire 

ideology for constitutional principle.4

Modern conservative constitutionalists, 

meanwhile, though dissenters in some ways 

from the orthodox interpretation of Ameri­

can constitutional history, also want to see 

themselves as part of a seamless jurispruden­

tial tradition, and they venerate some of the 

same Progressive heroes as their liberal adver­

saries do. The conservatives’ preferred nar­

rative revolves around a tradition of judicial 

restraint based on textualism, originalism, and 

respect for longstanding constitutional princi­

ple. In this tale, the good guys are Oliver Wen­

dell Holmes, Jr., Felix Frankfurter, and other 

Justices with Progressive constitutional views 

who are said to have properly put their political 

views to one side to enforce the Constitution as 

written. The bad guys are the Supreme Court’s 

“ judicial activists,”  who purportedly made up 

the nonsensical doctrine of “substantive due 

process”  to foist their ideology on the Amer­

ican public. The original sin was that of the 

Supreme Court in the liberty-of-contract era, 

but the modern Supreme Court has failed to re­

pent. Indeed, it has aggravated matters through 

additional judicial activism, substituting mod­

ern liberal-left social-policy preferences for 

the laissez-faire prejudices of the earlier 

period.

For various reasons, including mere hap­

penstance, TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAL o ch n er became the key emblem­

atic illustration of both of these stories, the one 

case that encapsulates everything about the 

bad guys’ approach. These stories, however—
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in terms both of overall narrative and of their 

specific depiction of the TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAL o ch n er case—are 

demonstrably false. An accurate and nuanced 

view of the Supreme Court’s pre-World War 

II due-process jurisprudence does not allow 

for blithe categorization of Justices who lived 

in a very different era, replete with ideologi­

cal and political disputes and assumptions that 

are foreign and often barely comprehensible 

to modern scholars, into prescient heroes and 
narrow-minded villains.

Indeed, the most significant—and per­

haps most surprising—aspect of the history 

of the liberty-of-contract doctrine is that mod­

ern Fourteenth Amendment jurisprudence is at 

least as much a product of the L o ch n er line of 

cases as of the views of their Progressive oppo­

nents. Progressive critics of L o ch n er certainly 

emerged victorious on one very important 

issue—the Supreme Court no longer engages 

in serious review of economic regulations un­

der the Due Process Clause. But despite the 

calumny heaped on the due-process liberty- 

of-contract decisions and the Supreme Court 

Justices who wrote them, modern constitu­

tional jurisprudence implicitly  (and sometimes 

explicitly) draws a great deal from pre-New 

Deal due-process decisions rejecting novel as­

sertions of government power.

To assess the outcome of the conflict in 

the early twentieth century between propo­

nents and opponents of the liberty-of-contract 

doctrine, it is necessary to avoid the ten­

dency to superimpose modern ideological di­

visions onto the debates of past generations. 

Early twentieth-century Progressives were not 

ideological twins of modern “ liberals,” and 

liberty-of-contract proponents did not share 

a common constitutional vision with modern 

“conservatives.”

In sharp contrast to modern constitu­

tional jurisprudence, neither Progressives nor 

their conservative opponents typically recog­

nized a fundamental distinction between ju­

dicial protection for civil rights and civil  

liberties and judicial protection of economic 

liberties. Rather, both sides thought that Four­

teenth Amendment due-process cases raised 

three primary issues: whether the party chal­

lenging government regulatory authority had 

identified a legitimate right deserving of judi­

cial protection; the extent to which the courts 

should or should not presume that the gov­

ernment was acting within its inherent “po­

lice power” ; and, finally, taking the decided- 

upon presumption into account, whether any 

infringement on a recognized right protected 

by the Due Process Clause was within the 

scope of the states’ police power or whether 

it was instead an arbitrary, and therefore 

unconstitutional, infringement on individual 

rights.



LOCHNERCBA A N D  C O N S TITU TIO N A L  C O N TIN U ITYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA1 1 9xwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Leading Progressive constitutional schol­

ars believed in strong interventionist gov­

ernment run by experts and responsive to 

developing social trends, and they were hostile 

to countervailing claims of rights-based lim­

its on government power. Princeton University 

president (and later U.S. President) Woodrow 

Wilson, for example, dismissed talk of “ the 

inalienable rights of the individual”  as “non­

sense.”  “The object of constitutional govern­

ment,”  according to Wilson, was not to protect 

liberty but “ to bring the active, planning will  of 

each part of the government into accord with 

the prevailing popular thought and need.” 5

Progressives blamed the “ individualist”  

philosophy of the Constitution, as mani­

fested in its protections for individual rights, 

for blocking needed Progressive reforms. In 

his extremely influential book Progressive 

D e m o c r a c y , Herbert Croly, whose admirers 

and friends included Frankfurter and Learned 

Hand, criticized the Bill  of Rights for turning 

the Constitution “ into a monarchy of Law su­

perior in right to the monarchy of the people.” 6 

Morris Cohen, writing in Croly’s TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAN ew R ep u b­

l ic , questioned the legitimacy of judicial power 

to invalidate legislation that infringed on indi­

vidual liberty.7

Progressive lawyers’ contempt for the 

United States’ individualist natural-rights tra­

dition naturally led to hostility to the Four­

teenth Amendment. Frankfurter, writing in the 

N ew R ep u b lic , called for the repeal of the Four­

teenth Amendment’s Due Process Clause,8 and 

Louis D. Brandeis privately urged repeal of 

the entire Fourteenth Amendment,9 a position 

adopted publicly by less prominent Progres­

sives.10 Brandeis later warned Frankfurter that 

equal protection “ looms up even more menac­

ingly than due process.” 11

Not surprisingly, then, Progressive legal 

commentators urged the courts to interpret the 

police power as sufficiently flexible to permit 

state-imposed racial segregation, sex-specific 

labor laws, restrictions on private schooling, 

and coercive eugenics. Progressive jurists, for 

example, were almost universally hostile to the

Supreme Court’s 1917 opinion in B u ch a n a n 

v. W a rley that invalidated residential segrega­

tion laws.12 A student comment in the Y a le 

L a w  Jo u rn a l, reflecting broad Progressive sen­

timent, attacked the Court for concluding that 

property rights were more important than the 

public’s interest in segregation.13 Columbia 

Professor Howard Lee McBain, a prominent 

Progressive scholar and author of T h e L iv in g  

C o n s t i tu t io n , criticized the Court for destroy­

ing whites’ right to live in a segregated neigh­

borhood.14

Similarly, Progressives excoriated Justice 

George Sutherland’s 1923 opinion in A d k in s 

v. C h ild ren’s H o sp ita l, which invalidated a 

women-only minimum-wage law, as a vio­

lation of liberty of contract.15 Sutherland, a 

longtime supporter of women’s rights, empha­

sized that given the recognition of women’s 

civic equality in the Nineteenth Amendment, 

women were entitled to the same legal rights 

as men. Justice Holmes replied, “ It will  need 

more than the Nineteenth Amendment to con­

vince me that there are no differences between 

men and women, or that legislation cannot 

take those differences into account.” Promi­

nent Progressive activist Florence Kelley, re­

flecting the visceral hostility to A d k in s felt by 

many of her compatriots, accused the Court of 
issuing a “new D red S co tt decision.” 16

Progressives also opposed the Supreme 

Court’s 1923 ruling in M eyer v. N eb ra ska , 

holding that private schools had the right to 

teach their students foreign languages. Justice 

James C. McReynolds wrote an opinion for 

the Court, citing and expanding on L o ch n er , 

that stated that the Due Process Clause pro­

tects not just liberty of contract, but also the 

right “ to acquire useful knowledge, to marry, 

establish a home and bring up children, [and] 

to worship God according to the dictates of 

his own conscience,”  along with “other priv­

ileges long recognized at common law as es­

sential to the orderly pursuit of happiness by 

free men.” 17 Frankfurter wrote to Hand that, 

while he regarded “such know-nothing legisla­

tion as uncivilized,”  he would still have voted
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with Holmes in dissent rather than “ lodging 

power in those nine gents in Washington.”  

Hand agreed, adding that “ I can see no rea­

son why, if  a state legislature wishes to make 

a jackass of itself by that form of Ameri­

canization, it should not have the responsi­

bility for doing so rather than the Supreme 

Court.” 18

Frankfurter also strongly opposed the out­

come in TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP ie rce v . S o c ie ty o f S iste rs , a 1925 

case holding that states could not ban private 

schools.19 He argued that Americans were in 

danger of confusing unwise or unjust legisla­

tion with unconstitutional legislation. Frank­

furter warned his fellow Progressives that a 

great deal of “highly illiberal” legislation in­

fringing on freedom of thought and freedom of 

speech was “clearly constitutional.” 20 Justice 

McReynolds added fuel to Progressive ire in 

P ie rce by explicitly rebuking statist Progres­

sive notions of educational reform. The child, 

McReynolds proclaimed, “ is not the mere crea­

ture of the state.” 21

Another civil-liberties issue involving 

government regulation of education arose 

when Tennessee passed a law banning the 

teaching of evolution in public schools, lead­

ing to the famous Scopes Monkey Trial.22 

Influential journalist Walter Lippmann pro­

posed that liberal attorneys organize a chal­

lenge to the law under the Due Process Clause. 

Thomas Reed Powell, Cohen, Hand, and other 

leading Progressive jurists responded that the 

courts should not interfere with the legisla­

tures’ prerogative to determine educational 

policy.23

Even coerced sterilization of alleged de­

fectives was more than acceptable to Pro­

gressive jurists. Justice Brandeis, who joined 

Justice Holmes’ infamous “ three generation 

of imbeciles” opinion in B u ck v. B e ll? * later 

cited B e ll as an example of properly al­

lowing the states “ to meet modern condi­

tions by regulations which a century ago, or 

even half a century ago, probably would have 

been rejected as arbitrary and oppressive.” 25ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

J u s t ic e  J a m e s  C . M c R e y n o ld s ’ o p in io n  in  Meyer v. Nebraska h e ld  th a t th e  D u e  P ro c e s s  C la u s e  p ro te c ts  n o t  

ju s t l ib e r ty  o f c o n tra c t , b u t a ls o  th e  r ig h t “ to  a c q u ire  u s e fu l k n o w le d g e , to  m a rry , e s ta b lis h  a h o m e  a n d  

b r in g  u p  c h ild re n , [a n d ] to  w o rs h ip  G o d  a c c o rd in g  to  th e  d ic ta te s  o f h is  o w n  c o n s c ie n c e ”  a lo n g  w ith  “o th e r  

p r iv i le g e s  lo n g  re c o g n iz e d  a t c o m m o n  la w  a s  e s s e n t ia l to  th e  o rd e r ly  p u rs u it o f h a p p in e s s  b y  f re e  m e n .”  A t 

is s u e  in  th e  c a s e  w a s  w h e th e r p r iv a te  s c h o o ls  c o u ld  te a c h  c h ild re n  fo re ig n  la n g u a g e s .
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T h e  is s u e  o f g o v e rn m e n t re g u la t io n  o f e d u c a t io n  a ro s e  w h e n  T e n n e s s e e  p a s s e d  a  la w  b a n n in g  th e  te a c h in g  o f  

e v o lu t io n  in  p u b lic  s c h o o ls , le a d in g  to  th e  fa m o u s  S c o p e s  M o n k e y  T r ia l in  1 9 2 5 . P ic tu re d , C la re n c e  D a r ro w  

d e fe n d s  th e  te a c h in g  o f e v o lu t io n  in  a  T e n n e s s e e  c o u r tro o m .xwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Professor Robert Cushman praised Holmes’ 

opinion as a “ trenchant” explanation of why 

the “substance of the law”  was “a reasonable 

social protection, entirely compatible with due 

process of law.” 26 Professor Fowler Harper 

listed TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB e ll as an example of welcome “pro­

gressive trends”  in law.27

In short, many Progressives, products of 

their prejudiced times, actively sympathized 

with the racism, the paternalistic and often 

dismissive or condescending attitudes toward 

women, and the hostility to immigrants and 

Catholics that motivated the laws mentioned 

above. But even unusually liberal Progres­

sive jurists—and elite attorneys such as Frank­

furter tended to be more liberal-minded than 

other Progressive intellectuals—generally op­

posed judicial intervention to support any 

given rights claim brought under the Due Pro­

cess Clause. Progressive lawyers argued that 

the benefits of such intervention would likely 

be substantially outweighed by the damage ad­

ditional constitutional limits on the govern­

ment’s police power might ultimately cause to

their core agenda of supporting economic— 

especially labor—regulation.

The most significant exception to the pat­

tern of Progressive hostility to constitutional 

protection for individual rights was that, dur­

ing and after World War I, some Progressives 

vigorously supported greater constitutional 

protection of freedom of expression.28 At least 

among Progressives allied with the political 

left, wariness of individualistic speech rights 

was tempered by the trauma of wartime repres­

sion of pacifists and other dissenters and the 

post-war “Red Scare.”  29 Brandeis and Holmes 

eventually took up their cause, though each had 

significant reservations about using the Four­

teenth Amendment to limit states’ infringe­

ment on freedom of speech. The Court’s con­

servative majority, meanwhile, acknowledged 

that the Fourteenth Amendment placed signif­

icant restrictions on state regulation of speech.

More generally, advocates of liberty of 

contract believed that the Fourteenth Amend­

ment set inherent limits on the govern­

ment’s authority to regulate the lives of its
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constituents. While this belief initially was 

enunciated by the courts in the context of eco­

nomic regulation, as early as 1897, in TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAA llg eyer 

v. L o u is ia n a , the Supreme Court announced 

that the Fourteenth Amendment’s Due Process 

Clause protected an individuals’ right to be 

“ free in the enjoyment of all his faculties [and] 

to be free to use them in all lawful ways.” 30 

Through the early 1920s, however, with the 

exception of a few outlier decisions such as 

L o ch n er , the Supreme Court’s majority was 

generally cautious about limiting the scope of 

the states’ police power via the Due Process 

Clause.

But, as with their Progressive critics, 

“conservative”  Supreme Court Justices’ views 

on the scope of the government’s power to in­

fringe on constitutional protections for civil  

rights and civil liberties were generally con­

sistent with their views on the government’s 

power to interfere with liberty of contract.31 

Once the Court became more aggressive about 

reviewing government regulations in the eco­

nomic sphere in the 1920s, the Justices natu­

rally began to acknowledge the broader lib­

ertarian implications of L o ch n er and other 

liberty-of-contract cases and to enforce limits 

on government authority more generally. The 

Court relied on these cases in pioneering the 

protection of the right of women to compete 

with men for employment free from sex-based 

regulations, the right of African Americans to 

exercise liberty and property rights free from 

Jim Crow legislation, and civil  liberties against 

the states ranging from freedom of expression 

to the right to choose a private-school educa­

tion for one’s children.

Consider, for example, the Court’s de­

cision in B u ch a n a n v . W a rley .3 1 Generations 

of legal scholars and historians have treated 

B u ch a n a n as a property-rights case that rested 

on laissez-faire ideology, of little if  any rel­

evance to the later civil-rights revolution.33 

Undoubtedly, the fact that B u ch a n a n involved 

property rights and liberty of contract played 

an important role in the decision: it allowed the 

Court to distinguish B u ch a n a n from P lessy v .

F erg u so n ,3 4 which involved what the Court de­

clared were mere social rights.35 But focusing 

myopically on the economic-rights element of 

B u ch a n a n misses the fact that even property 

rights and liberty of contract were subject to 

the police power. The Court’s invocation of 

property rights did not resolve the issue of 

whether residential segregation laws were a 

constitutionally proper exercise of the govern­

ment’s regulatory authority.

P lessy had suggested that any “ reason­

able” segregation law would come within the 

police power, and the P lessy Court applied a 

lax—and racism-infused—standard of  reason­

ableness. In contrast, after noting that property 

rights were subordinate to the police power, 

the B u ch a n a n opinion favorably cited a se­

ries of antidiscrimination precedents that no 

Supreme Court majority had relied upon in al­

most four decades.36 The Court specifically in­

voked the 1866 Civil  Rights Act, which stated 

that African Americans had the same right to 

make and enforce contracts and own and alien­
ate property as did white persons.37

Most significant, for the first time since 

Y ick W o v . H o p k in s3* in 1886, the Court held 

that discriminatory animus was not a proper 

police-power justification for laws violat­

ing recognized individual rights.39 The Court 

reached this conclusion in B u ch a n a n even 

though popular and expert opinion, backed 

by contemporary social-science evidence, sup­

ported the underlying prejudiced rationale 

for the residential segregation law, and even 

though the state justified the law as a response 

to the risk that integrated housing would lead 

to miscegenation, racial violence, and other 

real or perceived social ills. And, as noted pre­

viously, the Court’s opinion flew in the face of 

dominant “Progressive”  opinion.

Even Justices who lacked sympathy for 

the individuals and groups that were challeng­

ing government actions often voted in their 

favor out of libertarian commitment to a lim­

ited police power. Unabashed racist Justice 

McReynolds, for example, not only voted with 

the majority in B u ch a n a n , he also wrote an
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opinion protecting the right of Japanese par­

ents in Hawaii to send their children to pri­

vate Japanese-language schools.40 Some of 

the other Justices had egalitarian reasons for 

their votes, as with Justice Sutherland’s opin­

ion in TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAA d k in s. And, sometimes, a commit­

ment to limited government seems to have led 

some jurists to a newfound empathy for groups 

suffering from what they saw as government 

overreaching.

When Roosevelt appointees created a 

growing Progressive/liberal majority on the 

Court in the late 1930s, the New Dealers 

had the opportunity to fulfill  the old Progres­

sive dream of emasculating the Due Process 

Clause and limiting its scope to purely pro­

cedural rights. But the Court did not abandon 

what soon came to be known as “substantive 

due process.”  Instead, the Court continued to 

protect freedom-of-expression rights against 

the states via the Due Process Clause, and it 

soon incorporated other rights from the Bill  of 

Rights into the Due Process Clause. The Court 

also continued to review state and local legisla­

tion under the Equal Protection Clause, and it 

eventually used the Clause aggressively to pro­

tect African Americans from state-sponsored 

segregation.
The post-iocAner reincarnation of the 

Supreme Court’s fundamental-rights jurispru­

dence began in 1937 in P a lko v . C o n n ec ti­

cu t. All  of the Progressive and liberal Justices 

joined a Justice Benjamin Cardozo opinion 

stating that the Fourteenth Amendment pro­

tects rights mentioned in the Bill  of Rights 

that are “ implicit in the concept of ordered 

liberty.” 41

The famous Footnote Four of the 1938 

C a ro len e P ro d u c ts case also reflected the 

new liberal majority’s reluctance to entirely 

abandon judicial review of purported police- 

power regulations.42 Writing for the Court, 

Justice Harlan Fiske Stone stated that eco­

nomic regulations would have a very strong 

presumption of constitutionality, but that a 

weaker presumption applied when plaintiffs 

asserted rights that were enumerated in the

Bill  of Rights. Stone also asserted that laws 

directed at particular religious, national, or 

racial minorities “may call for a correspond­

ingly more searching judicial inquiry.” 43 The 

Court creatively reinterpreted—that is, inten­

tionally misinterpreted—M eyer and P ie rce as 

decisions invalidating laws because the laws 

discriminated against religious and ethnic mi­

norities. This was the Court’s first of several 

attempts to preserve these precedents by dis­

entangling them from their roots in the now- 

obsolete liberty-of-contract line of cases. The 

result was that the Court, following Brandeis’ 

lead, created a formal distinction in American 

constitutional law between economic rights on 

the one hand and civil rights and liberties on 

the other. This distinction allowed liberals to 

preserve the Court’s role in protecting individ­

ual rights from overreaching by the govern­

ment while distinguishing their jurisprudence 

from that of the dreaded liberty-of-contract 

era.

The Court refused to completely refrain 

from using the Due Process Clause to protect 

individual liberties for several reasons. First, 

judicial regard for civil  liberties allowed New 

Dealers, within and outside the Court, to plau­

sibly claim they were committed to preserving 

individual rights even while vastly expanding 

the size and scope of the federal government. 

And while by the 1930s the Court’s liberty- 

of-contract decisions were very unpopular, the 

Court’s tentative forays into civil libertarian­

ism, ranging from P ie rce and M eyer to its 

free-speech cases to protecting the “Scotts­

boro Boys” from grossly unfair criminal 

prosecutions, had received general public ap­

probation.44 These decisions were especially 

popular among the ethnic groups that formed 

the core of the New Deal coalition.45

Second, judicial restraint always looks 

better when your side does not control the 

courts. Once the “ left”  took over the Supreme 

Court, the idea that the Justices should al­

ways defer to state legislatures became far 

less attractive to New Dealers. This was es­

pecially true because state legislatures were
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often dominated by rural, conservative inter­

ests with agendas that broadly conflicted with 

ascendant urban liberalism.

Third, the New Deal coalition included 

many individuals with a decidedly modern 

liberal, as opposed to old-fashioned Progres­

sive, ideological bent. While these individu­

als supported increased government activism 

in the economic sphere, they were also con­

cerned with civil rights and civil liberties. 

Some of these New Deal liberals were apos­

tate classical liberals, such as Oswald Garrison 

Villard, whose TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAN a tio n magazine had praised 

the L o ch n er decision. Others were Catholics, 

Jews of  Eastern European descent, and African 

Americans, who had previously been relatively 

marginal players in Progressive intellectual 

and political circles and who tended to be much 

more sensitive than were most Progressives to 

minority rights and freedom of expression.

Fourth, the enthusiasm for government ac­

tivism the New Dealers inherited from the Pro­

gressives was tempered by the rise of fascism 

in Europe. Given the fall of liberal democracy 

in Germany and elsewhere to popular acclaim, 

or at least acquiescence, the confidence that 

Progressives such as Croly had expressed in 

majoritarianism seemed grossly misplaced.46 

German legal positivism, which had strongly 

influenced Progressives, also lost its attraction 

under the weight of Nazism.

Fifth, the elite bar received part of its 

prestige from the prominent role the Supreme 

Court played in American life. Once it became 

clear that the old constitutional order based on 

property rights and limited government was 

dead, elite attorneys quickly became advocates 

of an expanded role for the Supreme Court in 

protecting freedom of expression and minor­

ity rights. The Justices’ self-interest, mean­

while, required maintaining the Court’s signif­

icance.47

Finally, and for many of the reasons noted 

above, President Franklin D. Roosevelt’s ad­

ministration encouraged the Supreme Court’s 

emerging civil-liberties jurisprudence. After 
losing a Court-packing fight in 1937, the ad­

ministration focused on changing the public’s 

understanding of the Constitution’s essence. 

The Constitution, the New Dealers argued, was 

not about protecting property and establishing 

limited government, but about guaranteeing 

individual civil  liberties. Not only was a large 

and active federal government not a consti­

tutional problem, but Americans needed such 

a government to protect them from abuses of 

state and corporate power. FDR ordered fed­

eral employees working on ceremonies related 

to the Constitution’s 150th anniversary in 1937 

to emphasize the Bill  of Rights instead of the 

original Constitution. By the time the govern­

ment celebrated the Bill  of Rights’ 150th an­

niversary in 1941, the Bill  of Rights, consistent 

with the Court’s emerging jurisprudence, had 

become virtually synonymous with the First 

Amendment.48

While the Supreme Court beat the dead 

horse of liberty of contract for decades after the 

New Deal, civil liberties fared far better. The 

Court not only continued to protect freedom 

of expression against the states, but eventu­

ally also expanded the protections of the Four­

teenth Amendment’s Due Process Clause to in­

clude most of the other rights found in the Bill  

of Rights. In contrast to the liberty-of-contract 

era, when Progressive luminaries sought to re­

strict the Due Process Clause to issues of judi­

cial procedure, the liberal New Dealers on the 

Supreme Court unanimously agreed that the 

Court had some obligation to use the Clause 

to protect individual rights against state legis­
lation.

In the 1940s, Justice Hugo L. Black devel­

oped his theory of “ total incorporation.”  Black 

believed that the Supreme Court should protect 

individual liberty against the states, but that 

the liberty-of-contract era showed that courts 

must be restrained from reading their own pol­

icy preferences into the Constitution. To ac­

complish these twin goals, he argued that the 

Supreme Court should hold that the first eight 

amendments of the Bill  of Rights were appli­

cable to the states via “ incorporation”  into the 

Fourteenth Amendment’s Due Process Clause,
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but that the Clause did not protect any unenu­

merated rights.

Justice Frankfurter, meanwhile, thought 

that Black’s incorporation doctrine would “ im­

pose an eighteenth-century straightjacket”  on 

the states.49 Frankfurter, no longer, committed 

to limiting the Due Process Clause to proce­

dural matters, argued that the Court should 

continue to look to natural law and the her­

itage of the past to determine the scope of the 

rights protected by the Clause. He wanted to 

retain the pre-New Deal Court’s protection of 

rights foundational to Anglo-American liberty, 

but he thought the Court should exhibit great 
restraint in identifying those rights.50

The Supreme Court ultimately adopted 

neither Justice’s position. The Court gradu­

ally applied most, but not all, of the Bill  of 
Rights to the states on a case-by-case basis.51 

To blunt criticism that they were emulating 

their discredited pre-New Deal predecessors, 

the Justices and their defenders asserted that 

the liberty-of-contract cases involved illegit­

imate “substantive due process,” while cases 

“ incorporating”  the Bill  of Rights against the 

states did not.

Applying the concept of substantive due 

process to the liberty-of-contract cases was 

anachronistic, because no Justice on the pre- 

New Deal Court adopted the view that sub­

stance and procedure were distinct categories 

under the Clause.52 But even if  the liberty-of- 

contract cases could accurately be described as 

examples of substantive due process, exempt­

ing the incorporation cases from that moniker 

was more a matter of  rhetoric than one of logic. 

For example, enforcing the First Amendment 

right of freedom of speech against the states 

via the Due Process Clause is literally an exer­

cise in protecting a substantive right through 

that clause, and therefore is “substantive due 

process.”

The post-New Deal Justices did try 

mightily to differentiate their due-process ju­

risprudence from that of their predecessors. 

For example, Black insisted that incorporation 

of the Bill  of Rights, unlike liberty of con­

tract, was dictated by the original intent of the 

Fourteenth Amendment. And the Justices gen­

erally differentiated between economic TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAin te r­

ests , which they thought could be adequately 

protected by the political process, and indi­

vidual and civil  r ig h ts , which were subject to 

majoritarian suppression. In the end, though, 

it is hard to escape the conclusion that, in the 

most fundamental sense, the liberal Justices 

of the post-New Deal period were emulat­

ing their pre-New Deal predecessors: identify­

ing rights they deemed foundational to Amer­
ican liberty and decreeing that the Fourteenth 

Amendment’s Due Process Clause protected 

those rights against the states.

The Supreme Court also began to ag­

gressively deploy the Equal Protection Clause 

to protect African Americans from state- 

sponsored discrimination, most famously in 

B ro w n v. B o a rd o f E d u ca tio n5" B ro w n and 

like-minded cases were a modern version 

of the Court’s old class-legislation jurispru­

dence.54 The old Court had interpreted the ban 

on class legislation narrowly, because it  had no 

reliable or consistent way to differentiate be­

tween legitimate classifications with a proper 

legislative purpose and illegitimate classifica­

tions intended to annoy or oppress legislative 

losers. The Warren Court’s answer was to de­

fer to almost all legislative classifications and 

not meaningfully police economic regulations 

through the Equal Protection Clause. Classi­

fications based on race and other immutable 

characteristics, however, would be treated as 

inherently suspect, and therefore would be 

subject to strict scrutiny. The Court would 

only uphold such classifications if  they were 

“narrowly tailored”  and served a “compelling 

government interest.” And, in contrast to the 

pre-New Deal Court, the Warren and Burger 

Courts took legislative motivation into account 

when considering whether a law violated the 

Equal Protection Clause.

Meanwhile, the longstanding controversy 

over judicial protection of  unenumerated rights 

through the Due Process Clause seemed to be 

over. The Supreme Court had not invalidated
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a law based on an unenumerated right since 

1936. Putting what seemed to be a final nail 

in the coffin of “ substantive due process” in 

1963, the Court, overruling a 1917 precedent, 

unanimously upheld a state law banning the 

profession of debt-adjustment.55 Justice Black 

wrote for the Court that ‘“ a state legislature 

can do whatever it sees fit to do unless it is 

restrained by some express prohibition in the 

Constitution.’” 56

In a dramatic reversal, however, judicial 

enforcement of unenumerated rights via the 

Due Process Clause returned just two years 

later in TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAG risw o ld v . C o n n ec ticu t.5 1 Justice 

Douglas’s plurality opinion for the Court re­

lied in part on M eyer and P ie rce for the propo­

sition that the Due Process Clause protects a 

right to privacy sufficiently broad to encom­

pass the decision of a married couple to use 

contraceptives. Douglas denied, however, that 

he was relying on a L o ch n er-W Y s understand­

ing of the Due Process Clause. He wrote: 

“Overtones of some arguments suggest that 

L o ch n er v. S ta te o f N ew Y o rk should be our 

guide. But we decline that invitation. . . . We 

do not sit as a super-legislature to determine 

the wisdom, need, and propriety of laws that 

touch economic problems, business affairs, or

social conditions.” 58 He argued, in language 

that has been widely mocked ever since, that 

the right to privacy was found in “penumbras, 

formed by emanations” of the First, Third, 

Fourth, Fifth and Ninth amendments that cre­

ated a right to privacy.59 Douglas justified re­

lying on M eyer and P ie rce by treating them as 

First Amendment cases, even though neither 

case mentioned the First Amendment specifi­

cally or freedom of expression more generally.

M eyer and P ie rce , and therefore to some 

extent L o ch n er and other liberty-of-contract 

cases, are the progenitors of G risw o ld and the 

Court’s subsequent rulings protecting the right 

to terminate pregnancy and to engage in pri­

vate consensual sex.

More recently, Justice David Souter, con­

curring in W a sh in g to n v. G liicksh erg f' ac­

knowledged modern substantive due process’s 
debt to L o ch n er . He argued that L o ch n er was 

correct to apply the Due Process Clause to pro­

hibit arbitrary legislation, but was unduly “ab­

solutist”  in its implementation of the relevant 

standard in the context of economic regula­

tions.61 By contrast, M eyer and P ie rce prop­

erly applied heightened scrutiny to truly im­

portant interests.62 Most recently, Justice An­

thony Kennedy’s opinion in L a w ren ce v . T exa s,ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
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joined by his four more liberal colleagues, 

enthusiastically and unabashedly cited TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM eyer 

and P ie rce as “broad statements of the sub­

stantive reach of liberty under the Due Process 
Clause.” 63

Conservative judges and scholars, for 

their part, continue to channel Progressive cri­

tiques of liberty of contract and to condemn 
L o ch n er for improper “ judicial activism.” 64 

But even Justice Antonin Scalia, long the 

bellwether of elite conservative constitutional 

thought, has not challenged the incorporation 

doctrine, even though, like L o ch n er , it  involves 

protecting substantive rights via the Fourteenth 

Amendment’s Due Process Clause. Nor, unlike 

Justice Black, has Scalia argued that the Due 

Process Clause only protects rights enumer­

ated in the Bill  of Rights’ text. Rather, Scalia 

argues that only rights that are “so rooted in 

the traditions and conscience of our people as 

to be ranked as fundamental”  are eligible for 
the Due Process Clause’s protection.65

L o ch n er’s legacy, then, lives on in Amer­

ican constitutional law in the application of 

various rights, enumerated and unenumerated, 
against the states via the Due Process Clause. 

Justice Rufus Peckham’s enunciation of an 

expansive liberty-protective interpretation of 

the Clause in L o ch n er (and A llg eyer) be­

got Justice McReynolds’ even more expan­

sive opinion in M eyer , which in turn contin­

ues to serve as the constitutional foundation 

of various Fourteenth Amendment rights pro­

tected by the Supreme Court. Contemporary 

Fourteenth Amendment jurisprudence owes at 

least as much to such advocates of liberty 

of contract as Justices John Marshall Harlan, 

Peckham, Sutherland, and McReynolds as to 

Justices Holmes, Brandeis, and Frankfurter 

and their skepticism of constitutional protec­

tion for individual rights.
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As s o ciate Ju s tice To m C. Clark re tire d fro m the Su p re m e Co u rt at the co nclu s io n o f its 1966 

term to avoid even the appearance of impropriety when his son, Ramsey, became the U.S. 

Attorney General. “ I believe it would be best for me to retire,”  Clark wrote one well-wisher, 

“Litigants have enough problems without having a father-son psychology to face. And while 

there is no actual conflict the potential is there and the appearance of  justice is as important and 

effective as the real thing.” 1 Clark had served on the Court eighteen years, and he began his

retirement with a three-month, state-sponsored 

short when he contracted hepatitis in Thailand.

During Clark’s absence from the country, 

a then unknown political science instructor at 

Hofstra University, Howard Ball, who later be­

came a renowned constitutional scholar, sent 

a questionnaire to all of Clark’s former law 

clerks. Ball wanted the clerks to rank Clark’s 

attitude towards certain civil liberty claims, a 

prospect one clerk found “ really rather silly,”  

and another described as “ extremely result- 

oriented.” Not surprising, none of Clark’s 

clerks cooperated, and one, Charles Phillips,

goodwill trip around the world, which was cut

castigated Ball with a “personal observation 

concerning the nature of your approach.”  

“ I must tell you that I think your questionnaire 

is extremely shallow,”  Phillips wrote, “and, in 

the absence of anything to correct this impres­

sion, reflective of a premise which appears to 

be based upon a nearly total ignorance of the 

judicial process.” 2

Among themselves, Clark’s clerks were 

vociferous in their contempt for Ball’s efforts. 

Larry Temple wrote, “Frankly, I have serious
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do u bts abo u t the valu e o r validity o f what this 

m an is do ing,”  and Donald Turner, considered 

the “dean” of Clark’s former clerks, wrote, 

“ [He] is obviously embarked on a foolish 

enterprise, and deserves no help from us.... I 

doubt very much that there is any need for 

me or anyone else to endeavor to organize a 

boycott of Mr. Ball.” 3

Scholars like Ball are now familiar with 

the resistance of former clerks, who often 

maintain a commitment to secrecy that pre­

vents them from revealing any but the most 

innocuous descriptions of their service. Cer­

tainly, some clerks have been more forthcom­

ing than others, particularly when their con­

tributions remain anonymous.4 Most former 

clerks who speak for attribution, however, do 

so from the benefit of selective memories long 

after their service has ended. In her biogra­

phy of Justice Clark, his daughter, Mimi  Clark 

Gronlund, relied on questionnaires sent to his 

former clerks for descriptions of their rela­

tionships with him. This effort yielded an­

swers from at most eight of Clark’s forty- 

seven clerks, whose recollections ranged be­

tween eighteen and forty-two years after their 

clerkships ended.5

Similarly, political scientists Todd Pep­

pers and Artemus Ward, in their work on the 

role of clerks, received the cooperation of 

about half a dozen of Clark’s former clerks, 

but again this was close to forty years after the 

clerks’ own experiences.6 This relatively small 

sampling did furnish fairly  accurate depictions 

of the duties and responsibilities of Clark’s 

clerks when compared with two memos writ­

ten expressly for that purpose. One memo, 

written by Martin J. Flynn at the conclusion of 

his year of clerking, was titled “Background 

Information for Law Clerks.” In it Flynn 

described in particular detail a clerk’s two prin­

ciple duties: preparing Clark for weekly con­

ferences and assisting him in the preparation 

of written opinions. The other memo, “Notes 

to Law Clerks,”  set out to accomplish similar 

ends and included “miscellaneous hot poop 

for law clerks,” which emphasized the grav­

ity of checking every citation and quotation of 

Clark’s opinions to avoid error. According to 

these memos, Clark’s clerks were primarily re­

sponsible for writing cert memos (summaries 

of petitions for certiorari) and assembling 

materials for Clark’s review of argued cases 

(Clark’s clerks rarely wrote bench memos). 

Their role in drafting opinions varied depend­

ing on Clark’s interest in a case, but generally 

he composed first drafts, which they then re­

viewed for stylistic or substantive changes.7

Interest in the role of law clerks at 

the Supreme Court recently led Peppers and 

Ward to produce a new book on the subject, 

B e h in d  th e B e n c h , which examines the rela­

tionships between seventeen different justices 

and their clerks, including one essay by this 

author.8 Focusing on the duties of clerks on 

the job, though, may overlook how they were 

hired in the first place: what criteria did indi­

vidual justices use for selecting their clerks? 

Justice Clark reputedly had “ the most eclec­

tic selection record,”  but that fails to explain 

how it occurred. Even Peppers, who included 

comprehensive lists of all the justices’ clerks, 
admitted, “ I was not able to uncover much in­

formation regarding how Justice Clark hired 

his clerks.” 9

The procedures Clark followed and the 

criteria he employed selecting his clerks 

evolved and changed substantially throughout 

his eighteen years of active Court service and 

continued into his ten years in retired status. 

Clark’s law clerk application files shed consid­

erable light on his hiring practices, and his gen­

eral correspondence files provide documen­

tary evidence to support Peppers’ observation 

that “some court observers have concluded 

that the sons of Clark’s friends and political al­

lies filled  the ranks of his law clerks.” 10 These 

“ friends and allies,”  however, were not the ag­

gregate of Clark’s selections; he was willing  to 

give opportunities to literally anyone.

Relying on historical records in the Tom 

Clark Papers, this article presents the con­

tinually changing nature of Clark’s clerk se­

lections, highlighting his shifting criteria, his
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o bs e s s io n with finding cle rks fro m law s cho o ls 

ne ve r re p re s e nte d at the Co u rt, his de vo tio n 

to p e rs o nal fr ie nds who s o m e tim e s m ade 

fo r questionable choices, and what could ar­

guably be the most remarkable scheme for 

selection—his law fraternity contest. These 

features of Clark’s clerk selections are pre­

sented in four chronological, yet occasionally 

overlapping, time periods to demonstrate the 

continuity and change in his methods; since 

Clark’s retirement years compose the final pe­

riod, those eleven clerks are considered equally 

with the thirty-six he hired as an active Justice 

(see Table 1).

1949 to 1954  Term s

During Clark’s early Court service, his law 

clerk selections differed little from the ordi­

nary customs of other Justices. He typically

sought top students from the best law schools 

based on the recommendations of faculty, and 

he acknowledged his preference for Texans. 

These criteria, had he followed them consis­

tently throughout his Court service, were in­

distinguishable from his colleagues’ practices.
When Justice Frank Murphy died sud­

denly on July 19, 1949,11 one of his clerks, 

William Schrenk, had worked only one day 

before he lost the job. Murphy’s other clerk, 

Lawrence Tolan, had already served one term 

and was hired to serve a second.12 The 

same day President Harry Truman announced 

Clark’s nomination to replace Murphy, Friday, 

July 29, 1949,13 both Schrenk and Tolan wrote 

to Clark to request they keep their appoint­

ments. Tolan’s previous experience must have 

appealed more to Clark because he hired 

Tolan rather than Schrenk; however, when 

Justice Wiley Rutledge died unexpectedly on
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1949 T. Lawrence Tolan University of Michigan

1949 Percy Don Williams Harvard University

1950 Donald F. Turner Yale University

1950 Percy Don Williams Harvard 2nd year with Clark

1951 Stuart W. Thayer Yale (2nd)

1951 C. Richard Walker University of Chicago

1952 Vester T. Hughes, Jr. Harvard (2nd) [Only July 2 to 23]

1952 Bernard Weisberg University of Chicago (2nd)

1952 Frederick M. Rowe Yale (3rd)

1953 Ellis H. McKay University of Pennsylvania

1953 Ernest Rubenstein Yale (4th)

1954 William Kenneth Jones Columbia University

1954 John Kaplan Harvard (3rd)

1955 John E. Nolan, Jr. Georgetown University

1955 Robert W. Hamilton University of Chicago (3rd)

1956 Harry L. Hobson New York University First time school

1956 John J. Crown Northwestern University

1957 William D. Powell, Jr. Southern Methodist University First time school

1957 Robert P. Gorman Notre Dame University First time school

1958 Max O. Truitt, Jr. Yale (5th)

1958 Charles H. Phillips University Southern California First time school

1959 Thomas Cecil Wray, Jr. Yale (6th)

1959 Larry E. Temple University of Texas

1960 Malachy T. Mahon Fordham University First time school

1960 Carl L. Estes, II University of Texas (2nd)

1961 James E. Knox, Jr. Drake University First time school

1961 Burke W. Mathes, Jr. Harvard (4th)

1962 Raymond L. Brown University of Mississippi First time school

1962 Martin J. Flynn University of Indiana13

1963 James L. McHugh, Jr. Villanova University First time school

1963 James H. Pipkin, Jr. Harvard (5th)

1964 Michael W. Maupin University of Virginia
1964 Shannon H. Ratliff University of Texas (3rd)

1965 Charles D. Reed South Texas College (Houston) First time school

1965 Lee A. Freeman, Jr. Harvard (6th)

1966 Marshall Groce St. Mary’s University (San Antonio) First time school

1966 Stuart P. Ross George Washington (D.C.)
1967 J. Larry Nichols University of Michigan (2nd)
1969 Jerry W. Snider University of Houston First time school
1970 Theodore L. Garrett Columbia (2nd)TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

{co n tin u ed }
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1971 Taylor Ashworth University of Texas (4th)

1972 Thomas W. Reavley Harvard (7th)

1973 Stafford Hutchinson University of Texas (5th)

1974 William M. Hannay Georgetown (2nd)

1975 Thomas D. Corrigan Case Western Reserve

1975 Christy Carpenter0 American University

1976 Thomas D. Hughes, IV Loyola, New Orleans First time school

1976 John Thomas Marten Washburn University First time school

“These names, dates, and law schools were all confirmed using the law clerk applications of the Tom C. Clark Papers. 
bGronlund, 271, and Peppers, Courtiers, 29 (see endnotes 5 and 6), inadvertently duplicated an error in the Supreme 

Court’s own “Law Clerk Database”  (L.C.D.), which indicated that Martin Flynn attended Loyola law school in Los 

Angeles when, in fact, he went to Indiana University. Whereas Gronlund listed Flynn as attending Loyola, Peppers 
named Loyola as one of the schools Clark used.

The L.C.D., which the Court’s Public Information Office maintains should not be considered authoritative, named 

someone who did not clerk for Clark but failed to name Christy Carpenter, who served with Clark for six months. 
Carpenter confirmed her appointment as Clark’s clerk in a telephone interview with the author, September 22, 2009. 

Named the executive vice president and chief operating officer of the Paley Center for Media in 2006, Carpenter still 
notes her service with Clark on her online vitae at https://www.mtr.org/assets/about/presskit/pdf/Paley-BIO-Christy- 
Carpenter.pdf. Her name also fails to appear in Peppers, C o u r t ie r s , 223, Gronlund, 272, and on Ward’s &  Weiden’s 

table of female law clerks, 90, Table 2.11 (see endnotes 5 and 6).

September 10,1949, less than two months after 

Murphy’s death, Clark tried in vain to convince 

Rutledge’s successor, Judge Sherman Minton 

of the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals, to 

hire Schrenk.14

Clark’s second hire went to Percy 

Williams, a Harvard law graduate originally 

from Texas. After he left Harvard, Williams 

taught law at the University of Texas (UT) for 

two years, and he received recommendations 

to go to work for Clark from Leon Green, an­

other UT faculty member, and from Clark’s 

brother, Robert, a Dallas lawyer. Green, who 

previously taught law at Yale and served as 

dean at both North Carolina and Northwest­

ern, most likely had some pull with Clark, 

since Clark was one of his students at UT dur­

ing Green’s first teaching stint there. John C. 

Calhoun, the state chairman of the Democratic 

Executive Committee of Texas, solicited 

Clark’s brother on Williams’ behalf, and 

Williams himself made a point of visiting 

Robert Clark about the appointment.15

Initially, Clark expected his clerks to stay a 

second year, but this plan failed to last beyond 

his second term. Tolan brought one year’s ex­

perience with him, and Williams stayed a sec­

ond term, but Clark’s third hire, Don Turner, 

failed to follow suit. Still, Clark expected his 

1951 clerks to stay a second term, writing Uni­

versity of Pennsylvania law professor Louis 

Schwartz, “As you possibly know, both of my 

clerks are serving their first term and they un­

derstood when they came here that they would 

possibly stay two years.”  Clark demurred when 

the dean at the University of Virginia law 

school, F.D.G. Ribble, wrote to recommend 

candidates, stating that he hoped to keep both 
his clerks a second term.16 This was not an 

unreasonable expectation at the time, since 

several Justices hired clerks for consecutive 

terms. For examples, the year Clark arrived at 

the Court, two of Chief Justice Vinson’s three 

clerks were returning for their second term, 

and Vinson rehired one of his clerks in each of 

the next two terms; both Justices Burton and
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Jacks o n had e xp e r ie nce with two -te rm cle rks 

p rio r to Clark’s arr ival—Jackson had different 

clerks return every term from 1941 to 1948. 

Clark, however, soon abandoned his plan for 

two-term clerks, and instead of TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAl im itin g  the hir­

ing of clerks he began looking for new ways 

to exp a n d those opportunities.

During this early period, Clark fol­

lowed what might be considered the standard 

routine for the Court; his correspondence in­

dicates that generally he made clerk selections 

for the upcoming term sometime after the first 

of the year. This was preceded by interviews 

conducted in December or early January: in 

1950 he interviewed a Columbia law student; 

in 1951 he agreed to interview a Pennsylvania 

law student; and in 1953 he arranged to in­

terview another Columbia law student (who 

he hired). This practice continued a few more 

years—in 1955 he interviewed two female ap­

plicants, Barbara Lindeman of Yale and Nancy 

Goldring of Harvard17—but by 1956 Clark be­

gan to back away from this procedure, inform­

ing potential recommenders that he no longer 

considered personal interviews mandatory for 

consideration.18

Most of Clark’s colleagues favored certain 

regions or schools when choosing their clerks. 

For examples, Frankfurter chose Harvard 

graduates almost exclusively (as did Justice 

Brennan up until Clark’s retirement), and 

Douglas preferred clerks from the West Coast; 

Chief Justice Vinson favored Northwestern 

University (choosing at least one clerk from 

there every term he served); Justice Burton 

hired a University of Pennsylvania graduate 

every term he served with Clark; and Justice 

Minton favored University of Indiana students. 

Even Clark’s predecessor, Frank Murphy, 

chose his clerks almost exclusively from the 
University of Michigan.19

Therefore, it was entirely reasonable to 

expect Clark to favor graduates from his home 

state of Texas. The dean at Harvard law, Erwin 

Griswold, assumed as much, writing to Clark, 

“When Percy Williams wrote me last year, he 

said, as I recall it, that you preferred a law 

clerk from Texas, or a graduate of a Texas

university.” Clark insisted, though, that hav­

ing a Texas background was not a prereq­

uisite to clerk for him, even if  the impres­

sion persisted that it was.20 Clark was well 

aware of the number of clerks he hired with 

Texas backgrounds, and he sought to amelio­

rate this by going to Texas less often. When 

one of Clark’s former clerks, Robert Hamil­

ton, then a UT law professor, wrote to Clark to 

recommend a UT student, Clark replied, “ I 

doubt that Texas will  be in the picture next year 

as much as I regret it.”  By his own count, Clark 

had hired eight Texans already, or 25% of the 

total, and he was already committed to the idea 

of choosing schools never represented at the 

Court: “Too many Texans and so many good 

law schools,”  he wrote, “ So I feel I must pass it 

around. I ’ve never had one from Ga. [Georgia] 

so I  plan on taking one from there if  a likely  one 

applies.” 21 Taking into account all forty-seven 

of his clerks, Clark hired five UT graduates, 

and four of his clerks came from other Texas 

schools; adding Harvard graduates originally 

from Texas meant about 30% of his clerks had 

Texas origins. This was still less than might 

be expected, given that Clark’s choices were 

characterized as being “driven not only by re­

gional considerations... but also by political 

and social bonds.” 22

Initially, Clark’s selection criteria was un­

surprising, even ordinary. He boasted to law 

professor Louis Schwartz, “ I have 2 Editors in 

Chief for next year—both from top schools— 

one is #1 in his class also, while other was #1 

at time of graduation last year and has been do­

ing some special research work since.” 23 Law 

clerks were expected to come from the most 

prestigious schools and be top of their class. 

The schools that dominated the law clerk cadre 

at the time were Harvard and Yale,24 and Clark 

went to those schools for nearly 30% of his 

hires. Making the law review also mattered to 

Clark, who wrote one applicant: “The two boys 

that I have selected are both Editors in Chief 

of their respective Law Reviews and their av­

erage grades as well are tops in their class. 

My experience here indicates that clerks who 

have had intimate connection with law reviews
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ado p t the m s e lve s m o re e as ily to o u r s p e cial­

ized work.” 25 Generally, Clark took note of a 

candidate’s school and standing; at the top of 

one Yale candidate’s application Clark wrote, 

“Yale’s Top Man.” 26 In that same year Clark 

wrote at the top of one female candidate’s ap­

plication, “short, dark.”

Did this mean that Clark regarded fe­

male applicants dismissively? The evidence 

suggests otherwise. From the beginning of 

his Court service Clark exhibited a progres­

sive attitude towards female applicants. In his 

first year as a Justice, Clark received a letter 

from a fourteen-year-old girl who wanted to 

know the Attorney General’s opinion of female 

lawyers. Since he was now a Justice and no 

longer Attorney General, Clark turned the mat­

ter over to the Executive Assistant Attorney 

General, Lee Cadison, for an appropriate re­

sponse. Cadison’s reply to the girl included a 

separate memo intended for Clark that read, 

in part, “ I would suggest that a postscript be 

added to this letter advising young Carol to 

study cooking and sewing and to look for a 

good husband. She already asks enough ques­

tions to qualify as a district attorney.”  Someone 

in Clark’s chambers highlighted Cadison’s re­

mark, and the final reply contained no trace 

of chauvinism. Clark himself made minor al­

terations to Cadison’s draft, which included 

changing “someday you will  be a fine lawyer”  

to read, “someday you will  be a credit to the law 

profession.” 27

In Clark’s second term, he received an 

application from Sarah Livingston Davis, a 

Columbia law graduate who had experience 

clerking at the Third Circuit Court of Ap­

peals and was reputedly related to the na­

tion’s first Chief Justice, John Jay. Although 

Clark did not hire Davis, his clerk at the 

time, Percy Williams, offered Davis encour­

agement: “As you perhaps know, [Clark] gave 

considerable impetus to the employment of 

women attorneys during his administration 

of the Department of Justice.” 28 This was 

1950, and none of  the Justices, including Hugo 

L. Black, to whom Davis also applied, were

yet ready to hire the Court’s second female 

clerk.29

William Douglas hired the first female 

clerk, Lucille Loman, in 1944, and since that 

time the justices continued receiving applica­

tions from women. The next female hire did 

not occur, though, until 1966 when Black hired 

Margaret Corcoran, a Harvard law graduate 

and daughter of the notorious New Deal lob­

byist Tommy “ the Cork”  Corcoran, who was 

himself a law clerk to Justice Oliver Wendell 

Holmes, Jr. According to Peppers, Black came 

to regret his decision to hire Corcoran because 

she refused to do the work assigned to her, pre­

ferring instead to arrive late and sleep through 

the day after a night of socializing, and this 

left her co-clerk, Stephen Susman, to pick up 

the slack.30 Ironically, Corcoran and Susman 

both applied to clerk with Clark, but he turned 

each of them down. Susman was a UT law 

student, and Clark, at the time, felt he had 

already gone to Texas enough. Corcoran, on 

the other hand, was a different matter en­

tirely. It was not her gender that dissuaded 

Clark—after all, he had interviewed women 

to be his clerk before then—but, rather, her 

academic record. As a further irony, Clark 

may have been responsible for convincing 

Corcoran that she should clerk at the Court 

in the first place, which ultimately led to her 

landing with Black.

Initially, Corcoran sought an appointment 

for the 1965 term—the year she graduated 

Harvard. It must have been difficult  for Clark 

to reject her application, because he waited un­

til  April  to inform her of  his decision. In his let­

ter to her, Clark regretted involving Corcoran 

in the application process and indicated that 

he had first suggested it to her father. He 

could not hire her because her scholastic av­

erage was too low—lower than all fifty  ap­

plicants he received that year. “ I am sure you 

will  agree,”  he explained, “ it would not be fair 

to them for me to select a ‘C’ student as my 

second clerk.” 31 Corcoran waited one year be­

fore Black offered her the position she cov­

eted, coincidentally during Clark’s last term
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W h e n  M a rg a re t C o rc o ra n  a p p lie d  fo r  a  c le rk s h ip  a fte r  

g ra d u a t in g  f ro m  H a rv a rd  L a w  S c h o o l in  1 9 6 5 , C la rk , 

w h o  w a s c o n s id e r in g h ir in g  a fe m a le  c le rk , tu rn e d  

h e r d o w n  b e c a u s e  h e r g ra d e  p o in t a v e ra g e  w a s  lo w . 

C o rc o ra n  n e v e r th e le s s  b e c a m e  th e  s e c o n d  fe m a le  to  

c le rk  a t th e  S u p re m e  C o u r t w h e n  h e r  fa th e r , lo b b y is t 

T o m m y  C o rc o ra n , p e rs u a d e d H u g o  L . B la c k  to  h ire  

h e r .xwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

as an active Ju s tice . Had he be e n willing to 

lo we r his s tandards in this ins tance (some­

thing he was willing  to do for other applicants), 

Clark could have hired the second female law 

clerk.

One well-established procedure for se­

lecting law clerks at the time was relying on 

the recommendations of law professors, or, as 

some Justices preferred, the recommendations 

of former clerks.32 Initially, Clark adopted 

both of these models, indicating to law pro­

fessors that he sought their counsel, and then, 

after a few years, relying on the judgment of his

In  h e r c a p a c ity  a s  C la rk 's  s e c re ta ry , A lic e  O ’D o n n e ll 

w a s  re s p o n s ib le  fo r re a d in g  in q u ir ie s  f ro m  p o te n t ia l 

c le rk s , s e tt in g  u p  in te rv ie w s  in  s o m e  c a s e s , a n d  g e n ­

e ra lly  a d m in is te r in g  th e  h ir in g  o f c le rk s .

former clerks. Clark communicated with law 

professors at Chicago, Yale, Columbia, and the 

University of Pennsylvania, each of which con­

tributed a clerk to him by 1954. More impor­

tantly, Clark acknowledged that their recom­

mendations were key factors in his decisions. 

In a letter to Wesley Sturges at Yale, Clark re­

marked that it was Sturges’s “high appraisal”  

of Stuart Thayer that helped land him the job. 

A decade later, Clark could still remember the 

“ impressive letter of recommendation from 

dean Sturges.” Another Yale graduate, Cecil 

Wray, benefited from the recommendation of 

then Dean Eugene Rostow. Similarly, Clark re­

lied on the opinion of Edward Levi at Chicago 

to choose Richard Walker from among several 

Chicago candidates.33

In one intriguing proposal to former 

Justice Owen J. Roberts, then dean of law at the 

University of Pennsylvania, Clark agreed to 

appoint clerks from that school but then asked, 

“Do you have any who are presently working
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C la rk  a s k e d  O w e n  J . R o b e r ts , th e n  

d e a n o f U n iv e rs ity o f P e n n s y lv a ­

n ia ’s la w  s c h o o l, to  id e n t ify s tu ­

d e n ts w h o h a d g o n e o n to  c le rk  

fo r a p p e lla te  ju d g e s . T h e  c o n c e p t 

o f c le rk in g  fo r a  lo w e r -c o u r t ju d g e  

b e fo re b e in g  h ire d a s a S u p re m e  

C o u r t c le rk  w a s  re la t iv e ly  n o v e l a t  

th e  t im e .xwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

with any Co u rts o f Ap p e al? My o wn fe e ling 

is that s u ch e xp e r ie nce is he lp fu l he re .” 34 At 

the time there was little expectation that clerks 

gain a year’s experience serving on the Courts 

of Appeals, so Clark’s proposal indicated a 

new direction. Justice Burton, who served with 

Clark nine years, always selected a clerk with 

prior experience on the Courts of Appeals, 

but this was the exception. According to Pep­

pers, this “ represented a modification to the 

existing clerkship model, in which law clerks 

went directly from law school to the Supreme 

Court.” 35 One of Clark’s own clerks from the 

1960s told Ward & Weiden that most clerks 

then still arrived “directly from law school”  

instead of serving one year on the Courts of

Appeals. Clark’s idea, though, gained greater 

acceptance after his retirement and has now 

“become so commonplace.” 36

In 1963, Second Circuit Judge Irving 

Kaufman wrote to Clark to propose “some 

kind of arrangement,” whereby Kaufman 

could send his own clerks to Clark on a more 

regular basis. Considering it a “ tremendous 

advantage to both of us,” Kaufman noticed 

how Justices Harlan, Brennan, and Goldberg 

more often chose their clerks from the Second 

Circuit after they had “matured and had a year’s 

intellectual seasoning.”  By this time, though, 

Clark had changed his mind on the matter, 

and he replied, “Certainly it is helpful to get 

boys who have served on the C.A. [Courts of
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Ap p e als ] bu t the re are 3 to 4 here every term 
from a C.A. I believe that we have enough.” 37

Like many of his colleagues, Clark also 

received advice and recommendations from 

former clerks. One of his first clerks, Percy 

Williams, began advising Clark on clerk hires 

even before their two years together ended. 

Williams composed a memo for Clark on one 

prospect, a law professor at the University 

of Mississippi, advising Clark not to inter­

view him: “Moreover, some of his letters 

were downright stupid, tho I hate to say that 

about a colleague of the teaching profession. 

We don’t think he’s too good a fellow, tho 

we don’t know about his professional abil­

ity.” One decade later, Williams tried to dis­

suade Clark from hiring Burke Mathes after 

looking over Mathes’s academic credentials. 

Composed on Harvard stationary, Williams 

assessed Mathes’s record as “good but ob­

viously not distinguished,” and concluded, 

“ In short, he is a good student, but you 

could do much better.”38 Despite Williams’s 

lackluster appraisal, Clark still hired Mathes, 

most likely because Mathes was the nephew 

of U.S. District Court Judge William Mathes, 

with whom Clark maintained a robust corre­

spondence until the elder Mathes’s death in 

1967.

In time, Clark received recommendations 

from other former clerks, which generally led 

to clerk hires. Around 1964, Clark received a 

phone call from former clerk Larry Temple, 

who found the qualifications of UT student 

Shannon Ratliff  acceptable. Ratliff  was editor- 

in-chief of the law review and near the top of 

his class, and, Temple reported, the law school 

dean, W. Page Keeton, “was unusually enthusi­

astic.” 39 Following Clark’s retirement, former 

clerk and UT law professor Robert Hamilton 

wrote Clark to recommend Taylor Ashworth, 

who Hamilton viewed as the best all-around 

student in the third year. At first, Dean Keeton 

backed another student, but he later changed 

his view and endorsed Ashworth. When 

Ashworth eventually learned that Clark chose 

him despite never having met one another, he

first apologized to Clark for having limited 

typing skills.40

Another clerk recommendation leading to 

a hire resulted in the only instance where Clark 

lost a clerk who was drafted. Percy Williams 

was reviewing clerk applications when he 

came across one from a fellow Texan and 

Harvard law student, Vester Hughes. In a hand­

written note on Hughes’s application, Williams 

wrote to Clark’s secretary, “Alice—This is a 

good man—do what you can to have the Jus­

tice look him over.” Clark’s brother, Robert, 

also endorsed Hughes’s appointment, writing, 

“Tom—this boy looks good. You might keep 

him in mind. Houston Harte is a friend of 

the family.” 41 Harte was the owner of the TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
S a n A n g e lo S ta n d a rd T im es newspaper who 

regularly sent fresh salmon to Clark for the Jus­

tices’ lunches. These recommendations, arriv­

ing at the Court almost a year before Hughes 

did, persuaded Clark to make Hughes an of­

fer, but soon after Clark had to contend with 

Hughes’s request for a military deferment. 

After working in Clark’s chambers for three 

weeks, Hughes was drafted. Desperate to find 

a replacement, Clark contacted law school 

deans, and Edward Levi at Chicago wired 

back, “Believe Weisberg available.” 42

Grappling with requests for military de­

ferments became a persistent concern for 

Clark throughout his service on the Court. 

Doubtless other Justices had similar dilemmas 

during the 1950s and 1960s when military ser­

vice for college age men was still so pervasive. 

Justice Charles Whittaker, for example, who 

served with Clark for five years, twice had to 

contact military authorities to prevent one of 

his clerks from being drafted.43 Clark, on the 

other hand, steadfastly refused to intercede for 

his clerks, which explained Hughes’s departure 

after only three weeks, but his clerks contin­

ued to seek his assistance nonetheless. Before 

hiring Robert Hamilton, Clark explained his 

policy regarding deferments:

There would be no objection of 

course to a statement by you that the



S P R E A D IN G TH E  W E A LTH XWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA1 3 9ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

C la rk  m a d e  a  p o in t  o f n o t a s k in g  fo r m il ita ry  d e fe rm e n ts  fo r h is  c le rk s . V e s te r H u g h e s  ( le f t ) , a  n a t iv e  T e x a n  

w h o  h a d  e x c e lle d  a t H a rv a rd  L a w  S c h o o l, c a m e  h ig h ly  re c o m m e n d e d  b u t w a s  d ra f te d  to  s e rv e  in  th e  K o re a n  

W a r th re e  w e e k s  a fte r h e  w a s  h ire d  in  1 9 5 2 . L a r ry  N ic h o ls  ( r ig h t) , w h o  c le rk e d  fo r C la rk  in  1 9 6 7 , m a n a g e d  

to  s e c u re  h is  o w n  d e fe rm e n t fo r a  y e a r . H u g h e s  b e c a m e  a  d is t in g u is h e d  ta x  la w y e r ; N ic h o ls  b e c a m e  C E O  o f 

a  p e tro le u m  c o m p a n y .xwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

ap p o intm e nt o ffe rs a dis tinct o p p o r­

tunity to a graduate just out of Law 

School, which opportunity would be 

a great advantage to you later in your 

profession and which could not be 

had after your release from the ser­

vice. We could not suggest, however, 

that in your statements to your Board 

you leave any implication that the ap­

pointment warrants a deferment per 

se; or that the nature of the work at 

the Court would, because of its im­

portance, call for a deferment once 

you have entered on duty.44

Beginning in 1963, the Selective Service Sys­

tem became more liberal in granting defer­

ments to law clerks, but two years later it re­

versed that policy due to manpower needs, and 

Clark became less certain that his clerks could 

fulfill  their appointments. He began notify­

ing law school deans of a new “proviso” re­

garding their failed recommendations; namely, 

they might still receive consideration if  one 

of his chosen clerks got drafted.45 When Lee 

Freeman requested that his February letter of

employment be used as evidence for a defer­

ment, Clark made clear that his policy prohib­

ited this. Furthermore, since Freeman’s college 

deferment expired in October, just in time for 

the start of the Court term, Clark considered 

selecting an alternate before all the suitable 

candidates were gone. Freeman kept the job 

only because his marriage in June meant a 

complete deferment.46

Several of Clark’s clerks had military ex­

perience before joining his staff, thereby al­

leviating any concern they might be drafted, 

including James Harrington, who served 

six months in the Marine Corps Reserves 

when he failed to receive a deferment after 

law school. Harrington, however, never kept 

his appointment to clerk because it was con­

tingent upon Clark remaining on the Court, 

and, when Clark announced his retirement in 

March, 1967, Harrington lost the job.47 The 

first clerk to follow Clark into retirement, 

Larry Nichols, was granted a one-year leave 

from the Navy in order to clerk, but Clark 

was still adamant in his determination that his 

office not influence: “As I have often said, I 

have never requested a draft board or the armed
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s e rvice s to de fe r anyo ne . I ado p te d this p o licy 

whe n I be cam e As s is tant Atto rne y Ge ne ral [in 

March 1943] and have consistently followed it 

ever since. I make this clear in order that you 

understand that this letter is not to be filed with 

your draft board or any branch of the armed 

services as support for deferment.” 48

During Clark’s early years on the Court, 

the procedures he followed and the criteria he 

used differed little from those of other Justices. 

Contending with military deferments and re­

lying on the recommendations of law faculty 

were a routine part of law clerk applications. 

Clark had yet to distinguish himself as the Jus­

tice who would radically alter the parameters 

of law clerk selections. That did not occur un­

til the next phase of his Court service, when 

he struck upon an idea that, although not new, 

became his legacy for opening wide the doors 

of the Court.

1955 to 1960  Term s

During this interim period, Clark made signif­

icant changes to his law clerk selection prac­

tices, beginning with moving up his decision­

making time frame. By 1959, he noticed that 

other justices had moved their selection dates 

earlier than the first of the year, which gave 

Clark, in his words, “slimmer pickings.” 49 

Clark was also concerned about law students 

making commitments to large firms before 

they came to the Court, which meant they 

would face difficulty if  a case arose involv­

ing that firm. One of his former clerks, Don­

ald Turner, then on the faculty at Harvard, ad­

vised him to rectify both issues by moving his 

clerk selections forward to at least December 

15, which Clark implemented in earnest.50 The 

following year, some potential candidates were 

notified that selections had already been made 

as early as August, and the rest were informed 

by October.

Another change in Clark’s selection 

procedures—really, in his attitude toward 

it—was his increasing willingness to allow 

personal or professional relationships to influ­

ence his choices. No longer was class stand­

ing the principal measure of merit; if  Clark 

had a personal or professional bond, that bond 

remained strong and steered him in his de­

cisions. These choices still had the repute to 

commend them to the position, but now an­

other compelling factor guided those choices. 

One of the first instances of this occurred in 

1955 when Clark hired Robert Hamilton, the 

son of Walton Hamilton, who worked with 

Clark in the Department of Justice.51 Five 

years later, Clark made a commitment to hire 

Richard S. Arnold, a Harvard law graduate 

and the grandson of Lucile Sanderson, who 

was then married to former Texas Senator 

Thomas Connally.52 Initially, Arnold sought 

to clerk for Frankfurter, what his grandmother 

described as Arnold’s “one ambition”  follow­

ing law school. When Arnold learned that two 

other Harvard students were chosen instead, he 

became downcast, leading his wife to appeal 

to his grandmother, who, in turn, wrote di­

rectly to Frankfurter hoping to find “a second 

place.”  All  of this ended up on Clark’s desk— 

presumably because of  the Texas connection— 

and Clark obliged, writing to one recom­

mender, “ I told a Texas lad at Harvard 

(Mrs. Connally’s grandson) that I would se­

lect him if  he wished to come here.” 53 Up to 

this point, Clark had chosen only three Har­

vard graduates, all of them originally from 

Texas.

Arnold declined Clark’s offer and instead 

chose to clerk for Justice Brennan,54 giving 

Clark the opportunity to offer the job to the 

son of a longtime friend, Judge Joe Estes of 

the U.S. District Court in Texas. Shortly after 

Arnold turned him down, Clark wrote to Estes, 

“My clerk—Larry Temple [a UT graduate and 

native Texan]—tells me that Carl graduates 

next June [from UT]. Do you think he would 

be interested in a clerkship?”  Estes replied pos­

itively one week later, and the next day Clark 

wrote back, “ I am most happy to hear that 

Carl is interested. It will  be wonderful to have 

him here.” 55 Without any letters of application 

or recommendation, Clark raised the question
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and the n m ade the o ffe r. This re lative ly rap id 

s o licitatio n s tro ngly s u gge s ts that Clark’s cr i­

teria shifted away from the usual qualifica­

tions (class standing, law review) towards per­

sonal relationships, and, although there is no 

evidence that either Judge Estes or his son, 

Carl, asked for the appointment, it appeared 

as though Clark was comfortable with the ar­

rangement.

Perhaps the most significant change in 

Clark’s selection criteria during this period was 

his dedication to choosing clerks from schools 

that never had representation at the Court. He 

began to consider this as early as 1953, ex­

plaining to Chicago’s law dean, Edward Levi, 

“Strong arguments have been made that we 

should at least occasionally permit some of 

the other schools to send students in, however, 

and of course their requests on this basis have 

much merit. I feel I should afford them this op­

portunity from time to time.” 56 Other Justices 

at the Court took notice of the situation and 

were already hiring from first-time schools. 

For examples, the year Clark joined the Court 

it saw its first Stanford student (Douglas), 

and Albany Law School of Union University 

had what could be its only clerk (Jackson); 

the following year, the Court received its first 

clerks from Cornell (Jackson), State Univer­

sity of New York, Buffalo (Jackson), and 

the University of Nebraska (Burton). Over 

the next three years, Douglas hired first-time 

clerks from the University of Arizona and the 

University of California, Los Angeles; Black 

did the same for the University of Alabama 

and Washington and Lee University; and Reed 

brought to the Court what may be the Uni­

versity of Louisville’s only clerk. Clearly the 

Court had started to move away, however incre­

mentally, from the dominance of schools like 

Harvard, Yale, Columbia, Michigan, Chicago, 

and Pennsylvania, all of which had the largest 

number of placements and, not coinciden­

tally, were the only schools Clark used until 

1954.57

During the 1955 Term, the Court saw 

no new schools added to its roster of clerks

(Harvard took seven of eighteen positions), 

but Clark felt as though he was moving in 

that direction by hiring a Georgetown student, 

something he had never done before. In let­

ters to Harvard, Yale, and the University of 

Pennsylvania, Clark used this Georgetown hire 

to justify his neglect of those schools.58 The 

Georgetown student, John Nolan, had applied 

to four different Justices (Clark, Warren, Reed, 

and Burton) but was prepared to forego any ap­

pointment to take a j  ob at the prestigious Wash­

ington law firm Covington &  Burling. One of 

the firm ’s partners, Donald Hiss, convinced 
him to pursue a clerkship instead.59 Six years 

later, another Clark hire, Alfred P. Murrah, 

Jr., declined his appointment because the 

Oklahoma City law firm that hired him re­

fused to grant him a year’s leave of absence to 

join Clark.60 Had he chosen instead to clerk, 

Murrah’s alma mater, the University of 

Oklahoma, would have had its first clerk at the 

Court, which was undoubtedly one of Clark’s 

principal reasons for offering Murrah the 

position.

Once Murrah declined the clerkship, 

Clark quickly fulfilled a pledge he made 

to another first-time school, Drake Univer­

sity in Iowa. Since Clark generally reserved 

only one of his two clerk positions for 

first-time schools, when the Oklahoma spot 

opened, Clark wrote the dean at Drake, Martin 

Tollefson, “ It appears I shall be able to take 

one clerk from Drake for this next Term of 

the Court after all, so if  you would make the 

selection there... I am sorry I could not write 

you more encouragingly last summer but in­

tervening circumstances have changed the pic­

ture.” 61 At Clark’s direction Tollefson chose 

James Knox, one of two candidates Drake had 

urged on Clark, and Clark hired him sight 

unseen.

Clark’s effort to open the doors of the 

Court to what one former clerk called “un­

derprivileged law schools” 62 is best illustrated 

in Table 2. As indicated, Clark hired from more 

schools than his colleagues, and he was more 
willing  to go to first-time schools.63 In 1956,
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J u s t ic e C la rk d e ­

c id e d  to lo o k b e y o n d  

th e u s u a l fe e d e r la w  

s c h o o ls  a n d  s e e k  c le rk s  

f ro m  s c h o o ls s u c h a s  

D ra k e L a w S c h o o l in  

Io w a a n d N o tre D a m e  

L a w  S c h o o l (p ic tu re d ) 

in  In d ia n a .xwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Ta b l e 2 : P e r c e n ta g e o f  F ir s t -T im e  S c h o o ls b y  J u s t ic e

Name # Years as Justice3 # of Schools First Time # Clerks % First Timeb

Clark 28 27 13 47 28%

Warren 20 17 0 51 0

Brennan 21c 15 2 51 4%

Black 35 12 3 51 6%

Reed 38 12 3 48 6%

Douglas 37 8 3 52 6%

Harlan 18 8 0 38 0

Stewart 19c 5 1 41 2%

Frankfurter 25 4 0 42 0

aAnalysis based on years as active Justice and in retirement
b Percentage based on individual hires, counting clerks serving two years as one hire 

cAnalysis includes only years up to the 1976 Term, Clark’s last year using clerks

Clark became the first Justice to hire from 

New York University, and he followed that up 

the next Term by hiring both of his clerks from 

first-time law schools: Notre Dame and South­

ern Methodist. In all but two of the next nine 

Terms (1959 and 1964), Clark hired one of 

his clerks from a first-time school. This was 

phenomenal considering that, while Clark ad­

hered to this policy (1956-1966), all the other 

Justices combined brought to the Court six 

new schools. To place this in context, during 

Clark’s total years of service (including retire­

ment), fifty-eight different schools sent clerks 

to the Court, and Clark hired from nearly half 

of them (47%). Before Clark joined the Court, 

only twenty-two schools were TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAever used for 

clerks, and five of those would not send an­

other to the Court during his service. After 

Clark adopted this new policy and until his 

death, the number of schools ever represented 

at the Court doubled from thirty-two to sixty- 

three. Much of this growth can be attributed 

to Clark’s own selections, but it was as likely 

due to his influence, since other justices added
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T a b l e  3 : L a w  S c h o o l R e p r e se n ta t io n a t  th e C o u r t  1 9 2 0 to  1 9 7 6xwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Scho o ls that had no re p re s e ntatio n at the Co u rt du ring Clark’s ye ars o f s e rvice (listed 

chronologically by dates of representation)

1. Columbian University3

2. Detroit College of Law 1920-23

3. National Law 1930^4

4. University of Wisconsin-Madison 1943

5. Temple University 1947-48

Schools that continued to have representation at the Court during Clark’s years of service 

(listed chronologically from earliest, 1920 to 1976)

6. Georgetown University3

7. Harvard University 1920

8. Catholic University 1923

9. Yale University 1924

10. Columbia University 1925

11. George Washington University 1929

12. University of Pennsylvania 1934

13. University of Texas 1938

14. University of Washington 1939

15. University of California, Berkeley 1941

16. University of Indiana 1941

17. University of Michigan 1941

18. University of Chicago 1944

19. Northwestern University 1946

20. Case Western Reserveb 1947

21. University of Iowa 1948

22. University of Virginia 1948

First-time schools during Clark’s years of service (listed by year and Justice)

23. Stanford University 1949 Douglas

24. Albany Law School of Union University 1949 Jackson

25. Cornell University 1950 Jackson

26. State University of New York-Buffalo 1950 Jackson

27. University of Nebraska 1950 Burton

28. University of Arizona 1952 Douglas

29. University of Alabama 1953 Black

30. University of California, Los Angeles 1954 Douglas

31. Washington and Lee University 1954 Black

32. University of Louisville 1954 Reed

33. N e w  Y o r k  U n iv e r s i ty 1 9 5 6 C la r k

3 4 . N o tr e  D a m e U n iv e r s i ty 1 9 5 7 C la r k

3 5 . S o u th e r n M e th o d is t U n iv e r s i ty 1 9 5 7 C la r k

36. Washington University, St. Louis 1957 Whittaker

3 7 . U n iv e r s i ty  o f  S o u th e r n C a li fo r n ia 1 9 5 8 C la r k

38. Ohio State University 1958 StewartTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

(co n tin u ed )
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T a b l e  3 TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA(C o n tin u ed )xwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

39. University of Kansas 1958 Whittaker

40. University of Minnesota 1958 Whittaker

41. University of Colorado 1960 Black

42. F o r d h a m  U n iv e r s i ty 1 9 6 0 C la r k

43. D r a k e  U n iv e r s i ty 1 9 6 1 C la r k

4 4 . U n iv e r s i ty  o f  M iss iss ip p i 1 9 6 2 C la r k

4 5 . V il la n o v a  U n iv e r s i ty 1 9 6 3 C la r k

46. University of North Carolina 1964 Reed

4 7 . S o u th T e x a s C o lle g e o f  L a w 1 9 6 5 C la r k

4 8 . S a in t M a r y ’ s U n iv e r s i ty , S a n A n to n io 1 9 6 6 C la r k

First-time schools while Clark served in retirement

49. U n iv e r s i ty  o f  H o u s to n 1 9 6 9 C la r k

50. Duke University 1969 Burger

51. University of Utah 1969 Burger

52. University of Detroit 1970 Brennan

53. American University 1970 Blackmun

54. Dickinson University 1973 Blackmun

55. Arizona State University 1973 Rehnquist

56. University of Kentucky 1973 Rehnquist

57. Vanderbilt University 1974 Blackmun

58. Boston College 1974 Brennan

59. Boston University 1974 White

60. Northeastern University 1975 Burger

61. University of Illinois 1976 Stevens

62. L o y o la , N e w O r le a n s 1 9 7 6 C la r k

6 3 . W a sh b u r n  U n iv e r s i ty 1 9 7 6 C la r k

“Pre-1920 schools according to Peppers, C o u r t ie r s , 25 (see endnote 6).
b Peppers considered Case Western Reserve a one-time contributor, overlooking Clark’s use of it in retirement, even 

though he acknowledged Clark’s use of Washburn University in retirement, C o u r t ie r s , 25 and 29 (see endnote 6).

twelve new schools to the Court’s roster after 

Clark retired (see Table 3).

Clark’s preference, what he called “ shop­

ping around,”  became widely known, and he 

soon disapproved of the practices of other Jus­

tices, particularly those who relied exclusively 

on one school. In a letter to Eugene Rostow ex­

plaining his large number of applicants, Clark 

wrote, “This is not because they prefer to clerk 

for me, but because the policy of some of the 

Justices is such that the applications are han­

dled largely by others and are confined to cer­

tain schools or localities. It so happens that this 

year I have several schools that are urging me

to try one of their boys. They all say that they 

have never had any clerk with the Court. I have 

often stated that this is very appealing to me 

and, other things being equal, I would select a 

boy from a school that has not had that priv­
ilege.” 64 Clark expressed similar sentiments 

to Judge Irving Kaufman, writing, “Since so 

many of the Justices are picking clerks from 

the East—particularly from Harvard and Yale- 

I prefer to select my own from another sec­

tion usually.” 65 Clark’s commitment never to 

choose two clerks from the same school in 

the same Term contributed to his new policy, 

and, in 1963, his secretary, Alice O’Donnell,
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re m inde d a San Anto nio lawye r, “Mr. Justice 

Clark has adopted a policy of taking at least 

one of his clerks from a law school which has 

not to date had an opportunity to place a law 
clerk at this Court.” 66

This extraordinary new policy brought un­

intended consequences, such as an explosion 

in the number of applications Clark received. 

His application files for 1964 to 1966 are 

huge, numbering over 100 for the 1966 term, 

or more than twice what some other Justices 

received. By August, 1964, Clark’s secretary 

wanted to know if  she should offer any en­

couragement to those applicants not yet pre­

sented to Clark: “They are starting to come 

in already and it ’s a job to keep up with them 

and later notify them.” Clark replied, “No— 

just write any more that come in that we are 

committed.” 67 This new policy also meant that 

Clark had to depend upon first-time schools 

to choose their best students—the final de­

cision was no longer his to make. When the 

dean of law at the University of Mississippi, 

Robert Farley, began petitioning Clark to take 

one of their students, Clark indicated that he 

would change his other commitments only if  

Mississippi had a good candidate, one they 

could recommend “wholeheartedly and with­

out reservation.”  Clark then warned: “ I place 

the responsibility on the Deans who make the 

recommendation, and I shall leave the deci­

sion entirely to you, with the admonition that 

of course if  the young man proves unsatisfac­

tory it would not speak well for ‘Ole Miss’ 

nor for the future possibility of placing clerks 

here.” 68

The Mississippi faculty chose Raymond 

Brown, and Brown brought to the Supreme 

Court one of the most unusual backgrounds 

for a law clerk: he once played professional 

football for the Baltimore Colts. For three 

seasons (1958, 1959, and 1960), Brown was 

the Colt’s backup quarterback, while the illus­

trious starter, Johnny Unitas, took the Colts 

to two national championships. When a knee 

injury ended his NFL career, Brown went

to law school.69 Two other Clark hires gar­

nered unique accolades TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAb e fo re their clerk­

ships ended. Michael Maupin, who accepted 

Clark’s offer rather than going to work for a 

Richmond, Virginia, law firm headed by fu­

ture Supreme Court Justice Lewis F. Powell, 

played a small part assisting the presidential 

commission investigating the assassination of 

President John Kennedy.70 Maupin’s co-clerk, 

Shannon Ratliff, had to choose between going 

to work for Clark or for Vice President Lyndon 

Johnson. Ratliff ’s work in Johnson’s office in 

the summer 1963 impressed the Vice Presi­

dent enough that he contacted Clark to see if  

Ratliff  could go to work for him instead of ac­

cepting Clark’s offer. When Johnson elevated 

to the presidency following Kennedy’s assassi­

nation, Ratliff  then had the opportunity to go to 

work at the White House, but in January, 1964, 

Johnson’s office conceded that Ratliff pre­

ferred to work for Clark.71

In 1961, Clark first expressed an interest 

in taking a clerk from Villanova University, 

located just outside Philadelphia, indicating 

that he might “work out something later”  with 

U.S. District Judge Thomas Clary, who was ap­

pointed to the eastern district of Pennsylvania 

shortly after Clark joined the Court.72 In a 

letter to Charles Alan Wright, a UT law 

professor, Clark noted how Judge Clary agreed 

to hire a Villanova student on the stipula­

tion that Clark take him the following year. 

When Clary hired James McHugh, Clark felt 

obligated to offer Villanova its first clerk. 

“ I have a commitment of very long standing to 

a boy graduating next June,”  Clark explained 

to Wright, “and the other spot will  be used to 

maintain my policy of taking one clerk from a 

school which has not thus far been able to place 

a graduate at the Court [i.e. Villanova].” 73 This 

“commitment of very long standing”  exempli­

fied Clark’s principal predicament during the 

final phase of his active service: he wanted to 

maintain his commitment to first-time schools, 

but he increasingly found himself beset by 

obligations of another kind.
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1961 to 1966  Term s

Clark’s final years before retirement were 

marked by two developments that, oddly 

enough, complimented and competed with his 

commitment to first-time schools. Both of­

fered the prospect of using schools that never 

had, nor ever would have, sent a clerk to the 

Court, but one raised the specter of the worst 

kind of favoritism. As to the first, in 1962 

Clark implemented a plan whereby a Board 

of Tribune (consisting of fraternity officers) 

of the Phi Alpha Delta (P.A.D.) law fraternity 

sent him the names of student finalists in a 

nationwide competition. The historical record 

is unclear as to who initiated this program, 

but it is clear that, during its four years of 

operation, it caused considerable antagonism 

between Clark and the fraternity, particularly 

over the issue of whether or not Clark was obli­

gated to choose a P.A.D. finalist. The other de­

velopment led to Clark giving clerkships awayZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

C la rk a g re e d to  ta k e  a c le rk  

f ro m  th e  U n iv e rs ity  o f M is s is ­

s ip p i if  th e  la w  s c h o o l c o u ld  

re c o m m e n d  a  s tu d e n t “w h o le ­

h e a r te d ly a n d w ith o u t re s e r­

v a t io n . ” T h e M is s is s ip p i  fa c ­

u lty c h o s e R a y m o n d B ro w n  

a s  C la rk 's  c le rk  fo r th e  1 9 6 2  

T e rm . B ro w n p la y e d p ro fe s ­

s io n a l fo o tb a ll fo r th e B a l­

t im o re C o lts b e fo re a k n e e  

in ju ry s id e lin e d h im  a n d h e  

c h o s e  to  a tte n d  la w  s c h o o l.

to the sons of personal friends, whether or not 

they met even the minimum criteria for law 

clerks.

The antagonism between Clark and P.A.D. 

began when he failed to select one of the 

eight finalists submitted to him for the 1963 

Term. The “ rumblings” of Tribune mem­

bers, though, were quieted the following 

Term when Clark chose Michael Maupin, 

one of three finalists presented to him. Re­

lations became strained the next year when 

Clark notified two of the three finalists in 

November that they would not be hired. The 

fraternity was unsure if  these rejections meant 

the applicants were denied the other clerkship 

or the P.A.D. clerkship, which was presum­

ably set aside and secure. Unconcerned about 

Clark’s other clerkship, the fraternity expected 

to be advised before he rejected any appli­

cants for their “slot.” 74 When fraternity offi ­

cials asked in February whether their “slot”
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In  1 9 6 2 , C la rk  im p le m e n te d  a  p la n  w h e re b y  th e  P h i 

A lp h a D e lta la w  f ra te rn ity s e n t h im  th e  n a m e s o f  

s tu d e n t f in a lis ts  in  a  n a t io n w id e  c o m p e t it io n  to  b e ­

c o m e  o n e  o f h is  c le rk s . T h e  p ro g ra m  o p e ra te d fo r  

fo u r  y e a rs , b u t c a u s e d  c o n s id e ra b le  c o n f l ic t b e c a u s e  

C la rk  d id  n o t a lw a y s  h ire  th e  f in a lis t .xwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

was fille d, Clark faile d to re p ly. He waite d 

u ntil Ap ril to m ake an o ffe r to the third fi ­

nalist, Charles Reed. The delay suggests that 

Clark wanted to prove a point to the fraternity, 

considering that he chose Reed in October— 

that the final decision was his alone to make. 

Shortly after choosing Reed, Clark wrote to a 

Houston lawyer, “ I try to spread the appoint­

ments around some because there are many, 

in fact who have never been able to place 

a graduate here in the entire history of the 

Court.... RS. Confidentially one of my boys 

for next year will  be from Houston University 

Law School.” 75 Although Clark got the name 

wrong (Reed attended South Texas College of 

Law in Houston), his enthusiasm for choos­

ing another first-time school—and one from 

Texas—was evident. Clearly, the RA.D. com­

petition furthered Clark’s commitment to these 

schools, although the fraternity’s role in selec­

tions was never evident outside of law schools.

The ongoing antagonism between Clark 

and the fraternity revolved around expec­

tations. The fraternity believed that Clark 

reserved one of his clerkships for their 

finalists, but Clark was unwilling to give the

fraternity such exclusivity. In its newsletter, TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
T h e R ep o r te r , the fraternity informed its mem­

bers that the nationwide contest resulted in 

a clerkship with Clark, proclaiming in 1965: 

“Three applicants were finally selected as fi ­

nalists from which Justice Clark will  person­

ally select his clerk.” On his copy of the 

newsletter, Clark wrote incredulously, “Miss 

Alice—Did you see?” Clark made his own 

views clear to one hopeful recommender, 

Richard Amandes, the associate dean at Hast­

ings College of law, explaining, “ I have tried to 

give special consideration to the schools which 

have not had an opportunity to place their 

graduates here, and, in addition, I consider 

three submitted to me by a board of the Phi 

Alpha Delta Fraternity. These are not binding 

policies, however.” 76 Clark refused to be be­

holden to P.A.D., regardless of the sentiments 

of its Supreme Justice, Elden Magaw, who 

wrote, “ In my travels over the country I find 

that nothing we have done has been regarded 

so favorably by the chapters and the Deans in 

the various law schools. All  are waiting for the 

next issue of the R ep o r te r to see who has been 

chosen.” 77

In his final Term as an active Justice, Clark 

again neglected to choose a P.A.D. finalist, but 

this time his reasons for disappointing the fra­

ternity were regrettable. Neither of his hires, 

Stuart Ross or Marshall Groce, was academ­

ically top of their class, and Groce attended 

what was arguably the most obscure school 

ever to join the law clerk ranks. Clark chose 

Ross and Groce in early November, but he 

waited until February to notify the three P.A.D. 

finalists that none of them were hired. One fi ­

nalist, who Clark considered the “ top man”  

of the group, was invited to reapply for the 

1967 Term, when Clark intended to hire an­

other P.A.D. applicant.78 Another finalist that 

year received less approbation; Clark noted, 

“This applicant is not in the range of com­

petition we have here. He is not qualified &  

should not have been selected as a nominee, in 

my view.”  Free of any obligation to choose a 

P.A.D. finalist, Clark informed Magaw, “When
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I agre e d to the co m p e titio n I ins is te d that the 

thre e no m ine e s wo u ld m e re ly be give n co n­

sideration, not that one of them would be 

appointed.... If  the literature the Fraternity 

has sent out left the impression there was a 

firm commitment, I am not responsible for 

that.” 79

Stuart Ross’s appointment was most likely 

politically motivated, since Ross was the son- 

in-law of Dale Miller, a close Texas friend of 

President Johnson. It certainly was not due 

to Ross’s academic performance, which was 

poor enough to land him in probation his first 

year at George Washington law school. When 

one of his law professors admitted that Ross 

“got off  to a shaky beginning,”  Clark insisted 

on seeing Ross’s grades.80 He could not have 

been impressed. Ross’s grades were mediocre 

at best, and twice he repeated courses for fail­

ure to take scheduled exams. This was not, in 

Clark’s own words, “ in the range of competi­

tion we have here,”  but Ross’s place was se­

cure through his father-in-law’s political con­

nections.81

Marshall Groce’s academic credentials 

were possibly more suspect than Ross’s. Both 

Marshall and his father, Josh Groce, a San 

Antonio lawyer, expressed dismay at Clark’s 

unsolicited offer. Fifteen months before his 

clerkship began, Marshall wrote Clark, “When 

my father informed me of the possibility... it 

never occurred to me that the possibility of 

such an opportunity would be mine.” 82 Per­

haps Marshall’s perplexity related to his at­

tendance at St. Mary’s University in San 

Antonio, which he later admitted did not even 

have a law review or similar publication;83 he 

only went there because, according to his fa­

ther, while at UT he “ just plain goofed off.”  

Perhaps it related to his never having met 

Clark in person, since his father asked Justice 

Douglas, who was then visiting San Antonio, 

to convey to Clark “ that Marshall did not 

have two heads.” 84 Groce’s attendance at an 

obscure law school satisfied Clark’s interest 

in choosing first-time schools, but he could 

have used a P.A.D. finalist for that. Instead,

he hired the son of an acquaintance, neither 

of whom expected it, suggesting that Clark’s 

interest in choosing the most qualified can­

didates now gave way to finding the most 

“underprivileged law schools.”  It  also suggests 

the possibility that Clark’s relationship with 

P.A.D. had deteriorated enough that he inten­

tionally ignored their finalists in favor of an 

outlier.

In order to give this outlier a chance, Clark 

took a keen interest in Groce’s education, offer­

ing advice on which classes to take and con­

cluding, “ I might add that it is not so much 

what courses but what you do with those you 
take. There is no substitute for good grades.” 85 

During his last year at law school, Groce, 

still overwhelmed by Clark’s offer six months 

earlier, wrote to ask, “ I  wonder if  I should make 

any formal application or furnish any other in­

formation. I certainly would hate to lose such 

a wonderful opportunity through some over­

sight on my part. Therefore, if  there is anything 

which I should do along this line, I greatly 

appreciate it if  you would let me know just 

what I am supposed to do.” 86 Clark replied by 

requesting grades—no recommendations or 

formal application—just grades. Once again, 

he must have been disappointed; Groce ranked 

at the bottom of the “upper half.”  Hiring two 

candidates with middling grades for the same 

Term did not sit well with Clark, so just before 

Christmas he composed a letter of rejection for 

Groce, which read:

I hope you will not be too disap­

pointed when I say that I do not 

feel I can offer you an appointment. 

Looking over the dozens of applica­

tions I have before me from schools 

throughout the country I find that 

with very few exceptions they are 

nearly all first, second or third in their 

class standing. Most of them are A  

average and about straight A from 

their second year on. As I am sure you 

can appreciate, the work at the Court 

done by these boys—many of whom
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have by the n a ye ar’s cle rks hip in the 

Circu it Co u rt—becomes quite highly 

competitive. I sincerely believe that 

under such conditions you might not 

enjoy it as much as you might en­

tering the profession through other 

channels.87

Clark never sent the letter, though; his only 

copy was marked over with a large X. He ful­

filled his pledge to Groce, and P.A.D. lost its 

anticipated “slot.”  Elden Magaw, disappointed 

with the situation, worried about Clark’s rep­

utation if  he chose Groce: “ I have given very 

careful thought to the problem in connection 

with the clerkship,”  Magaw wrote,

I am worried and deeply concerned 

because if  this is not handled prop­

erly it can do us a lot of damage....

Not only do I think our Fraternity 

will  be hurt, but I am fearful that you 

personally may be hurt. I know that 

all believe that a firm commitment 

has been made and the only ques­

tion is which of the three [finalists] 

are to be chosen. On the one hand 

you have the situation as to the fa­

ther [Josh Groce]—on the other you 

have 98 active chapters and the vari­

ous law school administrators to con­

sider. This presents a situation worthy 

of a Solomon. I hope that you can do 

something like a miracle. We are in a 

crucial situation but I think you can 

solve it.88

Clark’s solution was to hire Groce and assure 

P.A.D. of their selection the next Term, which 

P.A.D. was prompt to announce to its con­

stituents.89 Of course, Clark had retired from 

the Court by then, but his retirement did not 

end the fraternity’s chances so much as his ca­

pitulation to friends. When P.A.D. transmitted 

the names of three finalists for 1967 almost 

a year in advance, at first Clark wondered 

whether any clerks ever came from Boston 

University or the University of Missouri 

(two of the finalists were from those schools).

Then he conceded, “Looks like PAD will  lose 

out again—Harrington is pressing and so is 

Nichols! May be we better notify them now.” 90 

For a second year in a row, Clark was willing  

to overlook his arrangement with P.A.D., and 

again it was due to the importunate requests 

of close friends. Clark hired James Harrington 

and Larry Nichols, but his retirement meant 

only one of them could keep the job.

Although Larry Nichols became Clark’s 

first clerk in retirement, his selection belonged 

to Clark’s active service because Clark prof­

fered the offer ten months before he ever 

announced his retirement. Indeed, Clark’s re­

lationship with Nichols and his father had long 

antecedents. In college Clark was a fraternity 

brother with Nichols’ father, John, who Clark 

referred to as “an old Oklahoma friend of 

mine.”  When Larry applied to attend the Uni­

versity of Michigan law school, Clark wrote 

a letter of recommendation.91 Two years later, 

Larry had an appointment to meet Clark, who 

informed Larry’s father afterwards, “ It was 

good to see your son today. He is a fine young 

man and gives every evidence of becoming a 

learned and effective lawyer.... I gave him the 

forms—and some suggestions as to the appli­

cation. With his grades and law review back­

ground he should make a clerkship.” 92 Clark’s 

message belied the possibility that Nichols’ 

application might receive the same consider­

ation as other candidates, but Clark’s blithe 

rejection of P.A.D.’s finalists indicates that 

Nichols benefited immensely from his father’s 

long association with Clark.

James Pipkin also benefited from his par­

ents’ long friendship with Clark, who attended 

UT with both of  them. Regarded as “an old and 

highly respected Texas family,” the Pipkins 

were in the oil business; the senior James Pip­

kin, known to Clark as “Jimmie,”  became the 

senior vice president of the Texas Oil Company 

(i.e. Texaco) by the time his son went to work 

for Clark. Jimmie Pipkin considered Clark “a 

very treasured advisor,” and Clark recipro­

cated, “To me our association has been more 
than pleasant—it has been most helpful.” 93
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C la rk  l ik e d  to  o ffe r c le rk s h ip s  to  th e  s o n s  o f h is  o ld  

f r ie n d s  f ro m  T e x a s . H e  p ro m is e d  to  h ire  J a m e s  P ip ­

k in , th e  s o n  o f a U n iv e rs ity  o f T e x a s  S c h o o l o f L a w  

c la s s m a te , b e fo re  th e  y o u n g  m a n  w a s  e v e n  a c c e p te d  

a t la w  s c h o o l. P ip k in  a tte n d e d  H a rv a rd  L a w  S c h o o l 

a n d  w e n t o n  to  a  d is t in g u is h e d  c a re e r s p e c ia liz in g  in  

t ra n s p o r ta t io n a n d  a p p e lla te  la w  a fte r h is  c le rk s h ip  

a t th e  S u p re m e  C o u r t .xwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Whe n Clark wro te le tte rs o f re co m m e ndatio n 

fo r Pip kin’s s o n, Jam e s , to atte nd law s cho o l 

at Harvard, Yale , and the University of Vir ­

ginia, he acknowledged that he knew James 

from birth and regarded the Pipkins as “warm 

friends.”  These letters, though, contained one 

cavalier condition: “ I only add that my com­

plete confidence in him is best evidenced by 

the fact that I have offered him a clerkship 

here upon graduation.” 94 In this instance, who 

you knew really did matter. Which school 

Pipkin attended or how well he performed 

was incidental—Clark had already made his 

choice. Grades, in fact, were no longer rele­

vant. Pipkin’s father admitted that James was 

unsatisfied with his school work and not “ in 

the top group he’d been aiming for,” but, he 

continued, “This year his attitude is much bet­

ter, he is more mature, and he is working hard.

He was most encouraged with your statement 

that top grades were not a pre-requisite.” 95

Clark’s criteria for selecting law clerks had 

evolved dramatically from his early years on 

the Court. Before, certain schools merited dis­

tinction, making law review and being top of 

the class mattered, and even having prior clerk­

ing experience or staying two years seemed 

like good ideas. Then, Clark opened the doors 

of the Court to schools never before repre­

sented there and turned one of his positions 

into a contest (at least, temporarily). In the 

end, though, Clark began appeasing his close 

friends or his own conscience. He began pan­

dering, using his clerk selections as a bequethal 

for those who knew him best.

R etirem ent Y ears , 1967-1976

Clark’s ten years in retired status may best be 

remembered for serving on all of the Circuit 

Courts of Appeals (and the Court of Claims, 

the Court of Customs and Patent Appeals, as 

well as various district court assignments), 

where he authored more than 100 majority 

opinions, and for working on the improve­

ment of judicial administration. Typically, re­

tired Justices of this era received one law clerk 

(by 1970 activejustices had three),96 and these 

clerks were often rotated among the activejus­

tices as the need arose. For example, when the 

1974 Term began Chief Justice Burger indi­

cated in a memorandum to the Conference that 

Justices Stewart, White, and Blackmun all re­

quested an auxiliary clerk. Referring to retired 

Justice Reed’s clerk, David Becker, Burger 

planned to let them “divide the pie.”  The use of 

Clark’s clerk, William Hannay, the memo con­

tinued, was at Clark’s discretion. Since Clark 

preferred his clerks to remain in D.C. instead of 

traveling with him to his circuit court assign­

ments, he agreed to Hannay’s rotation: “ In my 

view it is most helpful to my Clerk to partici­

pate with and be part of  the others,... Mr. Han­

nay is anxious to cooperate in this regard.” 97

Clark did not hire a clerk for his sec­

ond Term in retirement, opting instead to
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hire an additio nal s e cre tary in lie u o f a law 

cle rk.98 The reasons for this were unclear, con­

sidering he hired Jerry Snider for the 1969 

Term six months before the 1968 Term be­

gan. According to Snider’s mother, Jerry was 

“greatly inspired”  by Clark’s offer.99 Undoubt­

edly, Snider’s hire depended upon his par­

ents’ friendship with Clark and the prospect 

of choosing another first-time school. These 

now familiar criteria were evident throughout 

Clark’s retirement, although at times they were 

difficult  to discern. For example, when Clark 

hired his first female clerk, Christy Carpenter, 

in January 1976, it might appear as though he 

wanted to open yet another door to broaden 

the clerk pool. But female clerks regularly ap­

peared at the Court since 1971; in fact, when 

Carpenter served there were four other female 

clerks working for active Justices. Clark’s de­

cision to offer Carpenter a job focused on a 

different factor: he knew her parents. “He had 

a habit of hiring people he knew,” Carpenter 
said, “He enjoyed spreading the wealth.” 100

This idea of “spreading the wealth,” or 

giving clerking opportunities to his bound­

less circle of friends, became the distin­

guishing feature of Clark’s retirement years. 

Tom Reavley and Tom Marten, who served 

within four years of each other, both benefited 

from their familial relationships to state and 

federal judges within Clark’s ambit of friends. 

Reavley’s father was a justice on the Supreme 

Court of Texas who asked his son to write to 

Clark about employment. Because clerking at 

the U.S. Supreme Court did not seem like a 

“ realistic prospect” due to his modest G.P.A. 

and absence of publications, Reavley had ap­

plied to and was hired by another federal judge. 

Prodded by his father, though, Reavley wrote, 

“ I realize it is late to be thinking of applying 

to the Court for next year... When I talked 

with Dad about getting in touch with you, 

he wanted me to know he hadn’t foisted the 

subject of my career plans upon the conversa­

tion during your visit. I think you must have 

a high opinion of him to initiate an interest in 

his offspring, sight unseen. I know he thinks a

great deal of you.”  Clark’s interest in Reavley 

prompted him to offer the job within a week 

of receiving Reavley’s application. No other 

candidates were seriously considered.101

At first glance, Tom Marten seemed to 

fulfill  Clark’s desire to hire from a first-time 

school, but there is no indication that Clark 

considered Washburn University of Kansas in 

his hiring decision. By 1976, other Justices had 

already opened the Court to more new schools 

than Clark had on his own, so that commitment 

was no longer relevant. Instead, Marten’s rela­

tionship to Delmas “Buzz” Hill, a judge on 

the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals, got him 

the job (Hill  was his great uncle). From 1971 

to 1975, Clark and Hill  sat together on ap­

pellate panels for about thirty different cases; 

in one 1975 decision, Clark’s majority opin­

ion elicited this response: “You certainly did a 

great job on this case. It was complicated fac­

tually and difficult  for me. We truly appreciate 

your help and guidance.” 102 Ina 1977 tribute to 

Hill,  Clark described their “warm and reward­

ing friendship of some forty years,” saying, 

“Buzz and I have fought the battles of poli­

tics, of government and of the judicial system; 

and I do not recall any time when our views 

did not prevail.” 103 Clark hired Marten largely 

because of his family ties to Judge Hill;  oth­

erwise, Marten’s academic record (like several 

others) was unimpressive. One Washburn pro­

fessor even tried to exculpate Marten’s lack­

luster standing because Marten had to work 

outside school to pay for his classes.104

One of the most remarkable hires Clark 

made in retirement went to Stafford Hutchin­

son, whose father, Everett, was an Interstate 

Commerce commissioner and longtime friend 

of Clark with a home in Austin. Long before 

completing his undergraduate work at Har­

vard and law training at UT, fourteen-year- 

old Stafford received his Eagle Scout award 

in the Chambers of Justice Clark, who was 

himself a lifelong supporter of Scouting and 

one of the first recipients of an Eagle Scout 

award. Clark’s relationship with the Hutchin- 

sons was so close that he offered Stafford
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a cle rk p o s itio n as a TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAh ig h sch o o l gradu a­

tion gift, and Stafford replied enthusiastically, 

“Without a doubt your job offer is the dream of 

all prospective young lawyers. I will  say now it 

is a deal if  I decide on law and if  I do well.” 105 

This remarkable offer was made three years 

before Clark’s retirement; he had just started 

choosing P.A.D. finalists; and his most egre­

gious choices of the 1966 Term were still a 

year away. In Hutchinson’s last year of law 

school, he wrote Clark, “ You may recall that 

seven years ago in 1964 when I graduated from 

the Landon School in Washington, you wrote 

me a nice note saying someday, if  I decided 

to go to law school, I might begin my legal 

career by serving as your clerk.” Hutchinson 

planned to be in D.C. and wanted to “discuss 

the possibilities of a clerkship with you.” 106 

Clark readily agreed to meet Hutchinson, and 

he did fulfill  his seven-year-old pledge, but 
Hutchinson had to wait one year before taking 

the position because Clark had also promised 

it to Tom Reavley.107

As a retired Justice, Clark maintained a 

strenuous schedule, sitting annually for about 

a dozen appellate sessions all over the country. 

The 1973 Term was especially burdensome: in 

November, the Supreme Court assigned him 

to serve as Special Master in a water bound­

ary dispute between Maine and New Hamp­

shire; in June, he drafted his majority opinion 

in a significant housing segregation case;108 

and by August he was recovering from gall 

bladder surgery.109 The volume of cases be­

came so unmanageable that his 1974 clerk, 

William Hannay, urged him to hire a second 

clerk, which eventually led to Christy Carpen­

terjoining Tom Corrigan midway through the 

1975 Term. There may have been other rea­

sons, though, for Clark to request a second 

clerk; one of his hires for the 1976 Term, Tom 

Hughes, got the job only after his father ac­

cused Clark of breaking a promise.

Clark’s close relationship with the Hughes 

family was evident from his numerous letters 

of recommendation to get “Tommy,” as he 

was known, into law school, including letters

to UT, Virginia, and Southern Methodist (the 

only school to accept him). Instead, Tommy 

taught history in Australia and Virginia for two 

years before applying for law school a second 

time, and Clark obliged with a letter of rec­

ommendation to the College of William and 

Mary. Concerned that his son might fail to be 

accepted there, Tommy’s father (Thomas III)  

wrote Clark to learn his impression of a rel­

atively new law school at Hofstra University 

on Long Island; in 1968, one of Clark’s former 

clerks, Malachy Mahon, became the founding 

dean there.110 Tommy, it turned out, ended up 

attending Loyola University in New Orleans, 

where his grades were undistinguished.

When the time arrived to choose a clerk 

for the 1976 term from among 25 applicants 

(including three female students), Clark of­

fered the job to Tom Marten, and Tommy 

Hughes received the standardized letter of 

declination. Outraged, Tommy’s father wrote 

Clark:

Through all these years, I always 

believed in you and honestly be­

lieved we had a gentlemen’s agree­

ment when you initiated the idea 

several years ago of having Tommy 

as your law clerk when he finished 

law school. When I spoke to you in 

August if  your intention was for real 

and you responded in the affirmative,

I feel that you should have leveled 

with me at that time that you had 

someone else lined up for the posi­

tion. In this way, you could have pre­

vented a great disappointment.111

Attempting to salvage the situation, Clark sent 

Tommy a handwritten letter, explaining how, 

since his retirement, he was allowed only one 

clerk, and he tried to choose them early to get 

the top students. He really needed two clerks 

and intended to hire a second, but he failed 

to mention that to Tommy’s father or to his 

own secretary, who assumed he needed only 

one.112 As incredulous as this appeared, Clark 

was planning to hire two clerks but forgot to
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te ll anyo ne . To m m y, it s e e m e d, was his s e co nd 

cho ice . This rathe r we ak e xp lanatio n m o lli­

fied Tommy, who accepted Clark’s offer. One 

month later, Chief Justice Burger authorized 

Clark to hire a second clerk.113 This paved the 

way for Christy Carpenter to serve the second 

half of the 1975 Term, but Tommy Hughes’s 

clerkship may have had as much to do with 

broken promises and recriminations as with 

heavy workloads.

C onclusion

In 2003, one of Clark’s former clerks, John 

Nolan, participated in an interview where he 

discussed a wide range of topics, including 

his military and government service and his 

law practice. Only two questions related to his 

Supreme Court clerkship: how did he get the 

job, and what was Justice Clark like? Rely­

ing on his memory of forty-seven years ear­

lier, Nolan described Clark as “a wonderful 

human being; a great person to be associ­

ated with.”  Some nine years earlier, Nolan ex­

pressed similar sentiments to Clark’s daugh­

ter in reply to her questionnaire: “With every­

one in his office, the relationship was close, 

confidential, and mutually supporting. With 

his law clerks especially he was more open 

and candid than any other Justice.” In both 

accounts, Nolan emphasized Clark’s willing ­

ness to share Conference discussions with his 

clerks.114

Just a few months after his clerkship 

ended, John Nolan composed a letter of grati­

tude for Justice Clark. In it he mentioned sev­

eral of Clark’s characteristics that made a last­

ing impression on him:

I suppose I appreciated most the trust 

that you seemed to place in me from 

the very beginning and the responsi­

bility  that went with it. I appreciated 

never being crowded or pushed by 

you, never being told to be careful, 

never being cautioned or told to hurry 

up, no matter how concerned you may 

have been about what we were work­

ing on. I always had the feeling that 

you were waiting to approve good 

work or correct with a sure touch 

that which was not so good. I appre­

ciated your consistent good humor, 

your frankness, and particularly the 

calm assurance with which you met 

everything that looked like a crisis to 

me.115

This heartfelt expression of gratitude, written 

so soon after leaving Clark’s service, in no way 

diminished Nolan’s later recollections, but it 

does offer a more intimate look at his affection.

Similarly, Shannon Ratliff, who served 

with Clark a decade after Nolan, wrote Clark 

at the end of their year together:

I will  never be able to tell you how 

much my year with you meant. There 

is no question that the experience will  

one day stand me in good stead in 

the practice of law. However, it is my 

present belief that perhaps the most 

meaningful portion of my year there 

was to watch a man in high public 

office wear his robes with such com­

plete dignity and humility. In working 

with you I hope I contracted some of 

those characteristics.116

Clark’s clerks were steadfast in their de­

votion to him, as evidenced by their refusal 

to assist Howard Ball with his dissertation 

following Clark’s retirement. In 1974, at the 

25th anniversary of Clark’s Court appointment, 

all but two of his former clerks were on hand 

to help him celebrate.

Composed of thirteen first-time schools, 

fourteen Texans, one female, one draftee, and 

the children of numerous personal or profes­

sional friends, Clark’s law clerks were, in­

deed, an eclectic collection of talent and back­

grounds. Their own accomplishments were 

as varied as their law schools. What brought 

them together were Clark’s inconstant selec­

tion criteria, which underwent several alter­

ations throughout his tenure as a Justice. Intent 

on opening the Court to new schools, Clark
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s o u ght to “spread the wealth,”  but his munifi­

cence, at times, may have spread it too thinly.
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a t th e U n ite d  S ta te s S u p r e m e C o u r t  (New York Uni­

versity Press, 2006). Several of the same clerks who 

responded to Gronlund cooperated with Peppers. Ward 
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Rutledge’s other clerk, Keith Mann, did go to work for 

Justice Minton.
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January 10, 1970, 31.
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some hiring decisions to former clerks. See also Peppers, 

C o u r t ie r s , 102-47, and Ward &  Weiden, 63.

33 Clark to Sturges, December 16, 1950, Clark to Thayer, 
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35Peppers, C o u r t ie r s , 1 3 1 .
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38Williams to Clark, undated (circa December 1950), and 
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consider a University of Virginia student who Williams 

strongly recommended. Williams to Clark, August 2, 

1957.

39Memorandum, Alice O’Donnell to Clark, undated (circa 

1964). Temple served as executive assistant to Texas Gov­

ernor John Connally (1963-67), and as special counsel to 

President Lyndon Johnson (1967-69), and was featured in 

U .S . N ew s a n d W o rld R ep o r t, February 5, 1968. 

40Hamilton to Clark, October 20, 1970, Keeton to Clark, 

October 29, 1970, and November 5, 1970, and Ashworth 

to Clark, January 11, 1971. Five years earlier, Hamilton 

recommended another UT student, Stephen Susman, who 

went to Justice Black after serving one year as a clerk on 

the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeal. Hamilton later became 

the Minerva House Drysdale Regents Chair Emeritus.

41 Hughes’s letter of application, August 2,1951, and Clark 

to Robert Clark, August 3, 1951.

42Bernard Weisberg, who had already served one year in 

the military, may be best known as former counsel to the 

ACLU who filed an amicus brief in E sco b ed o v. I l l in o is , 

378 U.S. 478(1964).

43Craig Smith, “Strained Relations: Charles Whittaker 

and his law clerks,”  in B e h in d  th e B e n c h (forthcoming). 

Neither Peppers, C o u r t ie r s , nor Ward &  Weiden examine 

the draft status or deferment requests of law clerks during 

this time period.

44Clark to Hamilton, April  7, 1955.

45 Selective Service memorandum, December 1965, and 

Clark to Phil Neal, October 14, 1965.

46Clark to Freeman, February 20, 1965.

47Harrington to Clark, February 14, 1967, and Clark to 

Harrington, March 22, 1967. In June, Harrington’s ap­

plication was forwarded to Clark’s replacement, Solicitor 

General Thurgood Marshall, who did not hire Harrington. 

Those clerks with prior military experience included: 

Frederick Rowe (three years); Ellis McKay (seven years); 

and Malachy Mahon (two years). Kenneth Jones was not 

subject to the draft due to a physical defect, although he 

joined the Air  Force after clerking for Clark. When Jones 

developed a condition called “bronchiectasis,”  Clark con­

tacted the Mayo Clinic for advice. Clark to Dr. Madred 

Comfort, May 24, 1956.

48Clark to Nichols, December 22, 1966.

49Clark to Judge Charles Vogel, Eighth Circuit Court of 

Appeal, December 10, 1959.

50Clark to Turner, January 31, 1959, and Turner to Clark, 

February 4, 1959. Turner received a doctorate in eco­

nomics from Harvard before his law degree from Yale, 

and his A n t i t r u s t  P o lic y  (with Carl Kaysen) was regarded 

as a classic in its field.
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5lClark to Harry Shulman, March 18, 1955. James 

Harrington’s father apparently also worked with Clark in 

the Department of Justice.

52 Sanderson was formerly married to Texas Senator 

Morris Sheppard, who died in 1941 and from whom 

Richard Sheppard Arnold derives his middle name. 

Thomas Connally was a widower as well when he married 

Sanderson.

53 Sanderson to Frankfurter, November 12, 1959, and 

Clark to Morris Ernst, November 17, 1959.

54Arnold, who graduated first in his class at both Yale 

and Harvard, became a judge on the U.S. District Court in 

Arkansas and later a judge on the Eighth Circuit Court of 

Appeals. Other popularly known judges and legal scholars 

who applied to Clark but were not hired by him include 

Robert H. Bork, former judge of the Court of Appeals 

for D.C. and Supreme Court nominee (1953); Norman 

Dorsen, a New York University law professor and scholar 

(1956, clerked for Harlan in 1957); Alan Dershowitz, 

a Harvard law professor and scholar (1962, Goldberg); 

A. E. Dick Howard, a University of Virginia law pro­

fessor and scholar (1962, Black 1962-63); Laurence H. 

Tribe, another Harvard law professor and scholar (1967, 

Stewart); and Kenneth W. Starr, former judge of the Court 

of Appeals for D.C. and Solicitor General, perhaps best 

known as independent counsel in the investigations of 

President Bill  Clinton (1973, Burger 1975-76).

55Clark to Joe Estes, November 25, 1959, Joe Estes 

to Clark, December 2, 1959, and Clark to Joe Estes, 

December 3, 1959.

56Clark to Levi, February 7, 1953.

57L.C.D., TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAsu p ra note 19. This and subsequent analysis 

of the L.C.D. used only the 1920 to 1976 Terms. Based 

on these years, the numbers of placements in descend­

ing order were Harvard, 266; Yale, 127; Columbia, 57; 

Michigan, 38; Chicago, 35; and Pennsylvania, 33.

58Clark to Erwin Griswold, March 17, 1955; Clark to 

Harry Shulman, March 18, 1955; and Clark to Louis 

Schwartz, March 18, 1955. Georgetown seemed like a 

relatively new school at the time because Justice Reed 

had used it once in 1953 and again in 1955. Before that 

Georgetown had not sent a clerk to the Court since before 

1920. See Peppers, C o u r t ie r s , 25.

59Nolan interview, W a sh in g to n L a w yer , D.C. Bar, 

“Legends in the Law,” http://www.dcbar.org/for_ 

lawyers/resources/legends_in_the_law/nolan.cfm. Clark’s 

law clerk application files reveal a number of applicants 

who applied to him but were hired by other Justices, 

including Robert Cole (1955, Minton), Manley Hudson 

(1956, Reed), Henry Sailer (1958, Harlan), and Ken Dam 

(1957, Whittaker); see also su p ra notes 26, 40, and 54. 

60Murrah to Clark, November 7, 1960. The Oklahoma 

City federal building bombed on April 19, 1995, was 

named for his father, a federal judge who served three 

years on the district bench and 35 years on the Court of

Appeals. Judge Murrah was the second director of the 

Federal Judicial Center, established by Congress in 1967, 

following Tom Clark.

61Clark to Tollefson, November 19, 1960.

62Quoted in Ward & Weiden, 71. Gronlund noted that 

Clark desired “broader representation”  on the Court be­

cause he had “had his share of Harvard, P r in ce to n , and 

Yale graduates,”  so “he also selected from lesser-known 

law schools,”  213 [emphasis added]. Two of Clark’s clerks, 

James Pipkin and Larry Nichols, attended Princeton as un­

dergraduates, but Princeton does not have a law school. 

For a relevant derogation of this popular misconception, 

see the comment of John Sexton, dean of NYU law 

school: “ If  they were asked about Princeton Law School, 

it would appear on the top 20—but it doesn’t exist,”  in Jan 

Hoffman, “Judge Not, Law Schools Demand of a Mag­

azine that Ranks Them,”  N ew Y o rk T im es, February 19, 

1998. Likewise, Texas A  &  M  does not have a law school, 

but the L.C.D. listed Charles Reed as attending there in­

stead of South Texas College of Law.

63 Ward &  Weiden used Douglas as an example of a Justice 

who “consciously tried to diversify the pool”  of clerks, 75- 

76; yet, Douglas hired from a third the number of schools 

as Clark. Similarly, they used Warren to exemplify a Jus­

tice who strove “ for diversity in school representation,”  

71; however, none of the seventen schools he used were 

first-time schools.

64Clark to Rostow, December 16, 1958.

65Clark to Kaufman, June 6, 1963.

66O’Donnell to Eugene Ruf, June 12, 1963. Clark’s com­

mitment to never using the same school in the same year 

found in Clark to Robert Bell, May 18, 1960. 

67Memoranda, O’Donnell to Clark, August 6, 1964, and 

undated [fall 1964], The 100 plus estimate comes from 

Clark to Phil Neal, October 14, 1965. According to Ward 

& Weiden, Black received thirty-six applicants in 1964 

and sixty in 1968 while Harlan received fifty  in 1970, 57. 

68Clark to Farley, November 20, 1961.

69In 1958, Brown was ranked tenth overall in number 

and total yards for punts, but his passing record, com­

pared to Unitas, was dismal. Comparing salaries, Brown 

ended his NFL career earning $12,000 a season, but a 

clerk at the time earned around $6,500. Peppers notes 

that Justice Byron White was another NFL veteran who 

clerked at the Court (1946), although White’s football ca­

reer was far better known than Brown’s, C o u r t ie r s , 138— 

39.

70Clark to J. Lee Rankin, November 16,1964. Powell con­

sidered clerking a “sound decision”  and advised Maupin 

to accept the offer. Once Maupin began his service, Powell, 

then president of the American Bar Association, wrote to 

Clark regarding Maupin’s prospects at the firm: “He made 

a fine impression here, and we have offered him a position 

when he leaves your clerkship next summer. I wanted you 

to know about this in the event Mike should ask you for
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advice abo u t his fu tu re .”  Powell to Clark, December 1963, 

and September 30, 1964.

71 Memoranda, O’Donnell to Clark, October 1963, and 

January 5, 1964. Ratliff ’s application for federal employ­

ment indicates Walter Jenkins, assistant to President John­

son, as a reference. Jenkins, who worked with Johnson for 

25 years, was considered by some to be one of the best 

modern political aides until he was forced to resign due to 

sexual indiscretion in October, 1964.

72Clark to Harold G. Reuschlein, March 17, 1961.

73Clark to Wright, October 29, 1962.

74Clark to Elden Magaw, February 26, 1966, and Donald 

Moore to Clark, March 8, 1965.

75Clark to Charlie Francis, October 24, 1964.

76 Clark to Amandes, November 3, 1965. [Emphasis 

added.]

77Magaw to Clark, February 15, 1966.

78Clark to Robert Lee Anderson, February 26, 1966. 

79Clark to Magaw, February 26, 1966.

80Arthur S. Miller  to Clark, December 14, 1965.

81The TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW a sh in g to n P o st P o to m a c , June 11, 1967, claimed 

that Ross and Margaret Corcoran were both “highly capa­

ble.”  For Black’s difficulties with Corcoran, see Peppers, 

su p ra note 30. Another politically motivated appointment 

most likely went to Max Truitt, whose father was married 

to the daughter of former Vice President Alben Barkley. 

Seven years before hiring Truitt, Clark wrote a letter of 

recommendation for Truitt’s brother, Thomas, to enter a 

private academy.

82Marshall Groce to Clark, April 19, 1965.

83Marshall Groce to Alice O’Donnell, December 13,1965 

84Josh Groce to Clark, April 19, 1965, and May 3, 1965. 

85Clark to Marshall Groce, April  26, 1965.

86Marshall Groce to Clark, October 19, 1965.

87Clark to Marshall Groce, December 20, 1965. Accord­

ing to the State Bar of Texas, in 2000 Groce accepted a 

three-year, fully-probated suspension for expending the 

estates of both of his parents without their consent.

88Magaw to Clark, February 15, 1966.

89Frederick Weitkamp to Clark, March 7,1966, and Clark 

to Weitkamp, March 12, 1966.

90Handwritten note on letter from Charles Digangi to 

Clark, September 15, 1966.

91Clark to Allan Smith, dean, February 21, 1964.

92Clark to John Nichols, May 13, 1966. In 1971, Larry 

Nichols cofounded Devon Energy, an oil and natural gas 

company, with his father. He has served as Devon’s CEO 

since 1980 and was president from 1976 until 2003.

93Pipkin to Clark, October 26, 1949, and Clark to Pipkin, 

October 29, 1949.

94Clark’s letters of recommendation for James Pipkin, Jr., 

March 21, 1960.

95Pipkin, Sr., to Clark, October 13, 1962.

96During Clark’s retirement, Chief Justice Warren had a 

clerk from 1970-73 (two in 1970) and Justice Reed had 

one from 1959-76 (two in 1970).

’ ’Memorandum to the Conference, October 29,1974, and 

Clark to Burger, October 29, 1974. Clark’s policy of not 

taking his clerks with him on assignment found in Hannay 

to Clark December 5, 1973, and confirmed in Carpen­

ter interview, September 22, 2009. One of Clark’s clerks, 

Theodore Garret, spent enough time assisting Chief Jus­

tice Burger that his vitae at Covington &  Burling lists only 

that experience. See http://www.cov.com/tgarrett/.

98Clark to William Barnes, personnel, October 12, 1968. 

"Kathy May Snider to Clark, April  29, 1968. 

'"Carpenter interview. Carpenter’s mother, Liz, was the 

executive assistant to Vice President Lyndon Johnson and 

later became the press secretary to First Lady Johnson. 

Carpenter may not have been the first woman Clark of­

fered a clerkship; in a March 1970 note to four-month-old 

Christine Lane, he wrote, “Have you noticed how sweet 

and beautiful your Mother is [Patty McMahon] and along 

with it talented too. One day I offered her a job as a law 

clerk but she was smart enough to choose your dad. And 

what a wise decision. And then she chose to have you.”  

""Torn W. Reavley to Clark, November 6, 1971, Clark 

to Tom W. Reavley, November 12, 1971, and Thomas M. 

Reavley (father) to Clark, November 22, 1971.

102Hill  to Clark, July 18, 1975. The case was U .S . F id e lity 

&  G u a ra n ty v . S id w e ll, 525 F.2d472 (1975). Hill ’s flattery 

may have been overblown; his Tenth Circuit colleague, 

James Barrett, wrote, “ I marvel at your ability to ‘di­

gest’ and so succinctly express yourself with such imme­

diacy!”  All  this because Clark finished his draft opinion in 

a week.

103Clark’s tribute to Delmas Hill,  May 1977. In 1951, Hill  

was one of a three-judge district court panel to first decide 

B ro w n v . B o a rd o f E d u ca tio n .

104Roy Bartlett to Clark, August 25,1975. In 1996, Marten 

became a federal judge for the U.S. District Court of 

Kansas.

'"Hutchinson to Clark, June 8, 1964.

'"Hutchinson to Clark, September 20, 1971.

107On December 5, 1971, Hutchinson wrote to Clark, “ I 

certainly understand the situation and really I am de­

lighted that Tom will  have the opportunity to clerk for 

you next fall. It was the fair thing to do. I am very 

happy about you offering me the position for the following 

year.”

m  G a u trea u x v. C h ica g o H o u sin g A u th o r ity , 503 F. 2d 

930 (1974). In April, 1975, Clark received a note from 

his clerk, William Hannay, that read, “ I have just seen 

the news report of the [Supreme] Court’s 8-0 decision in 

H ills v. G a u trea u x and am delighted that your view has 

been vindicated.... Your opinion for the CA7 really drew 

attention to the crucial policy issue at stake here—getting 

at the root of the ignorant discrimination by striking at 

segregated housing patterns and thus counteracting ‘white 

flight.’ ”

109See John Paul Stevens, circuit judge, to Clark, Septem­

ber 30, 1974.
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110Mahon became the Siggi B. Wilzig Distinguished Pro­

fessor of Banking Law at Hofstra. Two other former clerks, 

both deceased, also had careers in academia: John Kaplan 

taught at Stanford as the Jackson Eli Reynolds Profes­

sor, and William Kenneth Jones taught at Columbia for 

forty-two years as the Charles Evans Hughes Professor of 

Law.

" ’Hughes, Sr., to Clark, October 16, 1975.

112Clark to Hughes, Jr., October 27, 1975.

113Burgerto William Foley, December 8, 1975. 

l,4Quoted in Gronlund, 214. See Nolan interview, TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAsu p ra 

note 59. Nolan also participated in Peppers’ project, 

C o u r t ie r s , 139-41.

ll5Nolan to Clark, September 10, 1956.

” 6Ratliffto Clark, July 12, 1965.
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Whe n the Su p re m e Co u rt o p e ne d its 2010 

Term on October 4, the Justices sat with their 

newest colleague, Elena Kagan. As the 112th 

Justice, she had been named at age 50 by Pres­

ident Barack Obama on May 10 to fill  the seat 

vacated by retiring Justice John Paul Stevens. 

As the first Solicitor General to be elevated to 

the Court since Justice Thurgood Marshall, for 

whom she had clerked, this native New Yorker 

and former dean of Harvard Law School was 

the first nominee in thirty-eight years to reach 

the High Court with no experience as a judge. 

Educated at Princeton University and Harvard 

Law School, she was associate counsel in the 

Clinton White House following two years in 

private practice and was on the short list in 

2009 for the seat that became Justice Sonia 

Sotomayor’s. Four days of hearings in the Sen­

ate Committee on the Judiciary preceded a 

favorable committee vote (13-6) on July 20. 

After three days of debate, the full  Senate con­

firmed the nominee 63-37 on August 5, with 

the oaths then administered by Chief Justice 

John Roberts at the Court on the same day.

With Justice Kagan’s arrival, the Court 

was approaching a noteworthy date: the 210th 

anniversary of John Marshall’s appointment as 

Chief Justice in January 1801.

Among those who follow the work of the 

Supreme Court, it has long been textbook po­

litical science that American elections have 

constitutional consequences, just as it is true 

that decisions by the Court interpreting the 

Constitution and statutes can have electoral 

consequences. A strikingly clear illustration 

of the first half of that statement was made 

plainly evident very early in American national 

history: in the election of 1796, the nation’s 

first truly competitive presidential election. In 

that sometimes forgotten contest, John Adams, 

who had served as George Washington’s Vice 

President, received 71 electoral votes to 68 for 

Thomas Jefferson, who for a time had been 

Washington’s Secretary of State. Adams’s vic­

tory proved to be particularly significant when 

viewed in the light of another political real­

ity: the impact of timing on subsequent events. 

With respect to John Marshall and the Supreme 

Court, timing seems critical in at least two re­

spects.

First, in August 1798, Justice James Wil ­

son died. Although he was one of Washing­

ton’s original appointees to the Court, his 

departure hardly created the first vacancy 

therein, for in the decade of the 1790s, ju­

dicial vacancies seemed more the rule than
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the e xce p tio n. Bu t his de p artu re did m ark the 

firs t de ath o f a Ju s tice in harne s s . To fill  Wil­

son’s place, President Adams offered the seat 

to John Marshall of Virginia, who had recently 

returned to the United States from a diplo­

matic mission to France. Marshall, whose ju­

dicial experience at that point was limited to 

his time as recorder of the Richmond City 

Hustings Court in 1785-81,’ was reluctant to 

abandon his lucrative law practice in Rich­

mond, and he declined. Adams then turned 

to Washington’s nephew Bushrod Washington, 

also of Virginia, who accepted.2 Had Marshall 

accepted the nomination for Wilson’s seat, it 

seems arguable, if  not probable, as subsequent 

events suggest, that he might never have be­

come Chief Justice.

That possibility presented itself only after 

a second critical example of timing. In early 

December 1800, President Adams received 

word from Chief Justice Oliver Ellsworth— 

then in France on a diplomatic mission and in 

poor health3 —that he was resigning as Chief 

Justice.4 By January 1801, filling  this vacancy 

became urgent. In those pre-Twelfth Amend­

ment days, the Electoral College had yielded 

a tie vote between Jefferson and Aaron Burr, 

which, as the matter developed, would not be 

resolved by the House of Representatives until 

February. Adams thus did not know who the 

next President would be, only that he would 

not be President after March 4. The electoral 

situation thus counseled against any delay in 

replacing Ellsworth.

On December 18, the President picked 

former Chief Justice John Jay for the post, 

and the lame-duck Federalist-controlled Sen­

ate confirmed the appointment on December 

19.5 However, Jay, who had left the Chief 

Justiceship in 1795, declined to accept, cit­

ing deficiencies in the judicial system (partly 

the onerous circuit-riding duties that, ironi­

cally, the Judiciary Act was about to address, 

if  only temporarily). Some advised Adams 

to appoint former Representative Samuel Sit- 

greaves of Pennsylvania, while others urged 

that the nod go to a staunch Federalist such 

as William Paterson, who was the most senior

Associate Justice, or to Charles Cotesworth 

Pinckney of South Carolina, who had been 

the Federalist candidate for Vice President in 

1800. Instead, on January 20 and with mini­

mal consultation, Adams turned to his 45-year- 

old Secretary of State, John Marshall, who 

was Jefferson’s second cousin once removed 

and to whom Adams’s successor once referred 

as “ that gloomy malignity.” 6 Confirmation by 

the Senate followed on January 27, 1801 and 

Marshall received his commission on January 

31. The national government had moved from 

Philadelphia to Washington in the fall of 1800, 

so Marshall was Chief Justice when the Court 

met for the first time in the new capital on 

February 4.7 Marshall’s appointment to the 

Court thus owes much not only to Jay’s disin­

clination to return to his former post, but also 

to the election of 1796. Had the voting been 

the other way around, it seems inconceivable 

that a President Jefferson in place of a Pres­

ident Adams would have chosen Marshall as 

Ellsworth’s successor.

Marshall’s impact on American constitu­

tional law and on the Supreme Court as an 

institution has been widely acknowledged and 

documented. What is sometimes overlooked, 

however, is the link  between Marshall’s tenure 

and an important question for democratic pol­

itics not just in Marshall’s day but in our own: 

Why are some countries long on freedom and 

others short? While many factors and condi­

tions incline societies toward one and away 

from the other, two essential elements stand 

out: limited government and rule of law. The 

first stands for the proposition that there are 

certain policies and practices that government 

may not pursue, just as the second codifies 

those restraints independent of those who ad­

minister them and lodges them with an insti­

tutional guardian. The first places some ob­

jectives out of reach, and the second sets the 

ruler apart from the rules. King Louis XIV ’s 

reputed boast “L ’etat, c’est moi” 8 is as alien 

to both as it is subversive thereof.

Accordingly, in the U.S. system, limited 

government and rule of law manifest them­

selves in the U.S. Constitution and in the judi-
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ciary, p articu lar ly the Su p re m e Co u rt. The ju­

diciary is an arm of the national government, 

to be sure, but, thanks to the Constitution, it 

is sufficiently independent of the Congress 

and the presidency to qualify as one of the 

devices that “oblige [government] to control 

itself.” 9 Indeed, one of the identifying trade­

marks of U.S. government is the long-standing 

association between the Justices and the Con­

stitution. Even by the early nineteenth century, 

one could say little about one without men­

tioning the other. Were the judiciary not the 

custodian of constitutional limitations, as the 

Court has long insisted, limited government 

might be more form than substance. Popu­

lar sovereignty left unchecked by the courts 

would, in Marshall’s words, “subvert the very 

foundations of all written constitutions” and 

“ reduce to nothing, what we have deemed the 

greatest improvement on political institutions, 

a written constitution.” 10

These words were a commanding charge 

not only to Marshall’s Bench but also to those 

Justices who followed. Because the Consti­

tution deals with fundamental subjects such

as grants of power, limits on power, and who 

shall govern, and because the Court since Mar­

shall’s day has continued to take seriously its 

guardianship of the Constitution, the Supreme 

Court matters politically. The result has, quite 

understandably, been a literature that is im­

pressive not merely for its volume, but for the 

variety of methods, perspectives, and themes 

that writers have chosen in order to convey the 

Court to the public at large. Each of the books 

surveyed here represents one or a combination 

of such approaches. All  allow readers to see 

the members of a richly textured institution 

and what they do.
Many of Marshall’s accomplishments dur­

ing his thirty-four-year tenure on the Supreme 

Court find recognition in S h a p in g A m e r ic a ,1 1 

a compact and readable history of the Supreme 

Court by attorney Edward E Mannino, who 

has taught legal history at both Temple Uni­

versity and the University of Pennsylvania. 

At the outset, the author promises “a detailed 

study of important decisions, examining both 

what the justices who decided them said in the 

texts of their opinions as well as the underlying
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co nte xts in which the y we re de cide d by s p e­

cific  justices who were products of their times 
and political cultures.” 12 He makes clear the 

foundational point of why study of the Court 

is important: “The influence of the Supreme 

Court on our daily life is pervasive.... That all 

this power could be exercised... would have 

shocked most of the founders.” 13

To tell his story, Mannino adopts an or­

ganization for his book that departs from the 

conventional. He chooses not to structure the 

book around periods defined by one or more 

Chief Justices, or to use a single event such as 

the Constitutional Revolution of 1937 as a wa­

tershed or divide between an “old” or “new”  

Court. Nor does he develop his material en­

tirely topically. Rather, he builds an amalgam 

from a division of the Court’s history into three 

parts. Part one traces institutional development 

and cases from the founding to the outbreak of 

the Civil War. In those years, “ the Supreme 

Court sought to build federal power and en­

courage the growth of commerce under Chief 

Justices John Marshall and Roger Taney. It 

crippled itself institutionally... by embracing 

a national ‘solution’ for the problem of slav­

ery.” 14 Part two encompasses the vast expanse 

between the Civil War and 1960 at the height 

of the Cold War. Those years “began as a pe­

riod of relative passivity, in which the Court 

regularly limited federal and state regulation 

of all forms of commercial activity.... As 

the New Deal took hold politically..., the 

pendulum swung toward upholding expansive 

federal regulation across the entire economy, 

coupled with a mixed record for protecting 

civil  liberties.” 15 Part three reaches from about 

1960 to the present day. This segment began 

with “Court-endorsed and Court-enforced fed­

eral regulation, during which the powers of all 

branches of the federal government became 

paramount across a broad spectrum of daily ac­

tivities, threatening the dual sovereignty con­

cept underlying earlier visions of American 

society.” This trend reached a “critical mass 

in the 1990s, [as] the Supreme Court began a 

partial retreat from federal supremacy in favor

of a new, but limited, federalism.” 16 The key 

word in the author’s description of part three 

is “partial.” Hopes that the Rehnquist Court 

would “overturn the Revolution of 1937 and 

harpoon once and for all the dreaded decision 

in TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW icka rd v . F ilb u rn  ... were dealt a shatter­

ing blow in G o n za les v . R a ich ... where six 

members of the Court held that the Federal 

Controlled Substances Act was a valid enact­

ment under the commerce clause and could be 

used to prohibit the use of home-grown mar­

ijuana for personal medical purposes” even 

where such use was permitted by state law. 

In effect, he writes, “marijuana saved the New 
Deal.” 17

At a different level, each of these parts 

is divided into a series of chapters and then 

even further into what might be labeled sub­

chapters, or subunits. For example, part one 

consists of three such divisions: “Building 

Federal Power,”  “The Supreme Court and the 

Slave Power,” and “Making the Nation Safe 

for Commerce: The Supreme Court and Eco­

nomic Development.” The first of these in 

turn contains six subunits: “Building Fed­

eral Power,” “Treason and the Tax Collec­

tor,”  “ Judging Sovereign States,”  “ Invalidating 

State Legislation,”  Declaring Federal Judicial 

Supremacy,” and “ Expanding the Reach of 

the Federal Government.”  The subunits are in 

reality very short stand-alone essays.

This array thus yields a volume that con­

veniently treats several cases and then links 

them to a broader theme across time. For ex­

ample, as illustrations of  the growth of national 

power, the early commerce clause case of G ib­

b o n s v. O g d enl& is briefly explored within 

just a few pages of the fugitive slave cases 

of P r ig g v. P en n sy lva n ia 2̂ and A b lem a n v . 

B o o th .2 0 Readers find that they are then only 

a short hop away from U n ited S ta tes v. C ru ik - 

sh a n k2 X the C iv il  R ig h ts C a ses,2 2 and P lessy 

v. F erg u so n2 2 It was C ru iksh a n k in which the 

Court reversed convictions under the Enforce­

ment Act of 1870 of two of the perpetrators of 

the Colfax massacre, in which, on Easter Sun­

day, 1873, a mob in Louisiana killed over 100
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Afr ican Am e ricans .24 In the Court’s view, the 

indictments were defective because they “did 

not charge that the mass murders were done 

with the intent to deprive the victims of a con­

stitutionally protected right because of their 

race.”  “ In what surely must rank with the un­

derstatements of all time in a Supreme Court 

opinion,” continues Mannino, “Chief Justice 

Waite observed that ‘we may suspect that race 

was the cause of the hostility; but it is not 

so averred.’ ” 25 The author concludes this sub­

unit with a telling observation by W. E. B. 

Dubois: “The slave went free, stood a brief mo­

ment in the sun, then moved back again toward 

slavery.” 26

Regardless of the period, Mannino be­

lieves, the Court’s decisions have “generally 

reflected a confluence of three factors that 

interacted in different ways.” First were the 

appointments made to the Court, including 

individuals the author considers “dominating 

justices.” Second was “ the influence of the 

dominant political cultures of the respective 

times.”  Last were the “general attitudes of the 

general public on specific issues that captured 

[the Court’s] attention at various times.” 27 The 

first of these factors can hardly be disputed. 

What was true in Marshall’s time remains true 

two centuries later: “ the appointment of spe­

cific new justices to the Court can be a sig­

nificant catalyst to changes or refinements in 

doctrine.” 28 The term “political culture”  draws 

more from political science than from history 

and law and generally refers to the collective 

political psychology of a country, or, in one 

standard definition, “a learned pattern of be­

havior that tends to govern individual lifestyle, 

beliefs, customs, and values.” 29 Thus, in Man­

nino’s application of the concept, the Court’s 

“evisceration” of the Fourteenth Amendment 

during and shortly after Reconstruction “can 

be traced to widespread views held in the pre­

dominating political culture. Thus the free la­

bor philosophy of Abraham Lincoln and the 

dominant nineteenth century Republican Party 

held that equality was guaranteed only in legal 

treatment of the races but did not extend to the

social sphere because social equality had to be 

‘earned.’” 30

The second factor is sometimes not eas­

ily isolated from the third, however, in that 

the author uses the first of the Court’s two re­

cent rulings on the Second Amendment31 as 

an illustration while also reminding readers, 

in light of the intense unpopularity of some 

Supreme Court decisions, that he does not nec­

essarily align himself with the fictional Mr. 

Dooley’s assertion that “ the Supreme Court 
follows the election returns.” 32 What, then, is 

the Court to do when the Justices feel com­

pelled to act in situations where there is or 

might be a large negative opinion? “Cases such 

as TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB ro w n v. B o a rd o f E d u ca tio n , the school 

prayer cases, and B u sh v . G o re must either 

be avoided completely or decided when pre­

sented, even in the absence of public support 

for their outcome.... [T]he Court must ask 

whether and why a particular issue must be 

decided now or whether and why further pas­

sage of time will  assist the Court in reaching 

a judgment that will  receive greater public tol­

erance, if  not acceptance. In performing this 

calculus, however, the Court must not aban­

don a class of litigants to illegal discrimination 

or unfair treatment.... In selecting justices to 

serve on this court of last resort, the need for 

uncommon wisdom is paramount.” 33

“May you live in an interesting age” 34 is 

a variant of an ancient curse supposed to have 

been hurled at one’s enemies. Stripped of its 

hurtful implications, “ interesting age” might 

well describe nearly any segment of Supreme 

Court history. Certainly that could accurately 

be said of Thomas Campbell Clark’s years as 

Attorney General of the United States (1945— 

49) and his years on the Supreme Court (1949— 

67). More than four decades after his retire­

ment, Justice Clark is now the subject of  a thor­

oughly researched, readable, and sometimes 

revealing biography by his daughter Mimi  

Clark Gronlund, who was reference librarian 

for many years at the Alexandria campus of 

Northern Virginia Community College. With 

an expected emphasis on his Court service,
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compasses much of the Court during Chief 

Justice Fred Vinson’s tenure and almost all of 

the Warren Court years.

Together, those years do indeed qualify as 

an “ interesting age.”  As a transitional Bench,36 

the post-war Vinson Court followed the Con­

stitutional Revolution of 1937 by barely a 

decade. In contrast, Earl Warren’s tenure as 

Chief Justice from 1953 until 1969 proved to 

be one of the most active, dynamic, and re­

markable in American history. By one count, in 

the approximately 150 years before Warren’s 

appointment, the Court overruled eighty-eight 

of its precedents. In Warren’s sixteen years, it 

added another forty-five to that list.37 Hardly 

an aspect of life escaped its reach through 

landmark decisions on race discrimination, 

legislative districting, privacy, and the Bill  of 

Rights. With the possible exception of the Rev­

olution of 1937, never had so much constitu­

tional jurisprudence been upended, replaced, 

and reoriented in so short a time. The War­

ren Bench truly instigated its own revolution, 

American style, the thrust of which is still felt 

today.

Gronlund’s book, a project that apparently 

stretched over a twenty-five-year period and 

grew out of a master’s thesis she wrote at 

George Mason University, makes an impor­

tant contribution to the literature of the Court. 

Not only is it the first major book-length treat­

ment of Justice Clark,38 whom one scholar 

described as “ the most underrated Justice in 

recent history,” 39 but it also benefits from 

interviews she conducted with three of her 

father’s colleagues on the Court (Justices 

William  J. Brennan, Potter Stewart, and Byron 

White), and makes use of her father’s papers 

in the Truman Library, which cover his days 

at the Justice Department, as well as his Court 

papers, which are cataloged in the Tarlton Law 

Library at the University of Texas at Austin.

Clark’s opportunity for a career on the 

Court was occasioned by Justice Frank Mur­

phy’s death on July 19 at the age of fifty-nine. 

As Attorney General, Clark dutifully prepared

a list of names for President Harry Truman’s 

consideration, but Truman, apparently without 

consulting other advisers, had already made 

up his mind. A few days after Murphy’s death, 

Truman told Clark that he was considering a 

package appointment: Clark for the Court and 

Senator J. Howard McGrath of Rhode Island, 

then also chair of the Democratic National 

Committee, for Attorney General.

Gronlund’s treatment of her father’s nom­

ination and confirmation is a reminder that 

contentious judicial appointments are not an 
entirely recent phenomenon. There were thir­

teen nominations to the Supreme Court be­

tween Judge John Parker’s rejection (39^11) by 

the Senate in 1930, and Clark’s confirmation 

(73-8) in 1949. Of the nominations that were 

approved by a recorded vote (as opposed to a 

voice vote only), only Senator Hugo Black’s in 

1937 generated more negative votes, with 16 
nays.40 With Democrats in control of the Sen­

ate and the nomination in the hands of Sena­

tors Tom Connally, Richard Russell, and the 

recently elected Lyndon Johnson, confirma­

tion, despite some tumult, was probably never 

in serious doubt.

Nonetheless, criticism of the nomination 

from some quarters across the political spec­

trum was pointed. Some claimed that this 

longest-serving member of Truman’s Cabi­

net owed his selection on July 2 to cronyism. 

Harold L. Ickes, who had headed the Interior 

Department in the Franklin Roosevelt admin­

istration, maintained that the nominee lacked 

the “ legal learning, the intellectual qualities[, 

and] the vision needed for the position.” 41 

Ickes wrote an article for the TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAN ew R ep u b lic en­

titled “Tom Clark Should Say ‘No Thanks.’ ”  

“ [PJerhaps it was in keeping that the least 

able of Attorneys General of the United States 

should, as a result of raw political favoritism, 

become the least able of the members of the 

Supreme Court.” 42 Similarly, “ I trust that ev­

ery person who believes in and is willing to 

fight for the Bill  of Rights and the Constitution 

will  write and wire the Senate Judiciary Com­

mittee to oppose this nomination,”  announced
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He nry Wallace , o ne o f FDR’s vice p re s ide nts 

and a Pro gre s s ive p arty candidate fo r Pre s i­

dent in 1948.43 This being early in the era of 

loyalty programs and concern about subver­

sive elements, the Blue Star Mothers of Amer­

ica notified the Judiciary Committee that its 

members “unequivocally charge Tom Clark to 

be definitely of COMMUNISTIC TENDEN­

CIES.” 44 Even though the Justice Department 

had filed an amicus brief in TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAS h e lley v. K ra e­

m er4 5 opposing racially restrictive covenants 

in deeds, and even though Thurgood Marshall, 

of the Legal Defense Fund of the NAACP, 

supported Truman’s choice, William Paterson 

of the Civil Rights Congress insisted in his 

testimony that the “nomination of this man 

must be an indication to Negro Americans of 

a perilous future.” 46 In contrast to today’s prac­

tice, the Judiciary Committee did not call upon 

the nominee to testify but forwarded the nomi­

nation to the full  Senate by a vote of 9-2. After 

the vote to confirm, the Chief Justice swore in 

his new colleague at a White House ceremony 

on August 24.47

Justice Clark’s eighteen years on the Court 

proved to be an effective counterweight to the 

assessments and predictions of his naysayers 

in 1949. In one scholar’s view, Clark’s record 

“ is proof of man’s inherent ability to grow re­

markably in a position of high responsibility 

and authority.” 48 Indeed, one of the strengths 

of Gronlund’s biography is the insights it pro­

vides into Clark’s own legal thinking, his role 

in various rulings, and the work of the Court 

itself during a period of Court history in which 

the rendering of seminal decisions seemed to 

be more often the norm than the exception.

For example, soon after his arrival on 

the Bench, the Court confronted two cases, 

M cL a u r in v. O kla h o m a S ta te R eg en ts4 9 and 

S w ea tt v. P a in te r ,5 0 that were key precur­

sors to the Court’s culture-shaking decision 

in B ro w n v. B o a rd o f E d u ca tio n,51 which 

overruled P lessy v . F erg u so n and its long­

standing “separate but equal”  doctrine. In dif­

ferent ways, each involved racial segregation 

in graduate-level education: S w ea tt challenged 

the whites-only policy at the University ofZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

M im i C la rk  G ro n lu n d ’s  n e w  b io g ra p h y  o f h e r fa th e r , 

T o m  C . C la rk  (p ic tu re d ) , p ro v id e s v a lu a b le  in s ig h ts  

in to  th e  J u s t ic e 's  le g a l th in k in g  a n d  h is  ro le  in  v a r i­

o u s  ru lin g s .

Texas Law School, where Clark received his 

law degree, while M cL a u r in challenged the tit­

ular student’s segregated status on campus.52 

In each case, the Court struck down the chal­

lenged policy, meaning that S w ea tt marked the 

first instance in which the Supreme Court or­

dered the admission of a black student to a 

previously all-white institution.

What may not be well known is that in 

April 1950, before the Justices had discussed 

the cases in Conference, Clark circulated a 

memorandum to his colleagues: “ I hesitate 

to state my views prior to conference, but in 

these cases I think my convictions, based in 

part upon my experience in Texas, might be 

helpful to the Court. 1 will  not recite all the 

reasons underlying my conviction that segre­

gated education is unequal education.... My 

question then is ‘how’ to reverse [P/essy,] not 

‘whether’ or ‘why.’ There is fear that a flat 

overruling of the Plessy case would cause sub­

version or even defiance of our mandates in 

many communities.... I believe those fears are 

relevant in resolving Constitutional issues of 

this type and of this magnitude. I would share 

those fears should we begin holding, today or 

tomorrow, that swimming pools may not be 

segregated; or should we decide that the fourth
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grade in s cho o lho u s e s in Mis s is s ip p i m u s t be 

o p e n to Ne gro and white alike . Bu t I fe e l co n­

fident that those fears are groundless should 

we rule that there can be no segregation in the 

college or graduate schools. There will  be no 

defiance by the school administrators.... I am 

in accord with the suggestion that we limit  our 

opinion to graduate schools. I do not suggest, 

however, that we write an opinion reaffirm­

ing TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP lessy to all but graduate schools. I would 

not sign an opinion which approved P lessy .... 

Perhaps the fundamental legal reason for lim­

iting discussion to graduate school is that we 

should avoid decision of Constitutional ques­

tions in advance of the strict necessity for that 

decision.... How will  I vote when the swim­

ming pool and grammar school cases arise? 

I do not know; that is irrelevant. Should they 

arise tomorrow I  would vote to deny certiorari, 

or dismiss the appeal, so that we would not feel 

compelled to decide the issues.” 53

Two years later, while the United States 

was embroiled in the congressionally unde­

clared but United Nations-authorized Korean 

War, Y o u n g sto w n S h eet &  T u b e v . S a w yer5 4 

occasioned the most serious clash between 

the Executive Branch and the Court since the 

New Deal years. To avert a crippling strike 

and the presumed national-security emergency 

that such work stoppages would cause, Presi­

dent Truman directed Secretary of Commerce 

Charles Sawyer to seize the steel mills. Al ­

though the Taft-Hartley Act of 1947, which 

Congress passed over Truman’s veto,55 pro­

vided an injunctive mechanism to deal with 

such situations, Truman chose to ignore the 

statute and instead to rely on his constitu­

tional powers alone. In a 6-3 decision, with 

each of the Justices in the majority—including 

Clark—filing  an opinion, the Court held that 

the President, who would leave office in Jan­

uary 1953 and whose standing in presidential 

approval ratings had collapsed,56 had exceeded 

his authority.

While Justice Robert H. Jackson’s opin­

ion is perhaps the most often cited from this 

case for its taxonomy of presidential power, it

may be that Clark’s most closely and clearly 

articulated the reason why the President’s ac­

tion was constitutionally deficient. Clark ac­

knowledged that “ the Constitution does grant 

to the President extensive authority in times 

of grave and imperative national emergency. 

In fact, to my thinking, such a grant may well 

be necessary to the very existence of the Con­

stitution itself... In describing this authority,

I care not whether one calls it ‘residual,’ ‘ in­

herent,’ ‘moral,’ ‘ implied,’ ‘aggregate,’ ‘emer­

gency,’ or otherwise. I am of the conviction 

that those who have had the gratifying experi­

ence of being the President’s lawyer have used 

one or more of these adjectives only with the 

utmost ofsincerity and the highest purpose.... 

Where Congress has laid down specific pro­

cedures to deal with the type of crisis con­

fronting the president, he must follow those 

procedures in meeting the crisis.” 57 Justice 

Felix Frankfurter, one of the six in the ma­

jority, sent Clark a note on the meaning of 

what the Court had done “ to thoughtful people 

who are fairly called ‘ liberals’—New Deal­

ers and Fair Dealers. [The decision] vindicated 

and restored their faith in law. They feared our 

Court was like Hitler’s court, Stalin’s court and 

Peron’s court, merely a political agency of the 

government. And you, more than anyone else, 

proved the Court’s independence.” 58 The “ in­

dependence”  that so pleased Frankfurter in the 

S tee l S e izu re C a se made Truman livid. When 

Truman learned of the decision, he sounded 

off  with a string of expletives59 that were un­

mistakably “Trumanesque.” Gronlund writes 

that her father would never admit that the de­

cision cooled the friendship between the two 

men, but her own view is that “ it had a nega­

tive impact on his relationship with a man he 

revered.” 60 Truman may well have had the case 

in mind when, some years later, he reflected on 

making judicial appointments: “ [P]acking the 

Supreme Court simply can’t be done... I ’ve 

tried and it won’t work.... Whenever you put 

a man on the Supreme Court he ceases to be 

your friend. I ’m sure of that. Lord knows I ’ve 

tried.” 61
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In additio n to s e p aratio n o f p o we rs and 

racial dis cr im inatio n, Clark als o had a ro le in 

s o m e m ajo r cr im inal-ju s tice is s u e s that we re 

be ginning to co m m and a large r s hare o f the 

Co u rt’s tim e . One o f the tho rnie s t s p rang fro m 

s itu atio ns in which p o lice acquired evidence 

or made arrests illegally. While evidence ob­

tained by federal law-enforcement agents in 

violation of the Fourth Amendment had been 

excluded from trials in federal courts since TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
W eeks v. U n ited S ta tes6 2 in 1914, states were 

nonetheless free, under the federal Constitu­
tion, to use such evidence in their own courts. 

In 1949, just before Clark joined the Supreme 

Court, a 5^1 Bench in W o lf v. C o lo ra d o6 2 

applied the Fourth Amendment’s guaranty 

against unreasonable searches and seizures to 

the states by way of the Fourth Amendment, 

but it did not apply the W eeks rule as well, 

leaving states great latitude to decide what to 

do about illegally acquired evidence. I rv in e v . 

C a lifo rn ia6 4 gave Clark an opportunity to con­

front the conundrum in a situation in which 

the defendant had been convicted of violating 

state gambling laws after police planted a mi­

crophone in his home. As Gronlund describes 

the case, Clark initially  voted to reverse. In a 

memo seen only by his law clerks and Justice 

Jackson, Clark wrote: “ I cannot tolerate this 

burglary on the part of the police.... Shall 

we, must we, accept lawlessness on the part of 

the police as a solution to the lawlessness of 

the criminal?... Certainly W o lf was not then 

thought to be a carte blanche for the states.”  

Based on the recollections of his clerks, “Clark 

took the memo into Jackson’s office. Jackson 

was writing the opinion in favor of affirming 

the conviction. There were no witnesses to the 

conversation that took place, but when my fa­

ther returned to his office more than an hour 

later, he announced that he was withdrawing 

his dissent and voting to affirm the conviction. 

His vote gave Jackson a majority. No explana­

tion was offered to the law clerks, but my fa­

ther’s concurring opinion—he did not join the 

one written by Jackson—explains his reason­

ing: ‘Had I been here in 1949, when W o lf was 

decided, I would have applied the doctrine of

W eeks... to the states. But the Court refused 

to do so then, and it still refuses today. Thus, 

W o lf remains the law and, as such, is entitled 

to the respect of this Court’s membership.’ ” 65

Seven years after I rv in e came down and 

seven years after Justice Jackson’s death, the 

Court heard arguments in M a p p v . O h io .6 6 Ini­

tially, the case was argued as a First Amend­

ment case as to whether a state could crimi­

nalize possession of obscene materials in the 

home. According to Gronlund, Justice Dou­

glas then floated the idea at Conference of 

using the case to apply the exclusionary rule 

to the states. In Dollree Mapp’s situation, af­

ter all, police had used high-handed methods 

in a warrantless search that had turned up the 

evidence used for her conviction. But Dou­

glas’s idea attracted little support. Following 

that Conference, however, Justices Brennan, 

Black, and Clark discussed Douglas’s plan at 

lunch, and a majority soon coalesced around 

Douglas’s plan, with Warren eventually assign­

ing the opinion to Clark. After Justice John 

Marshall Harlan was sharply critical of Clark’s 

first draft in its departure from W o lf, Clark re­

sponded forcefully. “ It is true that W o lf has 

been adhered to in several cases, but in each in 

which a full  dress opinion resulted it was done 

grudgingly... I think the trouble stems from 

W o lf which enunciates a constitutional doc­

trine which has no escape clause mitigating 

against the inexorable result, i.e., if  the right 

to privacy is really so basic as to be constitu­

tional in rank and if  it  is to be really enforceable 

against the states... then we cannot carve out 

of the bowels of that right the vital part, the 

stuff that gives it substance, the exclusion of 

evidence. I hope you will  restudy the opinion, 

John, and find logic and reason in it.” 67

The presence or absence of what Clark 

called an “escape clause”  seems also to have 

been dispositive for him in B a ker v . C a rr ,6 i 

the groundbreaking legislative-districting case 

the Court decided in 1962. When Earl Warren 

retired as the fourteenth Chief Justice of the 

United States in 1969, journalists asked him to 

identify his major contribution. The question 

was potentially difficult, given the series of
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landm ark ru lings the Co u rt had e re cte d acro s s 

the lands cap e o f Am e rican co ns titu tio nal law 

du ring Warre n’s s ixte e n ye ars as Chie f. Ye t 

Warre n’s ap p are ntly s u rp r is ing ans we r to the 

re p o rte rs’ question was categorical: the re­

districting and representation cases, of which TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
B a ker was perhaps the most important.69

In this watershed 6-2 decision, the 

Supreme Court announced that numerical 

disparities among state legislative districts pre­

sented a justiciable issue—that is, a question 

appropriate for judicial consideration—under 

the Fourteenth Amendment. Prior to B a ker , the 

Court had steered clear of involvement in the 

politics of redistricting. With almost all states 

having population imbalances in at least one 

house of the state legislature and with popu­

lation disparities also present in the congres­

sional districts of most states, B a ker signaled 

that federal courts would now become intri­

cately entangled in politics in new ways. The 

decision, however, set no standard for federal 

courts to apply in such cases. That standard— 

one person, one vote—was not forthcoming 

until the later decisions of G ra y v. S a n d ers™ 

W esb erry v. S a n d ers,1 1 and R eyn o ld s v. 

S im s.1 2

Gronlund shows how B a ker was almost 

a very different decision and therefore of­

fers insight into the Supreme Court’s decision­

making process. When B a ker came down on 

March 26,1962, William  J. Brennan’s majority 

opinion spoke for six members of the Court. 

Concurring opinions by William O. Douglas 

and Clark indicated that they would reach the 

merits of the case if  the allegations of inequal­

ity in the suit could be sustained. Stewart also 

concurred, stating that the merits of the case 

were not before the Court for review. Frank­

furter and Harlan dissented, and Charles Whit­

taker did not take part. When the case was 

initially argued during the 1960 Term, how­

ever, the vote in conference vote was four to 

four, with Clark, initially, and Whittaker join­

ing Frankfurter and Harlan.

Stewart, it seemed, was undecided on the 

issue of jurisdiction—that is, whether the issue

of legislative districting was justiciable. And it 

was at his urging that the case was carried over 

for re-argument in the following Term. Stew­

art thus seemed to hold the swing vote and was 

courted by both sides. As Harlan insisted in a 

memo to Stewart, “From the standpoint of the 

future of the Court, the case involves implica­

tions whose importance is unmatched by those 
of any other case coming here in my time.” 73 

Stewart then came around to the view that the 

Court could take jurisdiction, thus giving a 5 -4 

vote in favor of the Tennessee plaintiffs.

As is now known from other accounts,74 

Warren, Hugo L. Black, Douglas, and Bren­

nan wanted to do more than simply to ac­

knowledge jurisdiction. Going to the merits, 

they would hold that the Fourteenth Amend­

ment required Tennessee to provide “approx­

imately fair distribution or weight in votes.”  

This was n o t the numerical-equality rule the 

Court imposed in later cases. Moreover, the 

four Justices were prepared to impose that 

standard only on one house of a state legis­

lature. To keep Stewart’s vote, however, Bren­

nan, to whom Warren had assigned the opinion 

in B a ker , had to stick to jurisdiction and leave 

standards alone. After Frankfurter circulated 

his dissent, Clark quickly indicated agreement. 

Frankfurter then suggested to Clark that he 

write a concurring opinion laying out alterna­

tive remedies, outside the federal courts, that 

Tennessee voters could pursue to redress their 

grievances. Presumably, Frankfurter wanted to 

make sure that Clark’s vote held tight by nudg­

ing him to convince himself that Tennessee 

voters had other channels for relief. But the 

suggestion backfired. As Clark wrote Frank­

furter, “ I have checked into the record and I 

am sorry to say that I cannot find any practical 

course that the people could take in bringing 

this [fair representation] about except through 

the Federal courts.” 75 He then changed his 

vote and wrote a concurring opinion explain­

ing that “ I would not consider intervention 

by this Court into so delicate a field if  there 

were any other relief available to the people of 

Tennessee.” 76
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Clark’s co ncu rr ing o p inio n m e ant that 

Ste wart’s vo te was no lo nge r ne ce s s ary to 

give Bre nnan’s o p inio n m ajo r ity s tatu s and 

that TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB a ker co u ld re ach be yo nd the ju r is dic­

tional point. But because of Stewart’s earlier 

insistence that the Court go no further, the 

opinion Brennan announced in the courtroom 

was largely the opinion he had written before 

Clark switched his vote. Had Clark sided with 

Brennan initially, or shortly after re-argument, 

it seems plausible that B a ker would ultimately 

have reached the question of standards as well 

as the question of jurisdiction. And the stan­

dard might therefore have been the one of “ap­

proximately fair weight” for only one house 

of a state legislature. Had the case worked out 

this way, one can only speculate whether the 

same Justices would have changed their minds 

to adopt the nearly inflexible rule of numer­

ical equality (one person, one vote) imposed 

shortly afterwards.

Clark’s own change of mind thrilled Bren­

nan. “Your father was sick at home,”  Brennan 

related to Gronlund much later. “He called me 

up and said ‘Look, I ’ve been trying to dis­

sent ... but I can’ t, and I think I ’m going to 

join you.’ I remember running out of here [the 

Supreme Court Building] grabbing a car driv­

ing out to the apartment and discussing his 

concurring opinion. That was an enormous 

contribution to a very difficult field, and he 

brought along, when he changed, a lot of peo­

ple who were on the fence.” 77 In Brennan’s 

view, one of Clark’s “most important contribu­

tions to the Court was his success in building 

public support for controversial decisions.” 78 

With B a ker in particular, Brennan must have 

supposed that there was a huge difference in 

the public’s perception between a 6-3 decision 

and one that was 5^1.

In addition to Clark’s role in some mem­

orable cases, Gronlund also addresses her fa­

ther’s departure from the Court in 1967. His 

retirement after eighteen years on the Bench 

has been described as “self-imposed.” 79 A  less 

kind characterization would be that Clark’s de­

parture was “ forced,” 80 or even engineered, af­

ter President Lyndon Johnson named Clark’s 

son Ramsey as Attorney General, replac­

ing Nicholas Katzenbach, who had become 

Deputy Secretary of State. Gronlund explains 

that “ the decision to retire was an easy one 

for [Clark]... I truly believe that Ramsey’s ap­

pointment brought my father more satisfaction 

and happiness than any of his own achieve­
ments.” 81

Augmenting Gronlund’s assessment of 

her father’s retirement is the volume’s “Fore­

word,”  written by Ramsey. Ordinarily, a fore­

word in a book is purely ornamental. This one 

is substantive.82 Ramsey had become Acting 

Attorney General by law when Katzenbach be­

came Under-Secretary of State in September 

1966.83 “Within a day or so, President John­

son called me on the telephone and said that 

he would not appoint me attorney general”  be­

cause there “were too many Texans in high po­

sitions, and the office of attorney general was 

too sensitive for another one.” 84 In January 

1967, “out of the blue,” Johnson telephoned 

Ramsey and told him “ that my father would 

have to retire from the Court if  I were ap­

pointed attorney general”  even though “scores 

of cases from the Lands Division, where I 

had served as assistant attorney general and 

while I was deputy and from the entire De­

partment of Justice were decided by the Court 

while I was in office, and Dad had participated 

in the proceedings.... Appearance, however, 

would be a great problem. The interests of 

justice would clearly be best served if  the at­

torney general were someone other than the 

offspring of a sitting justice.” 85 Then at the 

end of February 1967, “ I was asked to come to 

the White House to meet with the president for 

no stated purpose—a frequent request. When I 

arrived, I was sent into the Oval Office, where 

I found the president sitting at his desk alone. 

We chatted briefly, then the president said he 

had changed his mind and was announcing 

my appointment as attorney general. He then 

reached under his desk and pressed a button, 

and the press poured in.... As I was leaving 

the Oval Office, I was told that the Supreme



170 JO U R N A L O F S U P R E M E C O U R T H IS TO R YxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Co u rt had anno u nce d m y fathe r’s re tire m e nt at 

the e nd o f the Co u rt’s te rm . My fathe r and I 

had no t dis cu s s e d the s u bje ct be fo re and did 

no t dis cu s s it afte r m y ap p o intm e nt.” 86

At the very least, this vacancy gave the 

President, through his nomination of Thur- 

good Marshall, the opportunity to name as 

Clark’s successor not only an ideological 

soulmate, but also the first nonwhite to the 

Supreme Court, in a situation in which there 

had been neither an existing nor an antici­

pated vacancy on the Bench. One is then left 

wondering whether Johnson’s principal objec­

tive in these maneuverings was to have Ram­

sey Clark as Attorney General or Thurgood 

Marshall on the Supreme Court. Whatever 

the reality, Johnson was able to ensconce 

both.

Within eight years of Marshall’s arrival, 

the Court experienced an unexpected and un­

usual number of changes in its roster through 

Justice Abe Fortas’s resignation and the re­

tirements of Chief Justice Warren and of Jus­

tices Black and Harlan. There was also an 

anticipated vacancy after Justice Douglas, at 

seventy-six, was stricken by a stroke on New 

Year’s Eve, 1974. Although seriously disabled, 

Douglas, the longest-serving member of the 

Court, was reluctant to leave the Bench. Ignor­

ing or eluding pressure from whatever source, 

Douglas reached his own decision to depart al­

most a year later, on November 12, 1975. For 

Douglas’s seat, President Gerald Ford nomi­

nated John Paul Stevens, a fifty-five-year-old 

appeals court judge from the Seventh Circuit 

and a former clerk to Justice Wiley Rutledge. 

The Senate quickly confirmed, 98-0, and on 

December 19, 1975, he was sworn in.

Stevens, only the second future Justice 

to clerk at the Supreme Court87—he clerked 

for Justice Wiley Rutledge in the October 

1947 Term—is now the subject of XWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAJ o h n  P a u l 

S te v e n s : A n  I n d e p e n d e n t L ife , 8 8 an admiring 

volume by Bill  Barnhart and Gene Schlick- 

man. Barnhart is a former columnist for the TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
C h ica g o T r ib u n e . Schlickman is a retired 

lawyer and Illinois state legislator. Their book,ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

T h e  a u th o rs  o f th e  n e w  b io g ra p h y  John Paul Stevens: 

An Independent Life m a d e u s e o f th e P a p e rs o f  

J u s t ic e s  M a rs h a ll a n d B la c k m u n a t th e  L ib ra ry  o f  

C o n g re s s , th e  C h a r le s  H . P e rc y  P a p e rs  a t  th e  C h ic a g o  

H is to ry M u s e u m , re s o u rc e s a t th e  G e ra ld R . F o rd  

P re s id e n t ia l L ib ra ry , a n d  o n - re c o rd in te rv ie w s w ith  

la w  c le rk s  o f S te v e n s . S te v e n s (p ic tu re d ) w a s p h o ­

to g ra p h e d  in  u n ifo rm  w h ile  s e rv in g  in  W o r ld  W a r I I .

which was published in April 2010, reflects 

nearly uncanny timing in light of the fact that it 

was on April  9, 2010, that Stevens, just eleven 

days shy of his ninetieth birthday, announced 

his intention to retire when the Court “ rises 

for the summer recess this year.” 89 Theirs 

is the first book-length treatment of Stevens 

since Robert Judd Sickels’ J o h n  P a u l S te v e n s 

a n d th e C o n s t i tu t io n :  T h e S e a r c h fo r  B a l­

a n c e , which appeared in 1988, and Kenneth 

A. Manaster’s I l l in o is  J u s t ic e : T h e S c a n d a l 

o f  1 9 6 9 a n d  th e R ise o f  J o h n  P a u l S te v e n s , 

which was published in 2001. Befitting their 

title, Barnhart and Schlickman report that their 

subject “ remained impartial—one might even 

say independent—throughout the process of 

our research and writing of this book. While 

he did not sit for extensive interviews, he 

provided anecdotes, made himself available 

when questions arose, and was, throughout, 

a gracious and interested spectator.” 90 Their
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e xp e r ie nce as au tho rs the re fo re s e e m s ve ry 

diffe re nt fro m what the bio grap he r o f Ju s­

tice White experienced, where the subject 

remained greatly detached from the project 

throughout.91

Books about Supreme Court Justices that 

collectively and loosely may be called judi­

cial biographies typically present their sub­

jects in the context of several different types of 

information and related perspectives. One em­

phasizes the personal and encompasses, but is 

not limited to, the individual’s upbringing and 

professional life path to the high Bench, in­

cluding any prior judicial service. Such treat­

ment is essential for understanding the person 

who becomes the Justice. Because each indi­

vidual is a product of her or his home life and 

various experiences, knowledge of this dimen­

sion of a Justice’s past, including the matura­

tion of thinking and the education and shaping 

of the Justice’s mind and values, holds out the 

potential for opening a window of explanation 

into the Justice’s behavior on the Bench. One 

would also expect to find an analysis of the 

appointment to the Court in both the nomi­

nation and the confirmation phases. The Jus­

tice’s jurisprudence—constitutional jurispru­

dence in particular—as revealed in judicial 

opinions, speeches, and other writings is a 

second category. A third focuses on the in­

dividual’s work as a Justice in terms of the 

Court’s day-to-day decision-making. The goal, 

especially of the third element, is to achieve 

not only further knowledge of the particular 

Justice but also a more comprehensive under­

standing of the Court itself.

Thanks to the use the authors made of the 

Papers of Justices Marshall and Blackmun at 

the Library of Congress, the Charles H. Percy 

Papers at the Chicago History Museum, re­

sources of the Gerald R. Ford Presidential Li ­

brary, and on-record interviews with law clerks 

of Stevens, among other sources, the reader 

has glimpses of the Justice at work on sev­

eral key cases, including the flag-protection 

cases of TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT exa s v. Jo h n so n9 2 and U n ited S ta tes 

v. E ich m a n ,9 3 where Stevens wrote memorable

dissents. Also noteworthy is the authors’ treat­

ment of Stevens’ role in influencing the opin­

ions that were issued in the major election-year 

abortion decision of 1992.94 Comprehensive 

evaluation of Stevens’ constitutional jurispru­

dence as it took shape over his long career 

seems to have been outside the scope of this 

book and so remains a task that will  have to be 

addressed by others.

It is with respect to information relating 

to the first category outlined above, largely 

slighting only the formative role that Stevens’  

education may have had, that Barnhart and 

Schlickman make their major contribution. 

The reader comes away from the book with 

the impression that probably no other Supreme 

Court Justice in the modern era grew up 

with a more comfortable and privileged back­

ground. Indeed, it was more than comfortable; 

it was well heeled. Stevens’ father developed 

and operated one of the grander hotels—the 

Stevens—along South Michigan Avenue in 

Chicago, a city that by the 1920s had no short­

age of fine hotels. While the authors make 

clear that the family encountered its share of 

financial and legal troubles, the future Justice, 

whose family had a compound in Lakeside, 

Michigan, encountered no hardscrabble begin­

nings of the sort experienced, for example, by 

William O. Douglas as a youngster.

“Stevens’s Hyde Park neighborhood roots 

were English, not Irish, and he was a Repub­

lican. But he was not political,” explain the 

authors. “William  J. Bauer, one of the Chicago 

area’s most politically astute Republicans and 

a Seventh Circuit judge, quipped that Stevens’s 

only political expression in the 1960s was on 

occasion ‘ to applaud vigorously’ when his for­

mer University of Chicago classmate Charles 

Percy ran for office as a Republican. On the 

other hand Democrat Abner Mikva recalled 

that Stevens sent him a small check when he 

first ran for the Illinois legislature in the 1950s. 

More problematic to many, Stevens rooted for 

the North Side Chicago Cubs in the core fan 

base of the South Side Chicago White Sox.” 95 

Given the authors’ theme, which they fold
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into p art o f the title , that Ste ve ns was always 

ve ry m u ch the inde p e nde nt (as reflected even 

in the trademark bow tie that he, like Jus­

tice Clark, typically preferred), his comfort­

able and well-connected origins, coupled with 

a fine intellect and solid legal skills, clearly 

did much not only to encourage that inde­

pendence, but to make it possible. Scattered 

about the book are short tours into the pro­

fessional and political worlds Stevens inhab­

ited as an attorney before becoming a judge. 

One is served generous portions of, and given 

insights into, squabbles of varying intensi­

ties in a city and state in which electoral 

politics and bar-association machinations, not 

just baseball and football, are principal pas­

times. Politically squeamish readers are hereby 

forewarned.

The authors provide, for example, a de­

tailed and multilayered account of Stevens’ 

appointment to the Seventh Circuit in 1970. In­

deed, had he not gone on the appellate bench at 

this point, and in another illustration of the role 

that timing has played in shaping the Supreme 

Court, it seems reasonable to conclude that he 

would never have been named to the Supreme 

Court. The story merits at least a brief recount­

ing here.

With the need to fill  a vacancy on the 

appeals bench, choice of a nominee initially  

became a contest between the state’s two Re­

publican senators at the time, Everett McKin­

ley Dirksen and Charles Percy, both of whom 

were vying for the greater influence over the 

White House of President Richard Nixon. At 

the beginning of the selection process, Stevens, 

who was in private practice at the time, seemed 

to be on no one’s list. When Dirksen put for­

ward the name of Chicago attorney Charles 

Bane for the seat, Nixon formally nominated 

Bane in May 1969. That nomination, how­

ever, was later withdrawn. “Bane almost im­

mediately was damned by two of the most 

fearful antagonists a public figure in Chicago 

ever encountered: the Internal Revenue Ser­

vice and TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAC h ica g o D a ily  N ew s columnist Mike 

Royko.” 96 Dirksen died in September 1969.

His seat was filled by former Illinois House 

speaker Ralph T. Smith, who was appointed 

by the state’s Republican Governor, Richard 

Ogilvie. Dirksen’s death and Smith’s appoint­

ment meant that Percy now possessed what­

ever influence might radiate from being the 

senior Senator from Illinois. Still, “ [tjhe files 

of Senators Percy and Smith contain no evi­

dence that Stevens put his name forward for a 

judicial post or that anyone else recommended 

him.” 97

Yet, by February 1970, a group of at­

torneys advising Percy gave their Senator a 

list of names, and Stevens’ was among them. 

No doubt helping to push Stevens’ name into 

view was the work he had done in leading 

an investigation for the Greenberg Commis­

sion following allegations of improprieties by 

justices of the state supreme court. Besides, 

Stevens was already “nationally known in the 

legal community as a major league baseball 

lawyer.” 98 Percy later recalled that he and 

Stevens had been friends and classmates at 

the University of Chicago.99 “ In our senior 

year he was chairman of the men’s honorary 

society, and I was chairman of the interfrater­

nity council. He was the smartest senior in our 

class.” 100 As the authors explain in trying to 

draw conclusions from a mass of facts, per­

sonalities, and twisting turns of events, “ [tjhe 

best story, which happened to be true, would 

be that Stevens was simply a highly quali­

fied lawyer who had not sought a patronage 

job. If  [Percy] could place Stevens on the fed­

eral appeals court, one step below the Supreme 

Court, Percy knew he could inaugurate a new 

regime for making judicial appointments in 

Illinois.” Indeed, “Percy’s perspective on the 

judiciary was that anybody who applied would 

not be considered.” 101 The new senior Senator 

then recommended Stevens to Attorney Gen­

eral John Mitchell in February, with Nixon 

waiting until September 1970 to make the 

appointment.

Even though Washington politics might 

be less convoluted and sometimes less enter­

taining than Illinois politics, the authors lay out
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ne arly as m u ch de tail o n Ste ve ns’ ap p o intm e nt 

to the Su p re m e Co u rt to re p lace Ju s tice Do u­

glas as they do on his selection for the Seventh 

Circuit. As the authors describe the process 

in the Ford administration, where Richard B. 

Cheney was White House Chief of Staff and 

where the First Lady was particularly insistent 

that a woman be named, the leading contender 

for much of the time was Philadelphia’s Judge 

Arlen Adams of the Court of Appeals for the 

Third Circuit.102 Adams enjoyed strong sup­

port from Pennsylvania Republicans, led by 

Senator Hugh Scott. Ford’s Attorney General, 

however, was Edward Levi, formerly of the 

University of Chicago, who held Stevens in 

particularly high esteem. As Levi laid out his 

appraisals in a memo to the President,

Judge Stevens has proven to be a 

judge of the first rank, highly in­

telligent, careful, and energetic. He 

is generally a moderate conservative 

in his approach to judicial problems, 

and in cases involving the attempted 

expansion of constitutional right and 

remedies. He has shown particular 

ability in antitrust and other matters 

of federal economic regulation and 

would add strength to the Court in 

his area. Overall he is a superb crafts­

man. His opinions lack the verve of 

Judge Adams, but are more to the 

point and reflect more discipline and 

self-restraint.103

In contrast, Levi seemed to damn Adams with 

faint praise:

His opinions have considerable flair 

and reach, which give them interest 

and can suggest an influential mem­

ber of the Court, but revealing a cer­

tain weakness, not so much in ana­

lytical skills—which he has—but in 

being willing  to sometimes bypass or 

go beyond the most careful analysis.

This is the ultimate question about a 

judge, of course, but my guess is he

has the potential to be a strong and 
good appointment.104

Given his long congressional experience, 

Ford surely knew that Adams’s name had been 

floated in the Nixon years as a possible re­

placement for Justice Harlan, so in the authors’ 

view, “Adams’s ‘sell by’ date had come and 
gone.” 105 If  one continues that merchandising 

analogy, Stevens was far removed from any 

“sell by” date, as the 98-0 vote to confirm 

reflected.

The section on Ford’s decision concludes 

with a fact that many may have forgotten 

about Stevens’ appointment. Any “assessment 

of Ford as merely an expedient political calcu­

lator [in selecting a nominee whom no Senator 

could oppose] is contradicted by his appear­

ance before the eight remaining justices”  in the 

Courtroom on December 19, 1975, where the 

President, who was a member of the Bar of the 

Supreme Court, moved the seating of his nom­

inee.106 “The symbolism of Ford’s ‘request’ to 

the third branch of government was not lost 

on Stevens. ‘Despite the critical role played 

by the executive and legislative branches in 

the appointment process, the fact that the con­

clusion of the process [took] place in a judi­

cial proceeding symbolizes the independence 

of the judiciary,’ he said. ‘ I was particularly 

moved... when President Ford... appeared in 

Court to introduce Attorney General Levi, who 

in turn delivered my commission to the clerk 

of the Court.’” 107

In reflecting on Stevens’ Supreme Court 

career, the authors emphasize the value of ju­

dicial independence. The “enormous power of 

the Supreme Court and each member to ap­

ply personal judgment to evolving social con­

cerns and thereby alter the lives of Ameri­

cans deserves public attention,”  they note, but 

“making things simpler by etching rules for 

judging on a tablet somewhere in order to 

‘mediate’ the creative mine of a judge is a 

fool’s errand.... Rather than limiting indepen­

dence by artificially defining the job of judg­

ing, the story of Justice Stevens demonstrates
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the valu e o f s e le cting the m o s t inde p e nde nt- 

m inde d m e n and wo m e n to we ar the ro be s , 

ro ll u p the ir s le e ve s , de cide cas e s , and le arn o n 

the jo b. This s o lu tio n has an e no rm o u s advan­

tage over any exogenous judicial rulebook, no 

matter how carefully it might be vetted by law 

scholars.” 108

Happily, the transcript of an interview 

with Justice Stevens, conducted on June 24, 

2009, is one of sixteen now made available in 

T h e S u p r e m e C o u r t , 1 0 9 a volume sponsored 

by C-Span that features the Justices in their 

own words. An abbreviation of Cable-Satellite 

Public Affairs Network, C-Span is a U.S. ca­

ble television outlet that is owned and oper­

ated by the cable industry. Given the variety of 

public-affairs programming that C-Span regu­

larly telecasts daily and principally from Wash­

ington, including proceedings of the House of 

Representatives and the Senate, it  may be diffi ­

cult to recall that this video resource, so ubiq­

uitous today, has been airing programs only 

since 1979.110

Edited by C-Span executives and/or pro­

ducers Brian Lamb, Susan Swain, and Mark 

Farkas, T h e S u p r e m e C o u r t  brings to the 

printed-page and electronic-book formats a 

true treasure: the written record of a series 

of televised interviews with all nine Justices 

who were sitting in the fall of 2009,111 plus 

retired Justices Sandra Day O’Connor and 

David Souter.112 The additional transcripts are 

derived from interviews with persons such 

as journalist Joan Biskupic; former Solicitor 

General Drew Days III; Scotusblog reporter 

and veteran journalist Lyle Denniston; and 

William Suter, Clerk of the Supreme Court. 

The book concludes with a series of helpful 

tables and some biographical data.

The value of this collection should be im­

mediately apparent. Even though the video 

recordings of the interviews are archived and 

have been televised on more than one occasion, 

the published transcripts in book form actually 

make the Justices’ words much more widely 

available, even for those who may have had the 

opportunity, time, and foresight to have made

a video recording at the time of the initial tele­

cast. It is far easier to turn pages in a book or 

to move about on an electronic reader than to 

move forward and backward in a video record­

ing, even one that has been digitally preserved. 

Without publication, the risk would be great 

that the interviews would effectively soon be­

come lost treasures of the Court.

The interview with Justice Stevens occu­

pies nineteen pages of T h e S u p r e m e C o u r t  

and nicely complements the portrait that ap­

pears in Barnhart and Schlickman’s book. 

When asked whether he thought he would 

serve as long as he had on the Court, Stevens 

replied “No. In fact I had a law clerk... who 

was with me in my second or third year here. I 

asked him to prepare a memorandum for me on 

the ages of retirement of all my predecessors 

and to suggest the age at which I should plan on 

retiring. I thought then—and I still sometimes 

think—that you’re not the best judge of when 

you should retire. I thought it would be helpful 

to have that kind of guidance. Well, I didn’t 

follow the recommendation.”  When asked the 

year that was recommended, Justice Stevens 

replied, “ I can’t remember exactly, but the year 

has long gone by.” 113 When asked his estimate 

of great Supreme Court Justices, he named ob­

vious ones such as Benjamin Cardozo, Louis 

Brandeis, and Oliver Wendell Holmes, but he 

also added Stewart and White to the list.114 His 

answer to the question of what he had learned 

from Justice Wiley Rutledge, for whom he had 

clerked, contains good advice for any writer: 

“ I learned an awful lot.... I learned to take 

the time to write out your own draft opinion, 

so you’re sure you understand the case before 

you turn it  over to someone else to work on.” 115

Stevens also spoke candidly about 

whether he had ever changed his mind in a 

case after oral argument. “ I can’ t tell you the 

number but it has happened. It has happened 

when I ’ve been writing an opinion, for exam­

ple. And that’s one reason I think it ’s impor­

tant for the justice to do the first draft. When 

you try to write something out, you sometimes 

learn things about the case that you didn’t fully
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ap p re ciate o r u nde rs tand be fo re . The re has 

be e n m o re than o ne cas e o n which I change d 

m y vie ws whe n I was writing the o p inio n.” 116 

Similarly, when asked about his participation 

in oral argument, he explained that his “phi­

losophy is to ask questions when I think the 

answer might give me a little help in decid­

ing a case. I don’t view the participation of a 

justice as an opportunity for the justice to ad­

vocate one point of view. I think, rather, the 

questioning should be designed to help under­

stand what the arguments on both sides are in 

order to enable the justice to reach a decision 
on his or her own views.” 117

As one senses from this collection and the 

other volumes surveyed here, the Court of to­

day and its Justices, now more than 210 years 

after John Marshall’s appointment as Chief 

Justice, reflect a powerful continuity with the 

past and the American tradition of the rule of 

law.
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Cover image: Tom C. Clark was photographed at the White House on the day he was appointed 

Attorney General in 1945. His son Ramsey, daughter-in-law Georgia, daughter Mimi, and wife 

Mary accompanied him. This issue contains a review of Mimi Clark Gronlund's new biography 

of her father. 


	project_muse_875482
	project_muse_875483
	project_muse_875484
	project_muse_875485
	project_muse_875486
	project_muse_875487
	project_muse_875488
	project_muse_875489



